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Q. Whether he has feen her in the Chamber
when the Duichefs was a-bed there ?

A Yes, very often. _

9. How came fhe that was Cook-maid to be
in the Chamber ?

A. He fays he can't tell the Reafon, or what
Bufinefs the had there 5 but there the was for one
Thing or other, beft known to her felf, he does

not know.
@, Whether when the Dutchefs was at Fox-

Fall, any Relations of Sir Fobr Germasne came
to her there?

A Yes, they would come and fee her.

9. Who were they

A Mys, Briense and Mus, Fudith 3 he fays he
does not remember that Mrs, Brienne has lain
there, but Mrs. Fudith has.

9. Where it was, and upon what Occafion he
met with Elanor Vanefs after he carried her over
into Holland ¢

A T met her in dmfterdam.

9. Whether he came over into England with
her, and upon what Occafion ?

A T met her at Amflerdam 5 and fhe afk’d me
what Bufinefs I had there, whether I had a Ma-
fter 5 and I faid No.

Q. When was that?

A. Abour a Year and a half, to his Remem-
brance.

9. Whether he came over with her the laft
Time ?

A. Yes, he came over into England with her
ih Company, about {ix or feven 'Weeks fince.

Q. Where has fhe been fince he came into
England ?

A. Ste was in Lodgings.

9. Where ?

A. He put her into private Lodgings, that
the fhould be fecure,

. Why did you put her into private Lodg-
ngs?

A, Becaufe he was afraid, in the Circumftances
that he 1s now, that fome body might give them
fome Affront, or do them an Injury ; and there-
fore he thought it beft to be in fome Place of
Security.

K, What particular Reafon had he why he
fhould take private Lodgings, or have that Fear
upon fiim ?

A. He fays, that when he was laft here, Sir
Jobn Germaine came up one Night in a great
Paflion, and {wore, and faid, fome body would
betray him,

L. I defire he might repeat that again ?

A. Sir Fobu Germaine came one Night up
Stairs, and faid, that Nicholas, this Rogue, would
betray him.

&. Who was that?

A. He fays “twas one Nicholas Rufbett, that
ferved him or both, he can’t tell, but he was in
his Service ; that he heard thefe Words, and that
he thought in thefe Circumftances, the fecureft
Way would be to take private Lodgings.

&, What brought him into England the laft
Time? Whether he was fpoke to, to come, and
for what Purpofe !

A. He fays, that about two or three Years
ago he happened to meet with a Friend, and he
defired him if he heard of a good Place for him
in Ligland, to let him know of it, for he would
g0 and ferve there again.

2, Whether he was fpoke to, to come gy
or was Eliansr Vanefs {poke to, and whyy wg;
the Oceafion ¢

A. My Lord afk’d him if he would fpegk 4.,
Truth, and do him any Service ; and whegher h;
would bring this Gitl along with him.

Q. Who was it that fpoke to him ?

A. My Lord Duke and my Lord Hecwgrd

Q. When was that?

A, It was about a Year ago.

Q. Where was he at that Time ?

A. He was in London,

£, Did he go over of his own Accord, or iy,
he fent into Hollend, who it was thar fin hint
over, and for what ?

A It was a Friend of his Acquaintance, thy
hedefired, in cafc he heard of & Place, to fond for
him.

Q. Who fent for Elansr Farefs over ?

A. He fays, that after he had promifed ny
Lord Duke and Lord Howard to fpeak theT
of what he knew, they defired him, thae if b
met with Elianor Vanefs, to defire her to comy
over, and {peak the Truth of what fhe knew,

9. How long after did you meet with Efjony
Vanefs ¢

A. >T1s about twelve Months fince T met wit}
her.,

R, When was the firt Time that he fpoke 1
Eliaor Vanefs about her coming over to fpek
the Truth?

A. >Tis about a Year fince.

£, How long is it fince they refolved to coms
Qver ¢

A. About twelve Months.

2, Whether he was acquainted with Eliary
Vanefs before he met with her in Sir Fobn G-
maine’s Service ?

A. He fays never,

R; You fay you went from Sir Tobn Gernainds
Service in Suffolt-firect, and you fay when you
came to himagain he lived in the Cock-pit 5 did
you find Elianor Vanefs there then ?

A. He fays he found her at the Cock-pit.

Q. When he waited on Sir Yobn Germain: in
his Chamber, who waited on the Dutchefs in her
Chamber ?

A. There was one Sufauneh Barrington, ad
Elianzr Vanefs.

8, But who waited upon her in her Chamber?

A. Sufaniah Barringion did, to drefs her.

Q. Whether he had feen any of Sir Jelx
Germaime’s Relations in the Chamber, when this
Lady and Sir Fobn Gerinaine were a-bed tozes
ther?

A, Yes,

L. Name them?

A. He fays, he faw Mrs, Brienne, and M
Daiiel Germaine there.

&; Did you fee Mrs. Fudith there ?

4. He does not remember that he faw M.
Fudith in the Room while they were a-bed toge-
ther, but the other he hath feen when they were
a-bed together, but at different Times. *

2, Whether ever he hath feen the Dutchels
at any other Place ?

4. He has been at the Chapel with her, and
clfewhere,

Q. Where?
4. At my Lord Peferborsw's, and in her own
Houfe ?

rose
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Ciefs Examived,
A, T defc he may reduce this to a Certuinty,
-.mu Time he went out of Lugland, and look

DE0i) his INOtC .,1*r‘11n >

[le feoldd wpoin Lis Notcy and ’leias da :’chrgh'rJ
L-chiuary, Oiie theafand fis hundyed ninety-t20

a [Imt. lone afzer this went he out of Enpland ?
7 e went away as foon as the Wind was fa-

1,.[}['?11']]{..
9. Can h recollet the Time?

g He fays "twas i'omﬁ time before Lafiey, for
e camye into Flollvin ! about Lafier,

9, When he rold his Grace the Pulie of Nzi-
ff?": and Tord 7iemard he would betrue to chem,
whether he was 10 any Service at tnat Time?

A No, be was in no Service at that Time,

9, How long had he been out of Employ ?

_/! [le has none yet.

Q But bow Ionfr had he been out of Employ,
Of Mrvlcc Ldort, he made this Propofal to tllL
Duke, or my Lord Ziward ?

4. He fays, he weat away about the Twenty-
feventh of Trne.

9. Is it the fame Year his Paper {peaks of,
hm e {rake to my Lord Duke?

/. I\o, fAvs Not 3 he‘p“ll«.(, to my Lord Duke
sbout twelve Months ago.

Q. Bat how long hwl he been out of Service
whan b Ipake to my Lord Duke ? when did he
leave Sir Foln Geriaine the laft Time 2

.7 Tis about three Years and half ago; *twill
he fouw Years in Fuie next,

@, Has he been in any Service fince thatTime ¢

. No, he hath net.

9., How has he lived fince then?

Aq He fiys he has fomething of his own in his
own Country,upon which he may fubfift fome time.

8. [ihink he fud, he faw Sic Jobn Germaine
and the Dutchefs 1n Bcd together, 1n the Houle
where fhe now lives?

A Yes,

&, Then T defire he will tell, 1l he Knows any
of the Dutchefs’s Servants that were about her
il fhl[ tlm" P

L Yes, he doces.

QT hm, that he wil] name them ¢

'! Henry Hmsfﬁ‘

Lo What's bocome of him?

i They told he was dead ;
St Rayringion,

2 Lddire he will tell of fomeof the Servants
lmt Tived with the Dutchets atthat T ime, befides

hat Perfon that is dead, and the other which is
g[_,n:: beyond Sea, as they fay ?

M. Northey aifwe’d. We don’t fay fhe is
oene bovond Sea,

f lie does not know any other.

Then, that he will tell what Month he faw
t‘“.ﬂ i Bued together ?

A e can’e remember the Month, or the
Doy s bueif they will afk him the Realon why
hee po i1 mu“l‘a it, he will tell it them.,

L1 you can come to any Certainty about the
Time “r the Year, or the Month?
<L Hecan’t fay the Month, or any particular
L i,

. What Servant he faw in the Houfe, or who
iti him in P

. Tehag himf{elf the Key of the lower Room,

wd could come in when he pleas’d.
Vo, V,

and there was

Parl. and bis Duschefs, for a Diorce.
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Q. Whofe Scrvant was he at.this Time he
fpraks of ¢ Whether he was a Servant to the
Dutchefs or vo Sir Yobit Germnine ?

A. He was Servant to Sir Fobn Gerinaiie.

Q. He was faying he could tell a Reafon ro fix
theTime, let him recolleét himfelf of the Time?

A He can’t remember the Time, but he came
into the Room to bring a Clyfter, and he was de-
fired to ftaya little iill my lLady Dutchels gor up.

9. That he may be pofitive whether he Shad 2
Key to the lower Room of the Dutchefs’s Houfe ?

A. He fays hehad a Key of the Door that goes
into the P.,lrL, and he could come into the Houfe
by 1ty for it was the Key of the Houfe,

Q. What Servant was it that brought him up,
for that Key only let him mto che lower Room ?

A. Sometimes Sufan Barrington, and fomce-
ties Henry Kecaner.

Q. What Room the Lady Dutchefs lay in?

A >Tis a Room that looks into the Park.

Q. *Tis not a Ground-Room, I fuppofe

A. No, ’tis up Stairs.

9. How many Stories ?

A. He can’t tell what Degree it was.

Q. Being afl’d that Queftion asain upon the
reading his Depofitions, he fays he can’t tell how
many Stories ; bue, If youpleafe, he will deferibe
the coming into the Room as well as he can.

Q. Deferibe the Coming into the Room ?

/. That as you come upon the lefe Fand,
there is a Way to go into the Dutchels’s Room 3
when you have palled the little Chamber-door,
you go intoa Place full of China 5 and, after that,
you come to the Dutchels’s Bed-chamber, On
the other fide, going up Stairs, there is a Jittle
Room, where S#fai told him fhe lay 5 and after-
wards you come mto a Room where the Chimney
is, as he thinks, on the right Hand, and he chinks
there are two Windows that look mto the Screct,
he is not very certain 5 and in the Room upon the
left Hand there 1s a Door into a great Room,
and from that great Room you can go 1nto the
Lady Dutchefs’s Room. It was {o at that Time,
to [ht beft of his Remembrance.

9. How many Rooms are thereupon a Floor 2

. Thereare a matter of 4 Roomsupona Floor.

Q. Whether he has fpoke with any body that
he knows 1s acquainted with this Houfe fince he
was examined here before?

/. Hefays he has {poke to no body fince, that
lms aiven him any Account of the Houfe,

9. Which Side of the Park does the Window
of my Lady Dutchefs’s Room look into ?

A Towards the Pond where the Brafs Statue is.

9. Does the Bed-chamber look towards the
Brafs Statue ?

A. He durft not go to look out at theWindow
for fear of being dllcm'cu.d but he could fee the
Water,

Q. Whether he knows the Horfe-Guards ?

/1. Yes,

Q. Whether he knows Ai/iugion-Houfe?

7. Yes,

Y. Whether the Window does look towards
Arlmgion-Houfe, or the Horfe-Guards?

A, Fle hath been chere feveral times, but it
was not his Bulinefs to go to the Window ;5 bug
when he was in the Room he could {ee theWater.,

Q. Whether he could tell which Way the
Window look’d ?

A, He did not live i the Houfe, but went

Kk there
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there fometimes upon Meffages 5 and when he AHecan’t rememberany thingoftheFurniture,
was there, 'twas not his Bufinefs to gotothe  Q; Wasit hung or wainfeoted ?
Window, but he could (ec the Water when he 4. Hefays, he can’ttell, and yet was there often,
was in the Room. 9. Pray, who was the Clyller for?

9. Whether the Window was on chat fide of 4. For Mr, Germatie. N
the littleDoor that he came 10, or on Cother {ide? 9. Where was it to be adminiftred ?

A. Upon the left Hand coming in. He fays 4 A-bed,

he has explain’d himfelf as to the entering in,and 2 Who was a-bed ?
he can fay no more to It. A. My Lady Dutchefs was a-bed roo.

Q. Was it one of two Pair of Stairs that the @, Wasitto be adminiftred at the fome ume
Dutchefs lay? + he and the Dutchefs were a-bed together ?

A. He can’t be pofitve, whether one or two A No.

Pair of Stairs. 9. Was the Dutchefs there ?
. Who brought him up ¢hat Time he brought A He laid the Syringe to the Fire-fide, i)

fuch time as the Dutchefs role.

the Clyfter ? _ 2
A. Sufan Barrington. _ Q ﬁpothecn‘rics arc exact 1n point of Time in
9, Who told hum, at the Cock-pit, twas the making their Bills.

Dutchefs of Norfolk? * 4, He fays, 1 compofed the Clyfter my £y,
A. Sir Fobn Germaine, her {elf, and the j.vhole but he did not compofe it at the Dutchefs’s Houfe,

Houfe told him fo. but at Mr. Germaine’s,

9, Didhebefore that Time know the Dutchefs? 2, Did you fray with Sir Jobu Germaine i)
A. No. all was over ?
9. Did you never fee other Women there be- 4. No 3 as foon as he had given it him, he
fides this Lady? A Yes, went home to Mr. Germaine’s Houle,
9.Did you knowall the reft that you faw there? @, Whether he pretends to fpeak of any other
4 No, he did not know them all. Time he faw the Dutchefs in Bed with him
9, Whether he was not rold the reft of the her Houfe in Duke-firect, but when he carrieg
Vomen were of great Quality too? him the Clyfter?
A He never was told fo, nor did he inform A Yes, my Lord, he fays he has.
himfelf whether they were or no. 9, Let him tell the Times and Circumfance,

5 At Fox-ball, and at the Cock-pit, T think, 1. He fays, he can’t very well remember the
he fpake as if he ' odrefs'd Sir Fobn Germaineand  Times, but he had fometimes Bufinels there, to

the Dutchefs; whether he undrels’d them both?  bring and carry Letters.

A. Not the Dutchels. 9, When was that Time of the Clyfter?
Q, What Year was it they were at Fox-Hall ¢ A Tt wasabout two Months before he left them,

A It was before he went [0 Treland, and after 9. Was that thelaft time he faw them togeths?

Le came from Jreland 3 but he can’t precifely tell A That was the laft Time.
the Time, 9 How long before thatdid he fee*em togethe;?

9, Whether he has been in any Service fince 4. Long betore that Time, 10 the fame Houl.
One thoufand fix hundred ninety-fix, whenhelefc @, He fays, he has feen Sir Fobu Gerinaiz: aud
Sir Fobn Germaine’s ¢ A. No. the Dutchefs in Bed together elfewhere,  Did e

9. Whether when he cane, about a Year ago, never fee them in Bed together at the Adill-bai:
into England, there was Application made to him .4 He has feen them there two or three Time

" in order to make a Difcoverys Or, whether he of-  a-bed together.

fer’d of himfelf to make it? 9, When did your Mafter order you to pre-
A He never did offer himfelf. pare a Clyfter?
Q;‘a'\fhownsit that firftafk’d him the Queftion? 4. He had Order to come and wait for M.
A *Twas my Lord Howard, Germaine at the Dutchels’s 3 and, that Mr. Gu-
Q. Where did you meet my Lord Heward ?  smaine coming to the Dutchefs’s late, he ordercd
and upon what Occafion? him to bring the Clyfter next Morning.

A Hefays, That "twas that Perfonthathe had Q. At whatTime he came the next Morning:
-ddrefs’d himfelf to, to get him intoService here, /L He had Order to bring it at g a-Clock, ar
that was the Occafion of their mecting together.  hebrought itat theappointed Hour,and watted 1

9. Did you know the 1ord Joward before?  thelittle Room where Sufanwastill he wascall’d i

A, No. 9. He fays, hewaited for Sir Fobu Gerinaiiic,
9. Where was the Place they met? by his Orders, at the Dutchefs’s, o}l *twas lates
A. He call’d him to his Houfe. which of the Dutcheis’s Servants did he ke
9, My Lord, or that Perfon ¢ company with ?

A, He fays, That Perfon to which he addrefs’d 4, He fays, he remembers very well it ws
himielf to get a Place, rold him he had foundone.  Mr. Keciner.

@, Name that Perion. 9, Whether that time that he faw Mr. Geinicii’
A. Richardfon. and theDutchefs in Bed together atdill-bant, it I
9. Where dots he five ? was after the Grlt time he was fent out of Englard
A Tdon’t know. when the Bill was depending before the Lords]
9. Were you acquainted with him before ? /. *Twas after.

A. Yes. 9, What Year did you fee them a-bed tog*
&, Where had you been acquainted with hime  ¢her at Mil/ bank 2

A At London 3 *tisa Woman, A Twasaday or two beforeMrs, D'auvenci! dive

9. Whether he can deferibe the Room, or A dayor two before fhe died Mr. Germaing CU
the Fueniture of the Room, where this Noble o Mill-dank, and fiaid there about eght Days.
Ladyand Sir Jobu Gersaiie Were a-bed together, Nicola Hongsr
where fhe lives now ? Depolitioss
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Depofitions of #illiam Bayl.
Die Sabbati 25 Februarii, 1699,

William Bayly fiorn.

Dutchefs of Norfolk ¢
A Yes. | |
A, Was you Servant to Sir jobn Gesiaiie ?

A Yes, |
. In what Capacity ?

A Three Years I wore his Livery, and three
Years T was his Steward.

Q. When did you firft come to live with him ?

A Three Weeksbefore the King was crown’d.

9, Was there any Converfation between Sir
Fobi Germaine and the Dutchefsof Norfelk? 1)’ye
Lnow that they liv’d together, or kept Company
one with another?

A No; I never knew them livetogether, but
ven them keep Company together, but never faw
any Incivility between them. o

Q. Where faw you them in Company toge-
ther?

A I faw them in Company in my Mafter’s
Houle.

¢ How long ago ?

A About five Years ago,

9, Where did your Mafter then live ?

A Telivid then where he does now.

Q, Did the Dutchefs of Norfolk ever lie there?

4. Never, to my Knowledge,

Q. What wasthe Time fhe ufually camethere?

A, Commonly in an Afternoon.

9. How often Lave you feen her there?

A4 Two or three times.

9, At what Time did fhe ufe to come? and,
At what Time did fhe ufe to go away ?

A, She ufed ro come there about Four or Five
1-Clock 1n the Afternoon, and might ftay there
about two or three Hours.

Q. You are upon your Qath, and pray tell
whether you ever faw them in Bed together?

A, By all that’s good, I never faw them in
Bed together.

Q. Did the Lady Dutchels ufe to come thither
Mafk’d or Unmafk’d ?

A. She us’d to come Mafl’d, but put it off
when fhecame into the Houfe.

9. Who ufed to come with her?

A, There ufed to come Mr, Keemer with her.

Q. WhatCompany? Did no other ufe tocome
with her to Sir Febn Gerinaine’s Houfe?

A. Yes, another Servant, Mr, Carscr.

& Who was in the Room with them in Sir
jobi Germaine’s Houfe ?

A. Mr, Keeer ftay’d commonly with them all
the Tinle they dined, and after Dinner; the other
Servants and I were in the next Room to them,
ud commonly, when they had Occafion, they
would call Mr, Keemer.

Y. Was there no otherServant bue Mr. Keemer
that they ufed to call upon?

. Yes; aGentlewoman, Mrs, Sufan Barring-
o1,

Q. Have you feen her lately ?

4. No, nor thefe fix Months.
Vor V.

Q. D’Y E know Sir Febn Gerinaine and the
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9. D’ye know if your Mafterufed togo to the
Dutchefs’s Houfe ¢

A Yes, Ihave heard fo, but I can’c fay fo
pofitively,

Q. Did you ever go with them to the Dutch-
cfs’s Houfe ?

A. Nosj butI have gone with them as far as
the Horfe- Ferry.

Q. When was the laft Time you faw them to-
aether ?

A T can’t tell; Thave beenout of my Mafter’s
Service thefe four Years,

2. How long before you left your Mafter’s
Service, d'ye think 1t was that you faw them to-
octher?

A: 1 can’t tell, bue I chink it might be abour
halt a Year

Q. He has gone with his Mafler as far as the

Torfe-Ierry 5 pray then let him beafk’d where he
lett his Mafter ?

A, Ileft him at the Horfe-Fersy,

L, What Orders did your Mafter give you
when you left him?

A. He order’d me to go Home, and keep the
Houle,

Q. D’yc know whither your Mafter was gone
then ¢

A. T may judge he went to the Datchefs, but
I can’t fwear he went there.

Q, Did Sit Jobn Germaine come home to Bed
that Night ?

A. Some Nights hecame, and fome he did not.

9. Did youcarry Cloaths to him atany Time?

A, Thavecarried Cloaths for him to Mr, Kecuer,
the Dutchefs’s Servant.

Q. Where did Keciner live when you carried
Cloaths to him?

A. In a licele Street going to the Bowling- Ay,

€. Who did he live withal ?

A. He told me he lived with the Dutchefs,
but he was a Houfe-keeper, and had a Houfe
there.

Q, Did youalwayscarry Cloaths to Mr. Keemer
for your Mafler ?

A. Sometimes I carried his Cloaths to Mr. Kee-
aiery and fometimes My, Keemer came to me for
them,

9. Did you apprehend that your Mafter was
then at the Dutchefs’s, or at Mr. Keemer’s ¢

A. T can’ttell where he was: Howcan I tell?
I anfwer as punétually as [ can.

Q. When Keemer came toyou for Cloaths, what
Account did he give you where your Mafter was?

A. He gave no Account.

Q. Whether did you ever fee the Dutchefs and
your Mafter together at any other Place but his
own Houfe?

A. Never.

Q. When you carried the Cloaths to Keemer’s,
did your Mafter lie at Flome that Night or not?

A. Sometimes he lay at Home, and fometimes
he did not: Many times my Mafter has been at
the Dutchefs of Mazarine’s from Four a-Clock
this Day till Twelve the next.

9. Repeat it again, for that’s material,

A. My Mafter has taken his Chair at his own
Back-door at Four a-Clock on a Saturday, and
not come Home till Sunday at Twelve a-Clock.

9. Where has your Mafter been at that Time,
when he ftay’d out all Night?

A At the Dutchefs of Mazarme’s; and when,
Kk he
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he loft his Gold, he has fent to me for more

Gold.
9, Did he ever fend to you

when he was there ?
A. Never.
9. D'ye know where he was when he fent to

you for Cloaths?

A. No, indeed,
9. D’ye know Nicholas Hafier ¢ _
A Yes, I know him very well ; I faw him here

jult now. | _
. Did you know him when he waited on Sir

fobn Germatne ¢ _
A. Yes, he fucceeded me, and fucceeded him

again,

9. You was Footman when you went to Sir

fobn Germaine: When was that? and, What Year

did you leave off your Livery, and ferve him as

his Steward ?

A I can’t tell.
9. He fucceeded Hofier, and Hofter fucceeded

him - Pray let it beafk’d him, at whatTime he

came into his Mafter’s Service, when he fuccceded

Hofier 2
4. >T'was about the fame Time that the Trial

was here before.

9. How long wasit ¢’er Hgfier return’d again
to ferve Sir Fobn Geraine ¢

4. To thebeft of my Knowledge, it was three
Years; for Ireceiv’d and paid Money for my
Mafter, and Hefizr was away all that Time: Zo-
fier won’t deny it, if he were call’d in.

9. You fay that you fucceeded Hofier at the
Time when the Trial was here: How long be-
fore that Time did you return to your Mafter’s
Service ?

A About three Weeks before the King was
Crown’d I came to my Mafter, and ferv’d him
three Years, and wore his Livery; and he was
pleas’d, after Mr. Hoffer went away, to make me
lay out his Money, to be Caterer for him, and to
keep his Gold, and to the beftof my Knowledge
*twas three Years before Nicholas {ucceeded me
again,
. How long was it before he came back again

to ferve Sir Fobn Germaine ¢
A. Before I faw him in my Malfter’s Houfe,

and that he took my Place from me, *twas three

Years.
9. Did you not fee Mr. Hoffer in England be-

fore that Time that you went out of your Mafter’s
Service !
A. No; Ibegyour Lordthip’s Pardon, I will

recollect my Memory for that ;3 asl havea Soul
to be fav’d, now ’tis come into my Mind, my

Mafter fent for Nichelas into Hollaid abouta Year

before Nicholas did come over: My Mafter told
me, before hecame, that he would fend for NVi-

cholas again, and thatTand Nicholas hould have
the Charge of his Houfe. Nicholes came over,
and we had the Play at our own Houfe: Nicholes
ftaid there fome Time, but he did not like his
Bufinefs, and fo he went away again, becaufe he

could not have all the Money.
9. About what Time did Nicholas come into

England, after the Trial was before this Houfe ?

A. 1 can’t refolve you.
9, Had you no Certificate of Leave, or Dif-

charge, when you left your Mafter’s Service?
A, Nos; my Mafter was fo kind, that hebrought
me immediately into the Excife, as foon as I was

out of his Service.

for any Cloaths

folk ?

William Bayly crofs-examin’d, Lune 26 Februgyjs
1099. ’

9. When you carried the Cloaths to Sir ¥4,
Germaine’s, was it the Time when you wore hj;
Livery ?

A I carried no Cloaths to him when I woye
his Livery ?

9. Had you no Difcourfe ‘with the Dutchefy

Agents fince Saturday Night?
/. No, I have not feen them, nor don’t knoy

them.

Q. Hefays, he faw the Dutchefs of Norfolk at
the Cockpit, atSir Fobu Germame’s Houfe where
he now dwells: Pray recolle¢t you felf, that you
may be pofitive as to the Time.

A 1 can’t refolve you as to the Year, *tis fo
long ago ; I believe tis about five Years ago.

9. Canyou be pofitive that it 1s not more?

A. Tothe belt of my Knowledge, *twas abou

five Years.
9. Can you be fo far cerrain, that you can fuy

‘twis not more?
A 1 can’c {wear *twas more, but I believe it

may be five Years, more or Jels.
9. You fay you faw her two or three times
there : Was 1t all in one Year, near the fame

Time or Month? Can you reduce 1t to any Cu-
tainty ?

A. 1 believe it might be in Summer.

9. Allin onc Summer ¢

A Yes, I believe,all in ones to the beft of my
Knowledge there was never a Winter between
the Time that I faw her firft and it

9, Did you know the Dutchefsof Norfslk be-
fore that Time that you faw her in your Mafter’s
Houfe, and took her to be the Dutchefs of Nor-

A 1 did not know her before the Trial was
here,

9. Did you know her any Time after that
Trial, before the Time you faw her in Sir Fob:
Germaine’s Houle?

A Twas not fure that it was fhe, only asl

had it from Mr. Keemer.
9. Then you don’t undertake of your own

Knowledge to fay that it was fhe?

A 1 can’t fwear that *twas the, but as Mr
Keemer told me 3 I don’t know whether I fhould
know her nowor not, *tis folong fince I faw her;
I believe it 1s five Years, if not more.

9. Did you fee her before or after you faw her
at Sir Fobn Germaine’s Houfe ?

A. Thefirlt time they told me *twas fhe, I'met
her in her Coach in the Pallmall, with two other
Gentlewomen with her, a little before the Tral
was here: I followed the Coach, and the Dutchels
went into fome Lady’s Houfe in Dover-frcet, and
they told me the Durchefs was the firft Woman
that went out 3 thisis the firft time that €er |
faw her, that I know of, *till fuch time as Keeninr
told me *twas f(he.

9, Whether do you know Nicholas?

A, 1 know him very well.

9. Can you tell how long it is fince he came

Lalt into England? |
A. No, he hasbeen heretwo or three times 12

England, fince I left my Malter.
9. How longbefore this Examination faw yo!

him, or fpoke with him ?
A1
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A 1did not fee him above thefe three Years.

9 How long before you came hither asa Wit-
nefs did you fee him #

. 1 have not {een him thefe three Years till
I came hither to bea Witnefs, and did admire to
{cc him here, that a Man thac had got his Bread
ander his Mafter fhould appear here againt him,
it is foungratetul a thing.

9. How came it you had fo much Curiofty as
0 follow the Dutchefs’s Coach ?

A I had a Mind to fatisty my own Hu-
MO,

9. D’ye know how Nicholas lived fince he was
out of his Mafter’s Service ¢

/. No, Inever faw him, nor had any Account
of him at all, nor have feen him thefe three Years
il now.

9. Did you know when Nicholas and Elianos
Vaiefs went out of England ¢

A. No, I never knew when they went, nor

when they came.

9. Don’t you krow what Bufinels he went
out of England abour, the Time you took his
Place ?

A. T know not the Bufinefs he went out of
Euslaid upon.

9, Did he at any Time tell you he was
to get away to hide himfelf from coming hi-
ther ¢

A No, I heard not one Word from him at
the Time of his parting.

2. What reafon had you to fay upon the firft
Sightof Hgffer, that he was ungrateful for com-
g hither ?

A. I thould think my felf ungrateful to eat a
Gentleman’s Bread feven Years, and do him all

the Spite and Malice I could.

L. Repeat thofe Words?

A Tihould think my felf very ungrateful to
profecute ; if I fhould do any Harm to a Mafter
that I had ferved fo many Years, I fhould think
my felf very ungrateful, ler him think of himfelf
what he pleafes.

9. He added fome other Words?

4. Forany thing I know, itis Spite and Ma-
JIce.

&, Wheredid youlive when you followed the
Dutchefs’s Coach ¢

Ao At Mr. Germaing’s.

9, This Man is 2 Witnefs, and fo is Hpffer 5
let him explain himfelf what hemeans, and where-
in there is any Difference between him and Hofer,
for both are Witneffes ?

A. 1fay, Tthould think my felf very ungrate-
fl, if I would do any Harm to a Man whofe
Bread I did eat fo long, and had got fo much
Money under him,

2, What Harm does Hyfrer do, being a Wit-
{lf:fs againft the Dutchefs of Newfolk 2 what Harm
s that to Sir Fobu Germaine ?

A 1don’t know,

2 D’ye reckon it ungrateful to fpeak the
Iruth to the Prejudice of a Mafter ?

A. No, Twould not {fpeak an Untruth for all
the Mafters in the World.

R, Where is there any Faulc more in Hyffer
than in you ?

4. T know not,

9. Whether did Elianor Vanefs live with Sir
Jobn Gerinaine when you liv'd there ?

A. 1know not who fhe is.

“53

9. This Woman that was here as a Wir-
nefs ¢
A. Yes, fhe liv'd there.

R, What Time went fhe away from Sir Fobs
Germaine's Service ?

A, Tknow not, T cannot tell, indecd.
Sigi’d,
WILLIAM BAYIL Y

arull, il —

el

Die Martis, 5° DMartii, 169q.

Council and Witnefs being call’d in for the
Dutchefs of Norfolk (and the Duke’s Council
bemng prefent) the Examination of the Wit-
nefles, taken Yefterday in Short-hand and tran-
fcribed, were read to them, and fubfcribed,

(viz. )
Die Luire 4° Martii, 1099.
Thomas Hawk{worth fivern, depofed as fol-

loveth

Quefl.

Family ¢

Anfw. T came to live with the Datchefs about
Offobery 1691. and lefc her in Septesiber, about
two Ycars within two Months:  Elianor Vanefs
lived there when I lived there, and was Cook-
maid. b

Q. When did fhe leave the Dutchefs’s Ser-
vice?

A. About the beginning of Fanucry, or the
latter end of Deceniber, 1691,

9, On What Occafion went fhe away?

A. She was turned away, to the beft of my
Remembrance, for keeping Company with Drzch-

men.
9. Whether ufed fhe any other Office but in

the Kitchen? or had fhe Accefs to the Dutchefs’s
Chamber ¢

A. Never ; fhe was not allowed to come any
higher than the firlt Floor: She ufed to clean
that Room next the Street, one Pair of Scairs
next the Door, and the Back-Parlour even with
that, but was not fuffered to come into the
Dutchefs’s Chamber. |

9. Who waited upon the Dutchefs in her
Chamber ?

A. Frances Knight 5 fhe was conftantly in the
Dutchefs’s Chamber, and ufed to warm her
Bed.

9. You fay that Panefs was allowed to come
no higher than the firft Floor 3 explain that,

A. The Kitchen is under-ground backward ;
that Room Vauefscleaned waseven with the Street,
a Ground-Room; the Laundry-maid clean’d the
next Pair of Stairs. |

&. Whatwas the Laundry-maid’s Name?

A. Sufany fhe’s dead.

Q. Do you know how long ?

A. No.
9. Dic youever fee Panefs in the Dutchefs’s

Chamber.
A. Never in my Life; I never heard fhe was

allowed to come there.
8. How

O you know Elranor Vanefs2 and did
you hive inthe Dutchefs of Norfolk’s
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9. How long isit fince you liv'dd with the
Dutchefs? _

A About fix or feven Years, or very near 1t,

9. D’ye remember the Bill that was brought
into Parliament againtt the Dutchefs, while you

lived there ?
4 1 came to the Dutche(s the Offober before

that Bill was brought in.

Q. Was Vanefs turned away before that:

A She was gone a Month or thereabouts be-
fore that.

9. D'ye remember the Month?

A. To the beft of my Remembrance, ’twas
about the latter End of December, or the begin-
ning of Fannary.

9. Was there any Stir about the Dusch Foot-
Soldicrs haunting Vanefs 2

A. 1 never faw any, but have heard the Ser-
vants fay they did.

Q. Canyou fay what Time it was? Whether
before or after the Bill ?

4. Beforc I heard any thing of the Bill fhe
was gone.

Crofs-Examin’d.

Q. Were do you live now?

A. With Sir Thomas Barnardifton.

9. What Station were you in, when you lived
with the Dutchefs’

A. A Footman.

Q, Do you know Hyfter then?

A. No.

. 8, Wheredid the Dutchefs live, when you
came firft to her.

A. Upon the Row between the Horfe-Ferry and
Mill-Bank.

Q. How long did you live there ?

A. A Fortnight or thereabouts; not much
more,

Q. Do you know where fhe liv’d before ?

A. No.

Q. Do you know Sir Fobu Germaime 2 And,
on the Oath you have taken, did he ever come
to ghc Dutchefs’s Houfe while you liv’d with
her

A. T never faw him in the Houfe; 1never faw
any unhandfome Thing by the Ducchefs all the
Time I lived with her.

K. Did you never lee Sir Fobn Germaine with
her !

A No, never, and I had the Privilege of
the firft Floor and the fecond Floor, and help'd
to rub the Rooms, and fometimes I rubb’d the
Lodging-Room.

9. Had you the Privilege of going up Stairs
in the Morning ?

A. No, it was one Peacock that rubb’d the
Room above Stairs,

. Q. Did you know Panefs 2 Was fheServant to

the Dutchefs when you liv’d there?
A Yes, fhe was.

Q. Can you be pofitive as to the Time of her
going away?

A Asnearas I can tell, it was in the begin-
ning of Famuary, 1692. I came in the Ofober
before, and fhe went away the Fanuary follow-
ing.
% W}v‘gcrc you by, when fhe was difcharg'd?

. 0.

9, Who paid her her Wages?

A. 1 can’t tell.
9. Did you never fee Panefs in the Durchefy,

Chamber?

A. Never.
9. Did youattend at the Dutchefs’s Chamber

in the Mornin g,?

A. Not conltantly ;5 we took it by Turps,

2, Did youncver attend in her Chamber whep
{hc was a-Bed?

. No,

Q. Who was it of her Women that attended
in her Chamber ?

A. Sufan ——, Frances Kmghty and Sufan Ba;-
ringloi,

9. When did you {ee Sufan Barrington laft?

. About five Years ago.

9. Did fhe conftantly attend in the Dutchefy’s
Chamber?

/. She and Mrs. Kiight carry’d Coals conftan:.
ly to warm the Bed ?

9. How old was you when you liv’d with the
Dutchefs?

A. About eighteen Years old.

9. How old are you now ?

A T think about Seven and twenty.

Thomas Hazokfort),

Die Lune, 4 Martii, 1099.
John Peacock fworn, depofeth as followeth:

Quefl. ID you hve with the Dutchefs of
Norfolk 1n 1691 ?

A Tis fix Years fince [ left her Service, laft
Fanuary, or thereabouts; T liv’d two Years and
a half with her, or thereabouts; I came in Au-
guft, and ftay’d all Fannary two Y ears following,
or thereabouts.

9. Did youlive with the Dutchefs, when the
firft Trial, as they call ity came on in Parlia-
ment ¢

A Yes, Tliv’d with her before and after.

0. Dud you know Vanefs ¢

. T knew one whofe Namewas called Lena.

©. What was her Bulinefs ?

A. Below Stairs in the Kitchen 3 T never faw
her in any other Room, but the outer Room next
to the Street, and I was there all the while fhe
was there, and after fhe was gone,

Q. Ihd you cver fee her in the Dutchefs’s Bed-
Chamber !

A. Noj the Work the was employ’d about
was dirty Work; 1 never faw her clean, but
nafty, and could not eat the Victuals of her
drefling,

Q. Was you there before Vanefs ?

A Yes, I wasin the Houfe {fome tims before
her Grace came over, to help the Upholder, and
to carry Looking-Glafles and Stands.

9. When did fhe come over?

A. She came to Mill-Bank, but I know not
when fhe came over: My Lady Peterborow of-
der’d me to do what I did.

A. Was you Servant there to the Dutchels
before fhe came over ?

A. 1 never faw my Lady Durtchefs before fie
came there, except fome Years before ac Draj-
o, when he fiv'd with her.

9. Who hired you ? .
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4. 1 came there by the Lady Peterborough’s
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A. I never heard his Name before ; I had no

Order, and had my Victuals at my Lord Peter- Acquaintance with him, nor ever faw him about

-ougl’s.
f}wg:g Who hired you ¢

. T was not hired at all.

0, How long did you live at Mill-bank ?

I I livid about two Years and a Quarter, or
{omewhat more.

9, What was your proper Bufinefs, when you
iv’d with the Dutchels ?

4 When the Dutchefs went abroad, I went
with the Coach 5 and when fhe fupp’d or din’d
.t home, 1 laid the Cloth, Forks and Spoons,

9, Did you ever wait above Stairs ?

A Yes, I have waited above Starrs,

9, Who waited upon the Duichefs in her
Chamber?

A Frauces Kuight, one Sufan, and one Sufainab,

@, Upon your Oath, did you ever fee this
Woman, Helua, go into the Dutchefs’s Bed-
chamber ?

4. 1 never once faw her there all the Time 1
faid there 5 T rubb’d the Bed-chamber with a
long Rubbing-brufh; I never faw her there, nor
asove Statrs.

9. Do you know at what Time it was fhe
came to live with my Lady Dutchefs?

A Yesy fhe came while I was there.

9, Did you live with the Dutchefs before fhe
came to Mill-bank 2

A 11iv’d at no other Place with the Dutchefs,
but at Mill-baik, and at Drayton.

9. I’ye know how Panefs lett the Dutchefs’s
Service 3 and why?

A. Yes, upon Complaints of Diforders, and
her il drefling the Victuals.

9, What Diforders?

A, There were Men came to the Door to en-
quire for her, twice, or more.

9. Did you fee the I'ellows?

A Yes, | faw the Fellows, they came to the
Deor in the Dufkof the Evening, and I acquain-
red the Dutchels with 1, and told her Grace, |
did not think it fafe tor her Houfe, becaule I
had the Charge of Silver Spoons and Forks,

Q. Whart fort of Men were they ?

A, One of them appear’d to bea Foot-Soldier
n a blue Coat,

9, In what manner was fhe put away, or left
the Houle?

A. Upon theie Complaints, the Dutchefs faid
fhe wou’d turn her away.

2. Did you hear the Dutchefs fay fo?

A Yes,

Q. Was that before the Trial at the Lord’s
Houfe, or after?

4. To the beft of my Remembrance, it was
before the Trial, the latter End of Deceinder, or
tiae Beginning of Fannary, but 1 can’t be poii-
tve 3 I think "twas the latter End of Deceinber.

Q. Did fhe go away before the Trial, ornot?

A. 1thiak, before the Tral, bur I am not
furc : Yes, at the Time of the Trial, I remem-
ber another Cook,

£ Are you fure of that?

A. Yes, Tam fure of it; ’twas the Coach-
man’s Wife, one Gaffig.

8. D'ye know Haufenr or Nicola ?

A NU.

9. You lived at MFH-bank two Years; ID’you
Know no fuch Man ?

Houle.
Crofs-Examined.

9. Where do you live now? .

A. Near Humingdon 3 1board ina Houfe there:

2, How long have you been out of Service?

A. Ever fince I left my Lady Dutchefs.

&, How do you live then?

A. I board in a Houfe ; I follow no Employ-
ment, but live on my own, except to teach Chil-
dren, two, three or four, out of Charity.

Q, When came you to the Dutchefs’s Service
firft ?

A. T ferved her about ten or twelve Years ago,
but I can’t remember the precile Time, tis {o
long fince.

9. How long did you live with her then?

A. I lived with her about half a Year at Dray-
ton in Northamptonfbire 5 1 went about Nevember,
and ftaid to Ledy-Day following.

Q. How long was 1t before you came to live
with her the laft Time?

A. 1 can’t tell.

2. You fay you came to live with her about
two Yearsand a Quarter ; whatT ime was that?

A ¥ can’t tell, but that may be eafily found ;
I liv’d with her about fix Years ago, or there-
abouts.

9, How long did you leave the Dutchefs, after
the Fearing came on 1n this Noble FHoufe ?

A. Idon’t know; it was about a Year and
three Quarters, or two Years, I can’t be pofi-
tive.

9. Was it after the Trial began ?

A. Yes, Ithink the Trial began in Fanrary,
and *twas a Year after it began.

9. Can’t you be politive what Time you came
to live with the Dutchefs?

A. 1 came about Auguft to Mifl-bank, but the
Dutchefs was not come then, but the Offeler fol-
lowing my Lady Dutchels came.

9. Where did the Dutchefs live then?

A. Idon’t know, I wasat the Lady Peterds-
rough’s; 1 help’d her Servants to carry Things,
and to get Things ready.

9. Did you know where the Dutchefs liv’d
then ?

A. No; fome faid the liv'd in Flanders, others
in Holland, and fome in France.

8, Was you never at Zaux-ball while the Dutch-
efs liv’d there? |

A. T was never there while the Dutchefs lived
there, if fhe did live there,

9. Was you never there where fhe did live 2

A. When no body liv’d there, I have feen the
Houfe where they faid fhe did live.

9. How long ago is that? |

A. 1 know not how long ago, but *twas in
the Summer-time.

9. How came you to take notice of that
Houle more than the reft of the Houfes in Zaux-
ball 2 'Who was it told you the Durtchefs lived
there ?

A. 1 think it was one that wasr—

Q. You faid the Dutchefs went fometimes by
Water 5 did you go along with her at that
Time?

A Yes, Idid, with fome other Company.

8, Was
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9. Was you ever fent to the Houfe, to fetch
Goods from thence ?

A. No.

9. Who went with you, when you went with
the Dutchefs there

A One Mrs, Bruffless, and two or three other
Ladues.

9. D'ye know Sir Fobun Germaine ¢

A. 1 never faw him, but in his Coach, as he
was eoing along the Streee 3 I never faw him i
any Houfe, or any other Place, litting or going,
but in his Coach.

£. Was you never at his Houfe?

A. 1 never was at his Houle, nor any Place
where he lived,

Q. You fay you were at the Dutchels’s Cham-
ber to rub the Room?

A Yes, 1 was,

Q. Did you not {ce Faucfs there?

A. No.

Q. Cun you rake it upon your Oath that you
never faw her there ?

A. Noy I never faw her there 3 but I faw Su-
Jan Barringtoir there,

Q. What Service did Sefen Barrizetsiy do
there ?

A. She help’d to drefs and undrels her Grace,
and to wmend Linnen, as I chink,

Q. When faw you her laft ?

A. “T'was about the gth, roth, or 11th of Ax-
gift lt, avthe George Inn in Huatingdoin.

9, D’you know where fhe Ived then?

A She was at Huatinedon then, and came with
the Lady Dutchefs to take a Stuge-Coach for
Loudsi s The wasat che Gearge Innoin Tluintingdas,
I think, about Augift Iaft, *

Q. You fay you liv’d at the Dutchefs’s Houfe
at Ml bank, before the Dutchels came thither
Did Zaizefs come with her, or was fhe hired ai-
tere

A. T think fhe came with the Dutchefs.

2. D’ye kiww whenee the Ducchefs came,
when fhe came there?

. As 1 have heard, the came from Fox-lel :
When my Lady Dutchels went thither Ly Wa-
ter the Summer after, T was told, that my Lady
liv’d at fuch a Houle in Fox-ba'l.

Q. Dudn’c you know that my Lady Dutchefs
hv'd at Jex-Deli 2 |

A. T rever knew my Lady Dutchels tll fhe
bvid ac M7 Laak, |

Q. What Account had you at the Dutchefs’s
Houfe where the was then ?

A, People faid fhe was in Floados.

2, D'vou know when 7anfs came to live
with the Dutchefs ?

A, T believe flie came to live with the Dutcli-
cls at Mil-baik

2, D’ye know when Mhe was difchare’d out

A Thave a fmall Matter to ive ony T v
near Hentingden, 1 was born near there 3 2tis
native Places T have liv’d there abour foyr g
five Years, or within feven Miles of that Plag,,
or thereabouts,

9. Did Foufs drefs the Dutchefs’s Dinper
when the lived there s for 1t feems fhe way 1
cood enough to ferve you?

A Yes, fhe did drefs the Dutch: s Dinge-
but I did not care to eat Vituals of her Dy
fing..

9. When did you firft complain to the Dyg,.
¢fs, that Men follow’d Fauefs ¢ or, that you ap-
prehended Danger by her being there ?

A 1 can’e tell,

Q. Was fhe dilcharg’d immedtately after thag 2

A T think the was difcharged iIHIHL'LIidEEI}' af-
ter that,

Q. You fay there were fome other Ladie
that went with the Durchels to fex-bclly oo
you hame them ?

Ao WNrs, Mearfhal, and tfome others; burd
can’t be politive.

Q. Did you kvow Mis. Driane ?

4 No, [ never heard hor Name before.

Q,Did the Dutchefs eat always :1tPc‘!:‘;':‘fj;'f.';ﬁ:.
bonfe, or Mil-bank-boufey as you call 1t

A. Sometimes fire earabroad, and fometime;
at home.

@, Who drels’d her Victuals when fhie ear i
home?

;‘..-‘r. Loia.

8, Whas d’ye mean by ALl-Leik- bezfe ?

A, Pc‘.'f['}'it’{r?t?ff’gi?n‘.r ﬁ:_'ﬁ'.

. Who did you hear fay the Dutchefs fivel
at that Houfe at Fon-ball ?

A. The Dutchuds was going by Water, s
told the Ladies then, that That was the Houl
The had hiv’d at, at Fex-ball sy and walking in i
Garden of the faid Houle, told e fo.

FONAS PLEACOCH

"
L ]

Die Lune 4° Martii, 1699,

F
-~

Frances Knight frocin, depofeth as fallozcih
O W long have you hiv’d in (!

[ B Dutchefs of Noifoll?s Family

Aifio. ‘Twenty-feven Years, or upwards,

. With whom did you lve ail that Thes

A With the Lady Dutchefs's Father, the [
dy Peterboioush, and the Dutchefs.

Q, Did you live with the Dutchefs when i
hv'd ac Alill-dak ?

A Yes, The'd wich her at her firll comiiz

therr,

R Iave you been weith her ever fince ?
A. Yes.
X, Did you know Fawsfsin the Durchel:

of her Service?

AT think ?ewas the lacter End of Dacainder, or
the Deginning of Yunzery; 1 think fo, but I
don’t fpeak pofitively.

Q. Was you by when her Wages were pakd 2

A. No.

L. Have you ever feen her fince 2

A. Noy I never faw her from that Hour to
this.

&, Where have you liv'd fince you left the
Lady Dutche(s’s Service, and how? Have you
any Lflage ?

Family at Mill-dank, and whas I miploy had e
there ?

A. Yes, 1 know her very well 5 fhe was i
the Kitchen,

%, Dud you ufe to be in the Durchels’s Bal-
chamber, and about her Perfon ?

Ao Yes, T was the frft in the Morning therd,
and the laft ar Night, conftantly.

Q. Did you know Lligisr Fanefs theres A
did fhe ufe to cone into the Dutchefs’s Chame
ber P

/!_ Shl:
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A. She never came there.

9. Where ufed fhe to employ her felf?

A In the Kitchen. | _

©. Was fhe well enough in Cloaths, cleanly
én;;gh, and fit to come into the Dutchefs’s
Chamber ¢

A. No, fhe was not.

9. What Time went fhe away 5 and upon
what Account ?

A My Lady put her away, becaufe Soldiers
cme and afk’d for her, and fent for her to Ale.
houfes about Ten a-Clock at Night, I wentup
one Morning, and complain’d of her to my Lady
Dutchefs, and told her that Soldiers haunted her,
afk’d for her, and fent for her to Ale-houfes at
Ten a-Clock at Night: And my Lady Dutchefs
fid, fhe would not keep a Servant that kept 1l]
Hours,

9. Was this before the Trial ?

A Yes, my Lady put her away, upon my
fpeaking this.

9. Do you know why fhe was put away ?

A. Yes, for having Soldiers haunt her Coms-

any.
P E?t Confider well what you fay ?

A. Yes, my Lords s I {peak whac my Confci-
ence tells me : Here I am before the Lords, I
muft fpeak Truth. ,

9. How far can you recolle¢t your felf, if it
was oefore the Trial, or not, that fhe was put
away ?

A. It was before the Tral.

9. How long?

A T can’t remember 3 1 think 1t was about 2
Quarter of a Year, I can’t tell exactly, but it
was near upon.

9. How nearwas you to the Dutchefs? What
was your Employment ?

A. I help’d to get her to Bed, as her Chams
ber-maid. |

9. Did Elianor Vanefs never undrefs her?

/. No, never in this World.

9, Did you never know her come into the
Dutchefs’s Chamber ?

A Never, never. Oh, fie | never indeed,

Q. D’ye know Nicholas Haufeur ? |

A. I'don’t know him : There were manyafk’d
for Mr. Keemer, but I did not know them, for
he has many Acquaintance,

R, Did you know Thomas Hawkfworth, your
Fellow-fervant ?

A. Yes, he came when my Lady came to Mili-
bank 3 Mr. Peacock came before 5 they were both
Servants together.

Frances Knight Crofs-Examined,

. You fay you lived Twenty-feven Years
and upwards with the Dutchefs and her Mother ;
Do you live with the Dutchefs ftil] ?

A Yes,

Z; How long is it fince you liv’d with her
Mother ?

4. After the Dutchefs was marry’d, I came
to live with her and my Lord Duke,

2. Have you been in her Service fince ?

A. Yes,

R, After the Duke parted with my Lady
Dutchefs, where did fhe go to live ?

A. She liv’d at Mill-dank, and no where clfe
that I know of,

& Came you to live with her foon after her
Vou. V,
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Marriage ? and have you lived with her ever
fince ? and, did the ever live at Paux-ball ?

A. 1 never lived with her at Vaux-ball,

Q. Then you have not lived with her ever
fince ¢ |

A. T have lived with her cver fince; I have
taken my Oath, d4nd as nearas I can tell you.

Q. Where did the Dutchefs live before fhe
came to Mill-bank ?

A. She iv’d at Vaux-ball ?

Q; Did not you live with liet there?

A. No, I broke my Leg, and was brought ta
her Mother’s, and ftaid there 2 Twelvemonth ;
Mr. Peters was my Surgeon, he can tel] ir; 1
came here to fpeak the Truth,

2, Don’t be angry?

A. No,

Q. Did you continue with the Dutchefs till
you broke your Leg ?

A. Yesy and when I broke my Leg, T went
home to her Mother’s, .

Q. When left you the Dutchefs after fhe pdrted
with my Lord Duke?

A. 1lefe her at Mill-bank.

Q; Do you know the Queftion that’s afk’d ?

When did you leave the Dutchefs after fhe parted
with the Duke ? |

A. 1 know no fuch Queftion as you afk, I
fpeak the Trath as well as I can.

E-Q.l fwlﬂlm did my Lady Dutchels go, when
you left her?

A. 1 went away lame, and cou’d do her no
Service. .

R, Where did you come to my Lady Dutchefs
againt, when you were well,
A At Midl-bank.

Q. Was you ever with her at Vaux-ball ?

A. 1 was not there, becaufe I was lame.

Q. Was you ever at Vaux-hall ?

A. I told you I broke my Leg.

Q. Was you ever at Vaux-ball; or not ?

A. 1tell you I was lame.

Q. Was you ever at Vaux-ball at any Time?

A. 1 tell you I was lame ; I give you Anfiwer
to your Queftion. I tell thefe noble Lords, that
every Word I {peak is T'ruth.

Q. But you are fwore to fpeak the Whole
Truth,

A. I {peak the Truth,
for ,

. Was you ever with the Dutchefs at Panx-
hall ¢

A. I was not able to be there with her,

9. Was you there with her, ornot?

A. I was not able t6 go thither.

9. Was you never there ?

A. 1 was not able to go thither

9. Was you never there, or not, with the
Dutchefs? .

A. No, I never was at Paux-ball in my Lifs,
but at Millebank and Whiteball 1 have,  Meo-
randum n this Interlincation was alter’d, upos
reading over her Examination, 2esy I bave been
there, but I did not flay there.

Q. Was you ever there with the Ducchefs, ¢r
not ? |

A. T'wasnot there: I tell you I was not there,
I was lame. |

£, Was you never there with the Dutchef,
at any Time ?

Why fhould you do

L1 A No,
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A. No, T tell you, I was lame ¢ I was never
there with the Dutchefs. - '

9, Where-was the Dutchefs bcfbre fhe came
to Mill-bank ¢ - e

A, That I can’t tell.

9. Where was The when you broke your ch 1

A1 left her av Mill-bank, with her Mother. .

Q, Where did you find her, when you came
again ?

A. 1 found her at her Mother’s.

9, Can’t you t-:ll where: fhe'was. in .the mean
Time? - L * -
4. No

A. No, my Lords, never, -

9. Did Vanefs come along with the Dutcheﬁ
when fhe came to Mill-baik,- or, was fhe hied
after her Return?- ~

- A..Shec came after her Return to A4 bank,

R, What Time went fhe away ?

A.1can’ttell the Day 5 that’s 2 hard Quetion,
She went-away, on my {peaking to the Dutchefs,
that fhe was haunted with bad Company.

.9, Did not fhe drefs “the - Dtnner, when the
Duichefs dined at home?

A Yes, but fhe never: dmed qt homL but v
{feldom.

Cl'}

Q. Was you never toId by *my of thc F"lmlly
where fhe was ac that Time? . .

A. No. - R

Q. Did Vanefs come to the Dutchefs when fhe
hv'd ac Adill-bank 2 RN '

A Yes. |
. How long did fhe lwe with her ﬂftex P

. 1 can’t tt.ll but a fhort Time. .

- ,2_ Do you know Sufanne Bmngta» 2

A Yes. R - Q. Atwhat Time did [he’ live there?
&, When did you fee her Laft?. . A, Tan’ttell yous I wasfick in Bed.
A About three Weeksago, . - 2. You Imy recollect ’lb{}ut what-Time was
- 9. Is-fhenot in the Dutchefs’s Service fill? .. . : SRR
A. Il tell you the Truth : She receivid 2 4 T was lqme n March, thls Month I can’;
Letter-from Ffm:dm, acquainting her that her tel] what Year.
Mother was dead : She wasvery much afflicted @, D’you know what Houﬁ, lhe llv’d in ¢

with 1t:1 And when the Dutchefs came i, Itold A, Yes; *twas ong Sir Thomas Grofoeuer's, a
her Grace that Sufan had receiv’d a Letter that  Adifbank.

Q. -Can’t you tell when Vanefs went away ?
- A No. !

9. Did you know Nicholas Hefer 2

A No, I know no fuch Man. There wer
many People came to Mr. Keemer, Lords Ser.
vants, and others, I don’t know fuch PLGP]{'

"~ @, You have heard that the Dutchcl's v'd ar
Zﬁ';f". }Jt"”z

A Yes,

her Mother was dead, and I did defire my Lady 9, Iafk you whdt Houfe ﬂlE: hv’d at, at Vaix-
to give her Leave to go to Holland and he’s  fall ? ,
there, ' 4. Tknownor, '- ' - '
9, Did you fec the Letter - 9, How came youto know the Dutchcfsln ’d
A 1 faw i, at Vaux-ball ? -
. R, Was it from her Mother, or from her Si- 4. Youafk what I can’t tf:ll you
er ¢

Q. You daren’t tell,

./1 Yes, Pll tell the Trurh, btzfore all the
Houfe of Lords.

Q. You faid ‘the 1iv’d at Vaux-ball s"
A. No, 1 never fud ir:- -

A Yes, *twas from her Sli’cer, that her’ Mo-
ther was dead.

&, Was Sufouna_ Barrington in thc Dutchefs
Service when this Bill was dependmg ?

A. No. - 9. Whence came-the- Dutahefs, when fhe camz
&, How long is it fince you -reccived.-that vo Mill-dek ?
Letter ? - ST

A:-She came fromy- the Place fhe did ; Idnl
not afk her the Queftion, I durft not be fo bold

8. 'Can’t you tell when'the came to Mi//- f)ﬂ}&?
nor-from what Place'fhe came? -

4. 1 can’t tell the Day‘when fhe came. |
don’t afk from what Place' Peoplé come.

: Q. When dld you l\nﬁw Sl[‘ _‘}'o}m Germair:
rit 2

A. *Tis about three Weeks ago.
. How long is it fince you went ?
A. A Fortnight to Day.

-9, Did you “fié her any Time thefe three
'Wt:t,ks?J

A. No, no.
2, Did you not live with her in the Houfe,
and did you not fee her ?
A. She has-been gone about a Week.
Q, D’you know Mrs, j‘ﬂdztb?
A, No. I
&, D’ye know M. Br:r‘ne? ’ \
A Y have heard her Name, bur am not ae-
quainted with her,
- R; Had you any Difcourfe ‘with Vanefs, whcn
the came to Mill-bank to live with the Dutcliefs?
A. No, I never lik’d her Difcourfe. |
£, Did you ever hear the Dutchefs §; 1y that
fhe liv’d at Vauy- Hall ?
4. No.’ - .
9. Do you know Sir Faobn Gemrzme S
A1 know him by fight.

A THaw lum firft wlth my Lord Dukc there,
at hlS Houfe in the Square. -~ -~

2. Did you never know him -keep Company
with the Dutchefs ?

4. No, but only tich the Duke'of Narfil
ﬂlﬁrﬁ y I peak in thc Plcfence of GnD

Sign’d,
FRANCES *KNIGH?’.

'Die Lune 40 Martiiy: 1099.
Williatn White fvsin, depofelh as ﬁ![ﬂwe_tb :

S Quep. TNID you live with the “Dutchefs of
Q Did you never fee hlm at the Dutche(s’s ? Norfolt for fome Years paft ?

A No, .. * - Anf. .1 lv’d-with her fince-the firft Week of
2, Dld you ever fer.: him at M- bm:l. orat the fieflt T ml, about fix, or fcven, or ewht Years

her Houfe here ? »
.1 ufe here AE0% . Q Wl
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& What Care was there taken about the
])L;Ehci'z-;’s Door in the Park? '

/. 1 generally went out the firft in the Morn.
ing; the Door had two Boles, a Crofs-Barr, and
n Iron Chains befides, thefe I unbolted every
Morning, and unbarr’d, when I went out early.

9, Did you ever hear or underftand that Hofter
lad a Key to that Door? ‘

1. 1 never knew any thing of it, nor know
w0t of what Ufe it could have been s for he could
1ot come in till the Door was unbolted.

Q. Say pofitively, whether ever you have
heard, that this Man had a Key to that Door?

A T never heard of 1. _

Q. Did you never fee him come in at that

Door?
A Yes.
9. How? Upon what Occafion?

A 1 happen’d to be going out my felf, and to
open the Door for him. HisBufinefs, I wastold
bv my Lady Dutchefs’s Maid, was, That fhe
had lent Money to a Man in Holland, and fhe
wrote a Letter to be carry’d by this Man to her
Gilter, to get this Money; and fhe fent ano-
ther Letter by one Bull, to carry to Holland, to
cer the Money, as fhe told me.

9. Did you'let him in? *

I Tunbolted the Door, and let him in.

9. Did you find that this Man uled to come
freely to the Foufe, at that Door, by any Key?

A No, Inever knew it.

9. Who did he come to?

A. To Sufan Barrington.

9. Did youever fezhimabove Stairs with her?

/. Noj; he might come in, and I not fee It.

9. Did the Dutchefs or Servants fay any thing
that he had Leave to comein?

A. Y never examin’d that, becaufe any body
that had Bufinefs had Leave to come in, as
Tradefmen, and others.

9, Did they tell youin the Houfe, that Hoffer
was at Liberty to come into the Houfe with a
Key?

A No, never,

Q. Had vou ever any Difcourfe with Hofrer?

A. 1 was one Day coming from Change, and
met Mr. L’ Effrange and this Heficr. L' Efirange
told me, that he was ill of the Gripes. 1 told
him, that the belt Thing forit was burnt Claret;
and he, and I, and Hofierr went to a Tavern in
Smithfield: And while we were together, Hofrer
reflected upon his Mafter, faying, His Mafter
lad ufed bhim ill, and defervid to be ill ufed.
Mr. L’ Eftrange heard thefe and fome morec Words;
Mr. I’ Eftrange told me, that he fpoke to that
purpofe, He was refolved to be reveng’d of his
Mafter,

2., What did he fay of his Mafter?

. He faid his Mafter had ufed him very 1l ;
he had many threatning Words ;3 he faid his Ma-
lter wasan 11l Man, and deferv’d to be ill ufed,

and the Time would come when he fhould re-
pent it,

Q. When did he fay thefe Words?
A. >T'wasabout Michaelmas two Years ago, or
1 Yearago, I can’t tell which.

Crofs- Examined.

&, You fay you liv’d with the Dutchefs the

hrft Week of the firft Trial: Was Vanefs there
at that Time?

VoL V,
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A. She was gone before I came, |

Q. How long? -

A 1 can’t tell s I never faw her there, to the
beft of my Remembrance, but have heard there
was {uch a onc in the Family.

9. Did you know Hafrer ?

A. 1 fee him come in at the Back-door.

Q. Whofe Servant was he then?

A. The fielt Time I did not know; but a lit-
tle after, I was told he was Sir Fobn Germaine's.

Q. What Occafion had he to come to the
Dutchefs’s Houfe?

A 1 know not, but about the Bufinefs of the
Lcteer.

Q. How often did you fee him there?

A. Two or three Times, or more,

Q. With whom?

A. With Sufar Barrington.

Q. What was his Bufinefs with her?

A. About the Money, as fhe told me. He
went along with that Woman; fhe fent a Letter
by him; and fhe fent Letters by fome other
Dutchimen into Helland, about the Money.,

Q. Did he afk for any other Servant?

A. Not that [ know of.

Q. Did you fee him above Stairs with her?

A. I never faw them in any Apartment but
that Place below, where the Lumber is, near the
Park-door.

Q. D’you know Sufannab Barringtoy ?

2. 1 know her very well.

Q. D’you know where fhe is now?

A. Her Mother died about the 1oth of Yauua-
#y, and then I faw herall in Tears; and fhe went
away after chis Account of her Mother’s Death.

Q. When did you fee her laft?

d. I have not feen her this Forthnight or
Month, that I know of, that I could diftin-
guifh her from another Woman, except fhe had
a Mafk on, -

&, How long before this Trial faw you her?

A, About a Fortnight: She gave me an Ac-
count that her Mother died the 1oth of Fanuary,
tin Holland,

Q. When did fhe go away?

A. T'did not take notice of the Time fhe went
away.

9, Did you know Hofier at any other Place
but at the Lady Dutchefs’s?

A. Never, butas I have feenhim in the Park,
and with Mr. L’ Effrange.

Q, Was you never with him at Sir Fobn Ger-
maine’s, -

A. Never,

Q. D’you know Sir Jobn Germatne 2

A After I had lived with the Dutchefs fome
Time, I was toldby fome in theStreet, thatthat
was his Coach, and his Livery, and that he was
the Man that there was fo much Noife about.

9. Did you never fee him in the Dutchefs’s
Houlfe:

A. 1 never faw him in no Part of my Lady
Dutchefs’s Houle, nor inno Appartment; and I
am the only Man that goes up and down Stairs.

9. Did you never fee him in the Dutchefs’s
Company at any other Place?

A. No.

Q. Did you conftantly lic at the Dutchefs’s
Houle?

A. When the Dutchefs was laft at Drayton, 1

lay at Richmond two or three Nights,
.12 9. Did
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9. Did you lie conftantly there, when the
Dutchefs was there ? _

4. 1 was fick near a Month, and all thatTime
I lay at my Wife's; but moft commonly lay at
the Datchefs’s, fince the is come to Duke-firect
to live. _

9. You fay, You ufed to open the Door 1n the
Park firft in a Morning ; what Time did you
ufe to open it at 2 ‘

A At Six, Seven, or Fight a-Clock in a
Morning ; there was no certain Hour, but I ge-
nerally open’d that Door. |

9. Did you ever know Haufeur come in at any
other Door but that?

A. Yes one wet Day he came n at the Street-
door, before the Porter and all the Servants, and
afk’d for the fame Woman,

9. Did he never afk for any other Body?

A. 1 never heard him afk for any but Sufen
Barrington, for the was his Country-woman,

Q. If Nicholas got in at the Park-door, could
not he get up Stairs ?

A. 1t he could get in at that Door he talks of,
he could not get into the Dutchefs’s Apartment ;
for there was 2 Room betwixt that, where the
Plate and Jewels lay, that no Key could open :
That if he could get up two Pair of Stairs, he
could not get in there.

9. If he had a Key, and got in at any Door,
cow’dn’t Sufan Barrington, when he came in, with-
out any difficulty, lead him round the Houfe?

A. I can’t fag but fhe might, but I never faw
him, but below Stairs with that Woman, and
then he went away without going up Stairs.

2. Did you never fee him bring any Thing to
the Houfe ?

A. No.

9. You nam’d one L’Eftrange, that you faw
with him at the Tavern, what 1s he?

A. He was my old Fellow-Servant at the lute
Duke of Norfolls.

. What Difcourfe had you with him then ?

A. He complain’d to me of his being ill, and
I gave him the beft of my Advice,

. What Time was it that Nicholas had thofe
threatning Words againft his Mafter ?

A, About Ten, Eleven, or Twelve a-Clock at
Noon.

. How long ago 1s it 2

A. T can’t tell if it be a Year, or two Years
twas a little after Michaelmas, but whether it be
one Year, or two Years, I can’ctell,

Q. Cow’dn’t Mr, L’ Eftraunge tell ?

l/f. I afk’d Mr. L’Efirange, and he cou’d not
gell.

9, Whofe Servant was Nicholas then?

A. He was no body’s Servant.chen : He rail’d
againit his Mafter at that Time for turning him
away.

9. Did you not know who was his Mafter a
Year or two ago?

A. He told me, he was out of Place,

£, Did you not know him to be Sir Fobn Ger-
smame’s Servant, -when he came to the Dutchefs’s ?

A, T did not know it when I firlt faw him and

Sufon together 5 but fome time before he went
away, I heard he was his Servant.

£, But you fay, youdid not know Sir Fohu
Germaine about two Years ago?

4. T did not know hin fo, as to {peak to

him,.
WILLIAM TFHITE,

Lo

Die Lune 4° Mart, 10qq.

Matthew Mac-Donnell fworn, depoferh 4
followeth :

Queft. OW long have you liv’d with ¢he
Durchefs of Norfolk

Anfw. Four Years at Lady-day next.

Q. In what manner was the Door going oy
to the Park kept ? Had any body a Keyto it
that was not of the Family? Did it ufe to be left
open ?

A. *Twas not to be left open 3 *twas very up.
fafe to be left open 3 befides, it was bolted and
fock’d.

9. Was there particular Care taken of chy
Door ?

A Yes; Imy felf bolted it very often at Nigh,

9. Did you often unbolt it in a Morning ?

A. Yes.

9. Whether or not, the Time that you lived
there, did you know any body, that was not of the
Family, come with a Key to open that Door?

A. Never.

9. Did you know Haufeur, or Nicholas ? Had
he a Key to that Door ?

A. 1 never knew i,

9. Did youever fee him come in at that Door?

A. Fopen’d that Door for him once or twice.
when he rung.

9, When was that!

A. 1o an Evening,

. What did he come about ?

A. Ido not know ; but he afk’d for Sufa, my
Lady Dutchefs’s Servant.

9. Did you ever {ee him go up Stairs?

A. Tnever did hear he went up in my Life,

Q. When he afk’d for Sufan, did he goup
then ?

A No; Icall’d her to him, and I never faw
him go up Stairs.

Q. Did you ftay with him all the while Sufux
was with him?

A. No, I had no Bufinefs 5 I went my way.

Q. Was Nichslas, when he rung, in the Park,
or at the wner Door?

A. In the Park.
Crofsa Examnined,

2, Dud you know whofe Servant Nicholas was!
A. 1did not know, nor I afk’d no Queftions.

2. How often have you feen him at the Dut-
chefs’s ?

A. Three times,

2. Dud he always afk for Sufannab Barringtos?

A. One ume he afk’d for Mr, Keeser.

9. Who was Mr. Keeser 2

A. He was the Dutchefs’s Servant,

R. Did you ufe to ftay with him? or, did you
feave him?

A. No, to tell you the plain Truth, I thought
}IF came to court Sufan, and did not ftay with
1m,

9. Did you ever fee him up Stairs in Sufair’s
Room ?

A. T never faw him there,

9, What Employment have you under the
Dutchefs ?

A. I am her ¥Foot-man.

9. When did vou fee Sufan laft?
2 y i (O
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A. On Tuefday Seven-night in the Morning.

9, Not fince? -

A. No.

@, Where did you fee her then ?

7 At the Dutchefs’s Foufe.

®. What became of her after that? -

"L She faid, her Mother died lately in Holland,
and fhe was gotng there,

9, When did you hear her fay fo?

A I heard her fay fo feveral times before fhe
went away 5 a Month, or a Quarter of a Year,
hefore fhe talk’d of going to Holland.

Q. Upon your Qath, don’t you know that the
i¢ at the Dutchefs’s

A. I know not of her being there.

9. Can you take it upon your Oath when fhe
was firft wanting ?

A. 1faw her on Tuefday Seven-night laft, in the
Morning.

9. How came you to know fhe was gone, if
you don’t know the Time when fhe went?

A. 1did not know fhe was gone, till I went
home from the Houfe here,

9, Who told you fhe was gone ?

A, The Servants.

9. She was there when you came hither?

A. On Tuefday Morning I did fee her.

@, Has the Dutchefs another in her Station ¢

4. There 1s one Mrs. Cambell, that drefles my
[.ady Dutchefs, but fhe does not live there.

9. Did fhe ufe, in Sufan’s Time, to come and
drefs the Dutchefs?

A Yes, The ufed to come fometimes.

9. Has the Dutchefs taken any body to do
Stfan’s Work ?

A. 1 know not of any.

Sigi’d,
MATTHEW + MAC-DONNEL.

- & il i T

Die Lunce 4° Martii, 16gqg.

My, Robert Welburne fwworn, depoleth as
followweth :

Rueft. HAT Account can you give of
Mr. L’ Effrange’s having Notice to

be 2 Witnefs ?
Anfwer, T was told by the Dutchefs, That

L’Effrange had been with her, and gave her an -

Account of fome Particulars between #bite, and
him, and Nicholas ; That, having the Griping
in the Guts, they went into a Tavern together ;
That he heard /7%ite and Nicholas talk together
very loud, but he told me he had the Gripes,
and could not fo well mind what he faid, but he
heard him ufe hard Words againft hisMafter, but
he could not remember that he faid he would be
reveng’d upon his Mafter 5 but he would recollett
umfelf, and, if he could remember, he would
Ly what he could : He told me, he had been
ored in the Norfolk Family.

9. Did you afk Mr. L’Eftrange about this
Matter ?

A. Yes: Mr. L'Eftrange told me, He remem-
er'd they were together, and heard Nicholas
ipeak very hard, ill Words againft his Mafter,
out he could not be pofitive what they were ; but
what he could remember he would {peak, if that
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would do the Dutchefs any Service. He defir’d
my Lady Dutchefs would give him notice the
Night before, and he would appear.

. When was this?

A. *Twas Tuefday or Wednefday 3 1 think *twas
Wednefday.

Crofs- Examined.

Q. Did the Lady Dutchefs tell you what M.
L’Effrange faid ?

A, Yes; that gave me the Occalion to fpeak
of it. He faid, he heard Nicholas fay hard, il
Words againft his Mafter, but not that he heard
him fay he would ftudy to be reveng’d.  Per-
haps, fays he, there might be fome other Words.
That he was in the Kitchen, and would endea-
vour to recollet who was there befides 5 and if
he had two or three Days Time, he would en-
quire,

9, Did you ler him know you was concern’d
for the Dutchefs ¢

A. Yes; and he told me he would tell me
what he could fay in this Matter; and he fhould
be ready to appear at any Time, if that would
be for the Dutchels’s Advantage, '

9. Did he tell you he was going abroad into
Holland ?

A. Not one Word.

£, Did you intimate to him, when the Dutch-
efs was to make her Defence ¢

A Tthink Tdid, but I can’t be politive 3 but
he took no notice to me, that he would not be

there.
9. D’you know Mr. La Founteine ?

A Yes, 1 know one La Fountaine.

9. Is he in the Dutchefs’s Service ?

A. 1 believe not.

9. D’you know whether he is at Drayton 2

A. 1 have {een him at Drayton.

Q. Did he live with Sir Fobn Germaine, that
you know of ?

A. Never, that I know of.

9, When faw you Sufan Baryington ?

A. T can’t be poliive 5 but I think, not this
Month or fix Weeks.

9. Ha’n’t you feen her fince this Bill was
brought in?

4, Politively, I have not.

ROBERT WELBOURN.

L

Die Lune 4° Martiz, 1699,

Elianor Monfort fworn, depofeth as followeth »

Queft. E L L the Lords if you know Nich-
las Hoffer, and on what Account you
came to know him,

Anfw. This Nicholas lodg’d two or three times
at my Houfe. My Hufband was a Dutcbman, apd
he was a Dutchman 3 they were like Brothers,
they lov’d one another.

9. What know youof this Man, this Nicho/zs ?

A My Hufband told me, that this Man
Nicholas, (1did not know no other Name he had ;)
my Hufband told me, that he had a Defign to
rob his Mafter, and that he knew where his Gold
and his Jewels lay, and had made falfe Keys,
and would watch his Opportunity, when his Va-
fter was at Play, ar out of Town ; and left che

Keys at her Houfe.
A Your
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9. Your Hufband told you fo?
A. Yes, my Hufband bid me fend for this

Man, Thefe were his laft dying Words,

9, Your Hufband had a fad Misfortune.
When was’t your Hufband told you {o?

A. When he was in Prifon.

9. How longago Is that?
A. About cight or nine Years ago laft Chrift-

mas. 1 would not have your Lordfhips think
my Hufband was fo bad a Mans; he was only
Condemn’d and Executed for changing Ten

Pounds of his own Money.,
9. What were your Hufband’s laft dying

Words?

A. He defired me to fend for chis Fellow,
and deliver thofe Things he left at my Houfe.
[ fent for him, he came, and had fome Kevs in
a Drawer, that my Hufband told me he had
left there. He took two or three Keys, and put
them in his Pocket, and look’d mightily out of
Countenance,

£, What did your Flufband fay to you?

A. He bid me give Nicholas the Keys, and bid
him have a Care, and keep good Company.

9. When was that?

A A Week or a Fortnight before my Hu-
fband was executed.

4. Did you acquaint Nicholas with what your
Hufband faid of him?

9. No, an’tpleafe your Honours; I only told
him, my Hufband charg’d me to give him thofe
Keys; but being in Trouble, and having a great
many Enemies, I talk’d no {urther with him.

Q, What did Nichelas fay to you?

A. Fle look’d out of Countenance, and told
me he would come and fee me another Time;
but he never did 3 fo that [ did not fee him a-
gain till I faw him in the Menfe, and then he
told me that he would come to fee me; but he
never did, but always fhunn’d me.

9. How long have you known Nicholas ?

A Thefe cight or nine Years, | knew him
when he was Footman toSir Yobu Germaine, and
I knew him when he was his Gentleman. I
knew him when he went, and I knew him when
he came: He s ke a Sea-Rat, he comes and
goes when he pleafes. 1 hope in Gop Almighty
it will be confider’d by this Houfe, that fuch a
Fellow’s Witnefs fhould not be taken in fuch a
ereat Concern,

Signam,

ELEANORLMONFORT.

Then the Dutchefs’s Council pray’d that Aac-
Dowie! may be examin’d, as to the withdrawing
Witnefles, and that it be taken in Writing:
Which was agreed to, and he examin’d,

Then the Dutchefs’s Council proceeded to
cxamine other Witnefles, and their Evidence
taken in Short-hand.

Then Mrs, Pitts being call’d for, and not ap-
pearing, Hilliam Godfrey being {worn, faid to
this effect:

Went toServe Mrs. Pitts on Friday Morning :
When I came to her Houfe there was no
body, A Woman with a Pitcher of Water went
in: Iafk’d her for Mrs, Pifts ; the faid, She was
not at home. I fhew’d her the Order, and left
1 Copy of itupon the Table. She was loth to

receive it; (he faid, the Lady would be within
quickly. The Woman’s Name was Oliver, T}
faft Night I went again, and a Woman came oy
and faid, Mrs, Pitts was not at home. Then fe
fpake in French to me: I did not underftand her.
I left a Note for her to attend this Day.

‘Then the Dutchefs’s Council pray’d, That {ome
Agreements between the Duke and Dutchefs,

109.4, may be read out of the Deeds executed o
that purpofe: Which was agreed to, and reyq
accordingly.

—
Die Maytis 5° Martii, 1090,
Francis Negus faworn, depofeth as followeth »

RQueft. § Defire Mr. Negusmay beafk’d, Whether

the Dutchels of Noifolt did not feng
fome Meflage by him? The Words I don’t cop.
fine himto; but, Whether the Meflage fent by
him to my Lord Duke was not to this purpole;
That notwithftanding the Articles, the defir'd to
know from his Grace in what Manner {fhe fhoulg
live; and, that fhe would be govern’d by his
Direftions?

Aufiw. T think ’twas much about the Time of
the Tranfaction of thefe Articles the Dutchefs
fent to me.  Mr. Longuevillz was Council for the
Duke, and Sir Themas Powys, for the Dutchels
Mr, Longuewille took what Care he could; ang
when they came to talk of their living feparately,
I took it only to be an Apprehenfion and Fex
that my Lord Duke would confine the Dutchefs
to fome Houfe. My Lady Dutchefs fent for me;
I waited on her, and fhe exprefsd her felf very
fenfibly of the Misfortunes of the Dule and her
{clf, that fuch Differences fhould have been be-
tween them ; and fhe wasdefirousto let my Lord
Duke know, and defir’d me that T would let my
Lord Duke know it, that fhe would avoid all
Company that fhould give him any Offence, and
that fhe would not {fo much as pay a Vific, bu
where he liked. 1 acquainted my Lord Duke
with fomething to this purpofe; for fhe often
faid tome, more than once or twice, That if the
happen’d to die before my Lord Duke, fhe would
leave him her Eftate; and 1 know I have faid o
to my Lord Duke.

Q. Whether, from that Time, do you know
that the Duke fent any Meflage of Complaint to
the Dutchefs, to the Place where the liv’d, that he
would have her live in any other Way?

A. T know nothing of that Matter.

Q. Doyou know whether my Lord Dukeever
defir’d her to come and five with him?

A. Inever heard of any fuch Thing.

L, Did heever fend to her, to avoid any Com-
pany?

4. I never heard of any fuch Thing.

Q. Whether had you any Direétions ro attend
the Duke, That he would give Way in a Contro-
verfy between the Dutchefs and a Noble Lord
of this Houfe, whether he would wave his Pri-
vilege?

A. I have great reafon to defire Sir Thoinas's
Favour in this Matter; I know not what ke
aims at. I was call’d to the Bar before, to fpeak
the Truth as to the Matter of the Privilege; |
know not what he means by i,

Q. 1 meant it only asan Inftance of a Civi
Meflage between the Duke aud Dutchefs, own-

ing




o her as his Wife, and that thiswas a Mef-

}':r?e that befpoke a good Underftanding between

them? - A
4, Will you have me to give an Anfwer to

Gir Thomas, my Lords? T confefs, the Duke did
fond for me, and afk’d how the Settlement and
Agreement were betwixt the Duke and the Dut-
efs, becaufe of this Marter of the Privilege.

9, 1 did not mean-that 3 but only as a late
Ioftance of the Duke’s owning: the Dutchefs fo
far ¢ _ | - .

A When the Duke fent for-me; e would
know, whether by the Agreemeht he was oblig’d
w0 Jet her have the Privilege'T faid, .I under-
ttood it fo3 and tho’ he had no Mind to do 1,

but as he had waved his Privilege, in'the Cafe of

n Uncle, he would do ic'for her.

9. What would have been the Confequence,
i the Duke had not waved his-Privilege? Would
not that have defended her from a Suie?

A That you'may muke ufe’ of as you pleafe,

Sir Thonias Powys. Twould only make this Ufe
of ir, as an Inftance of Kindnefs between . the

Duke and Dutchels. - -
- " FRANCIS NEGUS.

After the Examination of Frateis Negus, he
being before fivorn, the Dutchefs’s Council de-
clar’d they had fibifhed their Evidence.

Whereupon the Duke’s Council defir’d to call
a Witnefs or two, to fupport Nichelas Haufeur’s
Reputation.  Then William Allesr was fworn and
examined. L |

—— i,

Die Martss 5o Martii, 169q.
Willlam Allen fworn, . dfp:gﬁ."!b as fa?r’&w’efb :

e TN You know Nicholes Hanfeur ?
D Anfro. Yes, | o
9. How long have you known him?
A, Three Years. .
2, Did you not know him before that Time 2
. 1 knew- him about three Years ago.
Q. Had you any Dealings before that Time?
A. I had Dealingswith him when he liv’d with
Mr. Germaine. , .
&, What were his Dealings ?
A. As honeft and fair as any Man could defire.
L, What Office had he under Mr.Germaine ?
A. He was Cook to Mr. Gerinaine, 1 fuppolfe.
R, What!,was he,Cook o him ?
. He bought in the Goods, and he paid me
honeftly for what he boughe,-.

"Crofs Examined.
Q. What Trade nre_-yéu-? .
A A BUEC]ICI‘., ey ‘0 C v
£, Then:he paid you his Mafter’s Money for
s Matter’s Goods? »
A. Yes, he paid me very:honeftly.
2, When faw you him laft?. .

A ] faw,l]i,m when I was fummmon
the Order of this Houfe,

’d ,heﬁre* by

4

but not before of late:

. LI : |
| h Signd,
WILLIAM M. ALLEN.

P ThEDElkefs Council mov'd for Copics of ‘the
LXaminations and Journals ; which was granted,

and then the Council withdrew. 1 The following
Orders were made @, - .. v o7 6

~ . Ie'1s Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and Tem-
poral in Parliament aflembled, That Copies of
the Examinations,. fign’d by -the Witnefles. this
Day, and Entry in the Journpd, be deliver’d to
eicher Sidey and, That rhe Examinations taken
this Day in-Short-hand be _tranfcrib’d,. in order
to be read to the Witneflies To-morrow.-...
-: It is Order’d by the Lords Spjritwal and Tem-
poral‘in Parliament affembled, T hat To-morrow,
at Twelve a-Clock, this; Houfe will proceed -to
hear the Examinations taken .this Day, read to
the Witnefles,  relating to the Duke and Dutchefs

of Norfelk, and all -Lords fummon’d to attend.
; T S
Die Mercurit 6° Martiiy 1669,

“After the Fxamination mk;’:n_YqﬁF;_'d;y,; re-
lating to the Duke and Dutchefs 'of 'Nwlf&?fl‘,
were read 1o the Wirnefles, and ™ they figning
them, the Dutchefs’s Council inov’d to have Co-
pics of the Depolitions taken on' cicher Side, and
then withdrew, ~ ~ .

1

. il

Die Mertis 5° Martii, 1699.

Matthew Mac-Donnel fworn,  depofeth as
. follewcth :
A Y Was ‘goiﬁlg to Mr. Strange’s Houfe, and I
faw my Lord Howard of Eftrick coming
that Way, and hewent to the'Doorand' knoek’d.
I made up to the Door, and a Girl open’d the

Door. " My Lord afk’d if Mr. Straige was with-
in, and fhe anfwer’d, Yes. Then I went to the
Door, and afk’d it Mr. Strange was at home ;
{he anfwer’d, No, he went away on Thurfday, [

fffff

afk’d, By Packet-Loat, or"how? She faid, By

Long-Sea. I thought fhe told my Lord he was
within, and fo I cameaway.
Siguum,

MATTHE +- MAC-DONNEL,

i e e e S,

Die Martis §° Marti, 1699. |
Richard May fioorn, depofeth as follrueth

Queft. T YO you know Nicholas Haufeur? -

- A. I never faw him ull Swirday Fort-
night lalt, .
8. Where faw you him then? < -

A. At my Lord Duke of Noifolt’s. 1 .had a
Command from my Lord Duke to take him in
there. , e

9, Where? SRR ‘

A: To lodge him in'my Lord Duke’s Houfe :
Iam his Houlbold-Steward 5 he‘commanded me
to provide for him'in the Houfe, *
8. Idon’t defire you fhould do any Thing un-
becoming to 'ty Lord Duke ; but you are upon

‘your Qath, and you muft tell the Truth?

A, Ll freely tell what I know.,

L, Can you givé me' any Account where he
was before thac Timle # -

A. T never faw nor heard of him til] then.

9 Hath he been there ever fince ?

A. Yes; I made Provifion for him, by his

-Grace’s Command:

% Do you know Vanefs? Where hath fhe

been ¢ 1

A. On Sunday was Fortnight fhe came thicher
hikewife,
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likewife, and I was ordet’d to take Care for her.

8. Where was fhe lodg’d ¢
A. In my Lord Duke’s Houfe in 8t Fames's

Jquare. |
9. Has the been there a Fortnight ?
A. Yes, a Fortnight lat Sunday, and coming

here to attend the Lords.
Q. Had fhe the Liberty of the Houfe; or was

fhe kept clofe ¢
A. They were kept only as they defir’d them-
felves ; no body wasdeny’d Liberty to {ee them:
They defir'd to'be there; fooner than any Place.
. D’you know that thofe People have been
fent for, and how long before they came 2
A: I was never privy to any thing of that na«
ture : I had no Knowledge of their Names, nor

whence they came.
& Do you know of any Money iffued out for

their coming over ?
A. Not one Penny.
Q. Do you know of dny Keward they have

had, or are to have ?
4. 1 know not of dny Reward they have had,

or are ta have.
RICHARD MAYT.

Die Martis g0 Martii, 16gq.
Chriftopher Raine fworn, depofeth os followeth :

Queft. q RE you Servant to the Duke of
Norfolk ?
"~ A Yes.

&, D’you know Haufeur ?
A. 1 have feen him, but am not acquainted
with him.
L; How long is it fince you faw him?
. It is within this Fortnight.
2. Did you not fee him any time further off?
. No, Iam pofitive of it
.% Where did you fee him firft?
. In §t. Fames’s.
. In what Place there ?
A. At his Grace’s Houfe.
&, Hath he been there ever fince ?
A Yes.
&, Was there @ Woman call’d Panefs with
him?
A, Yes. .
& Did they come at the fame Time?
A, Yes.
Q. How long ago ?
A. A Fortnight; it may be, not fo much,
Q; Had they the liberty of the Houfe, to take
notice where they were?
A. “They had liberty to go where they pleafed.
R; Did they go abroad fince they came there ?
A. I can’t tell 5 not to my Knowledge.
R: D’you know whether they went out of the
Houfe upon any Occafion?
A. Not to my Knowledge.
L. Who brought them there?
A. 1 don’t know.
Z. D’you know whence they came ?
A. No.
2: Did you not underftand where they lodg’d
before ?
A. No, I am a Seranger to them both; I ne
ver faw them before.

_9:

. Saw you them when they came firft?
A, No, I was not at hone,

CHRISTOPHER RAINE.

Die Muartis 50 Martiu, 1699,
Edward Cotter fiworn, depofeth as follszwer).

Ruefl, RE you Servant to the Duke of
Norfolk ?
Anfw. Yes,
Q. D’you know Nickolos Haufetr 2
A. I did not know him but fince this Tris),
9. How long ago 1s that ?

A. About a Forenight.
Q. Do you know where he had been before?

A. No; I knew nothing of him; where p,
was, nor what he was.

Q; Came Helena the Dutchwoman with him?

A. Yes, the Woman came with him fince g}
Trial 3 1 never faw them before.

Q. Did you never know them go outof Dogye
fince they came, but to this Houfe ?

A. Never, no where elfe.

Q. Who brought them to the Duke's?

A. Tknow not.
Q. Whence came they, d’you know ?

A 1 can’c tell.
9. Didthey never report 1h the Houfe, whenca

they came?

A. No, I never heard where they lived, nor
how they behaved them{elves.

9. Do you know whether ever any Reward

was given them ?

/. No.
D, 1 defire he may be afk’d, whether he has

not known before, for fome Time paft, within
this Fortnight or three Weeks, more or If;,
Mecetings in Somerfit-boufe, in order to thisTrial?

A. The Thing is this; I was one Night at
Semcrfet-boufe with my Lord Duke, *twixt Six
and Seven a-Clock 3 but I can’t tell how long it
s, whether it be three Wecks or a Month ; 1t is
no more, that I know.

Q. What were you there about?

A. 1 went there with my Lord Duke,

Q. Upon your Oath, Was there any Thing
then done there, relating to this Trial?

A, Upon my QOath, I did not know but’twus
concerhing my Lord Howard of Eferick,

Q, Was he there with the Duke?

A Yes,
2. Did you know who they went to ?

A. No.

8, Uponyour Oath, Don’t you know whether
they went to Madam Pifss, or no?

A. They went to fome Houfe, but I don’t
know her Name they went to.

R. Was there any body elfe there, but my
Lord Duke, and my Lord Howard ?

A. God knows. My Lord Duke cxlPd we
to the Door, and fent me on a Meffage 5 and i
went, and came again.

2, Who did you fec there when you came
again,

A. 1 faw none but my Lord Duke, and ano-
ther that I did not know. ’

L. Who did you fee go in?

A. None but my Lord Duke, and my Lord

Howard ? | .
EDWARD CO‘TTEI;‘}
7
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Die Martis 4° j‘l/.farzfz", 1099.

Fyancis Huddleftone fworn, depofeth as fol-
loweth, *

Ourft. P O N your Oath, d’you know of any
~ Meetings, relating to this Trial, that
hath been within fome Time paft e

A. For Meetings, I know not any thing of
them.

9. Do you underftand the Queftion ?

. T know nothing of any Meetings.

9. Have you notbeen at any Place where any
thing has been done, relating to this T'rial, againtt
the Dutchefs of Norfolk ?

A Tdon’t underftand any thing of the Trial.
I know nothing of the Dutchefs of Nerfols ?

9. Pray give a pofitive Anfwer ; Have you not
been prefent, or do you know of no Mecting, re-
lating to the Proceedings againit the Dutchels of
Noifolk 2

A. 1 never was at no Meeting.

9. Who do you live with ?

A. 1 live with my Lord Heward.

9. Was you ever prefent at Soimnerfes-Honfe,
where my Lord Howard and others met ?

A, Uhave been at Soimcrfet- Heufe, but know no-
thing of any Concerns.

9. D’you know Vanefs ¢

A. 1 know no fuch Perfon.

9. D’you know Nicholas ¢

A. 1don’t know him.

Q. Pray anfwer pofitively 5 Do you know one
Nichalas, call’d Haufenr ?

A. 1 know feveral of that Name, but I know
not who you mean.

9. I mean one that lived with Sir Jobn Ger-
naine

4. 1 know him not 3 I never had any Con-
verfation with any Body that liv’d with Sir Febi
Germaine.

(Nicholas call’d in.)

“(-3_: Did you {ep any JﬁUC]l Man as HPPCHI'S hﬁI‘C,
at Soicifet- Houfe 2

. 1 know no fuch Man as 15 call’d Nicholas
Heufour: 1 know feveral call’d Nicbolas, but
none of the Hanfeurs.

2. Look upon thisMan; Have you {een him
before or not ?

A Yes; I have feen him twice or thrice; but [
knew not who you meant before.

Q, How long is it fince you faw him firft?

A. About a Fortnight ago.

Q. Haveyou not feen him at Somerfei-Houfe ?

A. Never,

9. Where did you fec him ?

A. In Gerrard-flreet.

Y, Wasthatall the Places you faw him at ¢

71, 1 faw him no where clfe.

: Whofe Houfe did you fee him at ?

. At Captain Soanes’s Lodging,

L. Did you not fee a Dutchwoman there, ane
Heleis Vanefs 2

4. There was a Woman with him; I do not
know her Name.

2. Did you not fee her at Captain Soanmes’s ?

. She was wich this Gentleman there.

& Did you fee her at no other Time or
Place ?

A. No.
Vo1, V,
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9. Who elfe was there then ?

A. Captain Soames, my Lord Howard, and one
or two more. I wasbut at the Door. I have
feen this Man goin, [ was but a Footman wait-
ing at the Door., I knew not the others that were
there. |

9. Did you know no more that were there?

A. My Lord Howard wasin the Houfe, but T
know not if he were with them.

Q. Did you cver fee Helen Vanefs before that
Time?

A. T have feen the Woman fince, but never
faw her before, ‘
9. Did you never {ee her any where elfe ?

A. Never any where ¢lfe bui at this Houfe,
coing and coming,

Sigi’d,
Francis ) Hupprestons,

The Council being withdrawn, the following
Orders were made.

It 15 Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and T'em-
poral in Parliament affembled, That Copies of
the Lxamination, read to, and figned by the
Witnefles to Day, be deliver’d to either Side.

It 18 Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and Tem-
poral in Parliament affembled, That this Houfe
will peremptorily proceed to hear the Duke of
Norfol¥’s and Dutchefs of Nerfolt’s Council, to
fumm up the Evidence on both Sides, on Friday
next, at T welve of the Clock, and all the Lords
fummoned to attend.

The Evidence having been fumm’d up, the
Lords, after a long Debate, and a Divition of
the Houfe, committed the Bill, by a Majority of
Sixteen,

Wherenpon the Dutchefs immedialely pre-
ferred the Petition recited in the Order
5° Martit.

Die Veneris 8° Martii, 1099.

PON reading the Petition of Mary,Dutchefs
of Norfolk, fhewing, that by the Bill now
depending for diffolving the Marriage between
the Duke of Norfolk, and your Petittoner, her
Jointure and Marriage-Agreements are to be fet
afide, and other Things in the Petition mention-
ed, and praying to be heard by her Council,
touching the feveral Claims and Intereft, and feve-
ral Claufes inthe Bill: It is ordered by the Lords
Spiritual and Temporal in Parliament affembled,
"That the Petitioner fhall be heard by her Council
to Morrow at Eleven of the Clock, at the Com-
mittee of the whole Houfe, to whom the faid
Bill ftands commicted ; at which Time fhe is to
produce her faid Marriage-Agreement and Wri-
tings, as in the Petition is fet forth: At which
Time the Duke’s Council may be prefent, if he
think fit,
Matth. Folmfton, Cler, Parl.

Upon which an Order was made for Council to
prepare & Claufe for the 10,000/, _

The Dutchefs’s Council having refufed to join
in drawing any Claufe, tho’ they advifed a Peti-
tion about the Jomture and Marriage-Agrec-
ment, the Duke’s prepared a Claufe, to which
the Lords added a few Words, and pafs’d itas in
the Bill. The Bill being fent down to the Com-
mons, the-Dutchefs prefented the following Pe-

tigion.
M m To
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To the Honourable the Knights', Citizens,

and Burgefles, 1 Parliament affembled.

The Humble Petition of M ar v, Dutchefs of Norfolk.

SHEWETH, »
HAT for putting an End toall Differences

between the Duke of Noifolk, your Petitio-
ner’s Hufband, and your Peritioner, feveral Ar-
ticles of Agreement were entered into, and exe-
cuted in April, 1694, by the fard Duke, your
Petitioner, and your Petitioner’s late Father,
the Earl of Peterborough, whereby, and by Decds
executed purfuant thereunto, the Duke had his
then defired Advantage, and hath fully enjoyed
the Benefit thereof: That your Petitioner, about
the Time of perfeQling the faid Deeds, figni-
fied to the faid Duke by Mr, Negus, that the
fhould always readily comply with all fuch Or-
ders in her Way of Living and Converfation, as
he thould think fit to appoint. Notwithftand-

ing which, and without ever fignifying any Dif-

{atisfaction to or with your Petitioner, and with-
out any manner of Notice, or previous Proceed-
Ing in the common and ordinary Courfe of Ju-
ftice, and to take from your Petitioner that le-
gal Trial in the Ecclefiaftical Court, which by
the Laws of this Realm (as the is advifed) the
is entituled unto, did on the 16th of February
latt, exhibit a Bill in the Houfe of Peers, enti-
tuled, An A to Diffokze the Duke of Norfolk’s
Marriage with the Lady Mary Mordaunt, and to
enable bisia to mariy agajn, Upon which the Pro-

cecdings were fo very quick, two Wimefps

lately brought from beyond the Seas being forr).
with examined againlt your Petitioner, ang yOUF
Petitioner charged with Faéls fuppofed to pe
committed many Years fince, and long before yhe
Date of the fud Articles, could not be prep.
red to make her Defence as fhe would have
done, if the Proceeding had been againft her .
cording to the known Laws of the Land. Tl
Places of Abode of the Witnefles produced ».
aainft her being yer not known or difcovered ¢
your Petitioner: And your Petitioner havige
Notice, that the faid Bill is paffed the Houfe of
Lords, and fent down for the Concurrence of
this Honourable Houfe,

Your Peationer prays fhe may be heard by
her Council at Law and one Civilian 2.

gaindt che faid Bill, before any Procee.
ings be had thereon by this Honourable

Foufe,
Aud yorer Peritionr fball pray, &«
Mary Norronz,
A Duay beng appomted by the FHoufe of

Commons for the Committee to proceed, the
Dukecanfed the Papers following to be publifiic.,

i il
el S ——

Duke of NORFOLK’s CASE:

WITH

REASONS for pafling his B1 L. L.

F Want cither of Precedent fora Parlia-  ferupulons of the Reformed Religion, but to fet
mentary Divorce, before going throughthe  the Duke’s Proofs of his Lady’s Adultery in 2

tedious and ineffeCtual Methods of Dagfors-
Commons, orof Demonftration of Faét, have hi-
therto deprived the Duke of Norfolk of that Re-
lief agamnlt his Wife’s Adultery, which the Di-
vine Law allows 3 the late Statute made in the
like Cafe, and the coming in of two, who, while
the Duke’s former Bill was depending, had been
fent away, to prevent that Difcovery which they
now make ; cannot but be thought to remove all
Obje@ions againft an A& of Parliament, not
only for the Benefit of the Duke, but of the
Publick, as a Means to preferve the Inheritance
of fo great an Office and Honours to Perfons of
the true Religion,

And fince Bithop Cozens’s Argument, in the
Lord Roff’s Cafe has made it evident, that
thofe Canons which govern the Spiritual Court
in this Matter, are but the Remains of Popery ;
nothing can be now requifite to fatisfy the moft

true Light,
The Reputation which the Dutchefs had main-

tained, of Wit and Difcretion, made it difficulc
for many to believe, thar fhe could be furprized
in the very A& of Adultery, ashad becn for-
merly proved.  And tho’ it then appeared, that
one Henry Kevinzr lived with che Dutchefs while
fhe went by a feigned Name, at a Houfe hired
for her at Vaux-ball by Sir Fobi Gerinainz's Bro-
thers and that Nicole, who then lived with Sir
Jobin, ufed to receive Wood fent from the Dut-
chefs to Sir Fohn's Houfe by the Cock-pit ; the
withdrawing of Njcolz, and carrying with him
the Dutch Maid, equally entrufted with the Se-
cret on Sir fobn's Side 3 left no Evidence of their
conftant Converfation, but Keemer fince dead, and
Sufannah Barrington, who had the like Truft from
the Dutchefs.

Reemer,
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Keemers thougb very unw.illingly, fomf': Years
ince confefled his Jiving with the Dutchefs at
Yaus-hall, where he vretended fhe was obliged to
conceal herfelf for Debty and what Shqrc Sf{ﬁz;:-
.7h had in the Sccret was unknown, till fo'affz
appeared: Nicola coming into England fomt: time
fince. 1n Expectation of a Service, exprefs’d his
Readinels to difcover what he knew, anc} Lo en-
toavour to bring with him the Dusch Maid.

» She proves, that for two Months the firft
gummer after the King came for _Eugla}:d, Str
Fobi Germaine and the Durchefs ]w_t:d together
2s Man and Wife, and were feen in Bed roge-
ther by her, Mr. Briane, and his Wife, Sir fobi’s
Sifter 5 and that Nicloles Heufenr, Sir j‘abfz’s Va-
ler de Chambre, uled to be aflifting to him 5 as
the Dutch:f’'s Woman, Sufennab Barriugton, was
0 her, at going to Bed, and rlf'{ng.

She proves the like Converfation at Vaux-ball,
.nd the Dutchefs’s Houle at the Mill-banx,
the Duke’s firlt Bill for a Divorce was depend-
ing; within which time, Nicholas Hanfeur, by
Sir ‘fobi’s Order, carried away her and Sufannals
Bariingteir, with Intention of going for Holland,
to prevent their being examined to what they
knew ;3 but the Wind proving contrary, they
could not go till the Bill was rejected 5 and then
Sir Fobu fetch’d back Swfennab, who was moft
ofeful to the Dutchels s but Heufenr went for
Holleud with Ellen.

" He confirms Elfen’s Evidence in every Par-
ticular; and befides the Perfons mentioned by
Ellen, as vrivy to Sir 7obi’s lying with the Dutch-
efs, names Sir Fsbhn's Brother, Daniel.  Nicho-
las having been found very trulty, his Mafter
fent for him to return to his Service ; and gave
him the Opportunity of proving the Continu-
ance of the fame adulterous Converfation, at fe-
veral Times and Places, from the Summer, 1692,
to the 26th of April, 16g6. He {wears he had
after his Return to Sir Fobn’s Service, feen them
in Bed together at Sir Fobn’s Houfe at the Cock.
pit, and at the Dutchels’s Houle, av Al bank,
and where fhe now lives; and ufed to be let into
the Dutchefs’s Apartmient by Sufaiiiad Barrington,
or Keeier.  Nor can any Man who fhall read the
Teitimontals given Mr. Haufour by Sir Febis by
the laft of which it appears, that he ferved him
luthfully as his Steward, reafonably queftion
Haufenr’s Credit.

¢ Another, who had been advanced by Sir
fobn from his Footman to Mr. Iaufeur’s Place,
and from thence to a good Office in the Excife,
very unwillingly confirmed the Teftimony of
Haufewr and the Dateh Maid, not only as to the
Time of their going from the Service of Sir Fobsz
and the Dutchefs; but though being no Fo-
reigner, he could not fo cafily be fent away to
prevent Difcovery, and therefore was not let fo
lr into the Secret as Haufenr and the Dutch
Maid 5 yer he fwears, the Dutchefs ufed to come
mafk’d to his Mafter’s Houft; that he has gone
with him as far as the s#fe-Ferry, towards her
1_-Iouﬁj: at the Adi/l-Bank 3 that then his Mafter
lometimes lay out all Night, and the next
Morning he has carried Linnen and Cloaths for
his Mafter to Keemer’s Houfe, or Keemer has
tereh’d them from him:  And this he proves to
have been fince the rejecting the former Bill, and

2 Llianor Vanefs Exam. 22 Feb. 1699,
Vo, V.

about five Years fince, when he was fucceeded
by Haufenr, as before he had fucceeded FHai-

[enr.

Two ather Foreigners, La Fountain, who li-
ved with Sir Fobu, and was ferved with Sum-
mons at the Dutchefs’s Houfe at Drayton, and
Hugonee, whoran away from the Lord Haverfbam’s
fince Summons was taken out againft him, feem
to have had the fame Truft that Hanfeur had ;
for both declared, That nothing fhould oblige thein to
betray their Mafter’s Secrets: One faid, No Gonrt
could difpence with an Qath of Secrecy; and both de-
clared, They would immediately go beyond Sea. Sum-
mons have been taken out for Mr. Brianeand his
Wife, and Sir Fobu Germaine’s Brother (who are,
or fately were, in Town) to confefs or deny what
Nicola and Ellen appeal to them for; and it
cannot be imagined, that Sir Fobn fhould chufe
the Honour of being thought to have to do with
a Dutchefs, before the clearing her and himfelf
from the Imputation, by bringing his Relations
to difprove the Charge, if what is fworn to be
within their Knowledge is falfe,

And if Sir Fobu’s Vanity fhould prevail with
him, at leaft ic is to be prefumed that his Rela-
tions would be more jult to him and the Lady,
than to fuffer any Thing to pafs againft them,
which they could with Truth and Juftice pre-
vent.

But fince none of themappear, the World will
believe thetrabfenting more thana thoufand Wit-
nefles, in Confirmation of what Mr. Hanfeur, El-
len and Bayly have fworn: Whofe Evidence
not only ftands untouch’d by any Thing offered by
the Dutchefs’s Witnefles, but is plainly confirm’d
by them 1n the principal Parts.

This being the Nature of the Proofs, ’tis ob-
{fervable,

1. That there never yet was any Cale of this
kind, where the Evidence was not liable to great-
cr Objections than can be made to this.

Though in the lateft Cafe of this kind, there
was full Convition of the Lady’s having Chil-
dren, while fhelived feparate from her Hufband,
and the Prefumption was very violent whofe the
Children were ; yet this was but Prefumption,
and that was weakned by the Prefumption in
Law that they were the Hufband’s; efpecially,
fince there wasnodirect Proof of the Lover’s ever
lying with her,

2. Tho' in that Cafe, by reafon of the Inter-
val of Parliament, and Fear of the Deaths of
Witnefles, a Suit was begun in Doéors-Contmions,
*twas taken from thence while the Suit was de-
pending ; therefore that was rather an Objection
againft proceeding in Parliament, than an As-
gument for It. |

3. In that Cafe, feveral Witnefles were exa-
mined at cthe Bars of both Houfes, who had not
been examined at Dofors-Commons, nor any No-
tice given of their Names before their Examina-
tion.

4. It appears by that Cafe, and the prafent,
that the Examinations in Parliament are more {o-
lemnand certain than thofe of the Spiritual Court ;
whichdepend too much upon the Honefty of the
Regifter, or his Deputy.

5. Before that Cafe, Parliaments have ej-
ther broken through the Rules which bind the

Nicholas Haufcur, ¢ IWilliams Bayl).
Mm2 SPI..
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Court, as in the Cafe of the Duke of
Norfolk, * Eliz. where the Parliament ratified the
Marriage, bas lawful according to God’s Law s tho’
protracted and Jctted, by Reafon of certain Decrees
and Canons of the Pope’s Law ; or elfehave Hiﬁ’olycd
2 Marriage where there had been no Application
¢o Dolors-Cainmons, as in the Cafe ol Mrs. Whar-
10, who had been married to Mr. Caimpbelt 5 and
yet there had been no Examination of Witnefies,
hut what had been before the two Houles.

<So long before, "in the Cafe of Sir Ralph
Sadler, upon Proof before the two Houfes, that
the Lady Sadkr’s former Hufband had deferted
her, and difappeared for four Years before fhe
married Siv Ralph, the Parliament legitunaccd
her Children by Sir Ralph.

Whereas fome obje@t againft the palling the
Bill, as if it would countenance a Jurifdiction in
che Houfe of Lords to examine to fuch Matters,
i the firft Inftance or Originally s the Objection
would be the fame if it had begun, asic might, in
the Houfe of Commons; but in truth would be
of equal Force againft moft private, and fcveral

Spiritual

a Efiz, . 31,

boa &3 1A

publick Acts, occafioned by the Examination of
Witnefles of Notoriety of Fadt.

Since therefore the Duke has fo long, and j,
often in vain endeavoured to be freed froma L.
dy,. publickly famed and proved to have lived
with Sir Fobu Gerinaine,y as his Wite 5 the Duke's
former’ Difappointment cannot but be powerfyl
Arguments for his fpeedy obraining that Jutlice
which the Spiritual-Court cannot give him, thei
Power reaching no turcher than to that Liberty of
living as (he lift, fome Years lince fercled by Arti-
cles : But as none of lefs Art and Oratory than he
Council, could have turned this into a Licence 1
commit Adultery, if fhe lift, or a Pardon afer-
wardss; had there not been Evidence of her actine
according to fuch Conftruction, the Duke woul
have hoped thehad repented of the former [njurics
he had received from her 3 but now hopes, fh
fhall no longer continue to bear the Name of his
Wife, and puthim in Danger of being fucceedud
by Sir ubu Germaine’s 1ue, or deprive him of the
Jéxpedtation of leaving his Honours, Olhices and
I (tate, to a Proteftant Eleir.

¢ 55 I, 8.

Bithop COZ £ [V§’s Argument,

Proving, That Adultery works a Diffolution of the Marriag.

Being the Subftance of feveral of Bifhop Cozen’s Speeches in the Houic
of Lords, upon the Debate of the Lord Ry/s's Calc.

Taken from Original Papers, corit i the Biftop's owen Hand.,

FIE Queftion is indefinitely to be {poken

of, Whether a Man being divorced from
his Wife, who hath committed Adultery, and 1s
convicted of ir, may marry himfelf to another
Wife or no, during the Life of her which
divorced ¢

The Place in St. Matthew the 5th, repeated a-
oain St. Mathew the 1gth, hasgreat Perfpicuity:
If it be not lawful for a Man to put away his
Wife, and marry again, cxcept it be in the Cale
of Fornication (for the difplacing the Words,
by putting the Exception before the Marriage,
cannot alter the Senfe) then & contraris, it mult
of neceflity follow, that if the Wife be put a-
way for Fornication, the Hufband, by the Te-
nour of Chrift’s Words, is lcft free to marry a-
oain 3 which Freedom is not allowed to the A-
dulterefs herfelf, nor any Man elfe that fhall
marry her,

St. Meik and St. Leke have been oppofed to
St, Mattherwy and it has been fad, thae Chrifl’s
Words in St. Mattherw did not properly belong
to Chrift’s Difciples, ov the Chriftian Church, as the
Wordsin St. Mark and St. Like, which are ab-
{olute, dos; which isa Saying that neither I, nor,
I think, no body elle ever heard of before: LFor
Chrif’s Sermon in the Mount was {poken to bis
Difziples, and efpectally belonged to Chriflians.

*Tis clear they are fpoken to his Difciples
for he fays to them, that they are the Salt of 1h:

and marrying another 1s allowed.
with divers other his Exceptions, which ar
found in Scripture : For brevity, 1
in this one (viz.) Except ye ropent, ye foall all fike-

Earth, and the Light of the Warld s and thattheyan
blefled, wben they fuffer Perfecution for bis Nui's
Sake 5 which no Man will fay or apply to
Feiws.

>T'is true, that in the rgth Chapter of St. A/z-
thew, Cliiffanfwers the Scribes and Pharifees, v
came to tempt him with their Queftion, 7/
ther it was lowful for a Man to put atcay Fis IV
fer any Canfe, as they faid, Mofes bad permitial
e todo.  Butthe Anfwer that Clriff gave then
That it was ot lawsful, but ey in the Cafe of Al
tery, for Men to put away their IWives, and incriy
aiiother 3 was a Rule which concerned all Chrifi-
ans to obferve forever after; and for that Reafon
was recorded by St. Mattheiw.

The Words in St. Mark and St. Lake arc not
to be taken abfolutely, but to be fupplied and
underftood by his Words in St, Mattbew, 2 In
many other Cafes is clear 5 wiz. the Taicf upon
the Crofs, Baptifm in the Nane of the Fa:ices
Son, and Holy Gheff, &c. whereof many Inftas-
ces may be brought, as the Deftru&tion of Nii-
veh, &,

But for Chrifi’s Words, the Exception confiri
the Rule, and infers 2 Conceflion, that in the
Cafe of Fornication, the putting away one Wit
] It is alike

will inftance

i
*",I'

.
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wife perilb. Upon which Texe, if Lor any. Bi-
ihop elfe were to preach, [ believe we thould not
difcharge our Duty, unlefs we thould tell the
People, "That if by the Gr{u:c of Gop they did
repent, they [hould not Per}{h: o

T he Exception here, e un #ifi, unlefs, 1s paral-
ol with the 1 Kiugs 1ii. 18. None were in the Honfe
(xCept we daIn s they two therefore were, others
were not.

Such Exceptions proceeding from natural Equi-
ty, arc tacitly imiplied in Laws, tho’ pronounced
mn geteral Terms.

Bt as to the Iixception here, the Words are
not capable of any other Senfe than as I have
obferved ; for except that Reltramne be referred to
marrying again, the Senfe would run thus, Fho-
focver puts eway bis Wife commits Adultery s which
ftands not with Truth or Reafons lince 1t 1s not
the Ditmiflion that is adulterous, but the Mar-
riace of another. It is therefore the plam Dinift of
our Saviour to teach the Pharifees that the Mar-
raoe of a fecond Wife, after a Difmiffion of a
former, Upon any other Caufe, except for Foinfca-
55, 15 0o lefs than Adultery 5 thereby inferring,
Tharupon a Jult Difmiflion for Fornication, a fe-
cordd Marriage cannot be branded with Adultery,

D=fides, the Pharifee’s Queftion [ 15 it lawful for
a Manto put away his IVife for cvery Canfe?] was
not witheut a plain Implicauon of Liberty to
marry another, which our Saviour well knowing,
gives o full Anfwer, as well to what he meant,
2s what he faid 5 which had not been perfectly
facisfactory, 1f he had only determined that one
Part concerning  Dilmiffion, and not the other
concerning Marriage 3 which Clanfe if two Evas-
geliflsexprelsnot, yet ie muft be feteh’d neceffarily
trom the third 3 fince it is a fure and 1erefragable
Rule, That all Four Evangelfts make up one
pertect Gofpel.

The Reeiiffs and College of Deway, urge for
the Porsib Dotrine, Roiir, vil, 2. The Woman wobich
bl git Lnflusicdy 15 bounnd by the Law te ber Hufbaid
as bz a5 by lrocth 5 bur,

1. This Place 1s to be expounded by Ghiifl’s
Words.

2. 5t Paud hath no Ocealion here to {peak of
Divorce, but of Marriage swbsle and found, as iv
tasdds by Gop’s Ordinance.

3. He fpeaksofa Woman who is under a Huf
dand 5 fo isnot the that is divorced from him.

3. ot Land ufeth thisto his Purpofe of the Law
baing dead, to which we are not bound.

Noris their Doctrine more favoured by 1 Cor,
s, 10, Letustihe IWoiman depart 5 asbeing in her
Choice whether fhe would depart or not; butin
ihe Cafe of Ferication fhe was 1o depart, or ra-
ihir be put giway, whether fhe would or not.

T'he Bond of Marriage is to be enquired in-
0, what 1t properly is.  Being a Conjugal Pro-
i foleminly made between a Man and his

wlie, That each of them will live together ac-
corcing to Gon’s Holy Ordinance, notwith-
tunding Poveriy or Infirmity, or fuch other
I hmgs as may happen during their Lives.  Se-
paration from Bed and Board, which is Partof
their Promife fo to live togaether, doth plainly
break that Part of the Bond whereby they are
ted to live together both as to Bed and Board,
l}nc Ditin®ion betwixt Bed and Board and the
Lond, is new, never mentioned in the Scripture,
*ied unknown to the ancient Church; devifed on-

ly by the Canonifts and Schoolmen in the Latin
Church (for the Greek Church knows it not) to
ferve the Pope’s Turn the berter, - till he got it
eftablithed in the Council of T#ent, at which
Time, and never before, he lnid his Anathemna
upon all them that were of another Mind ; for-
bidding all Men to marry, and not to make any
Ufe of Chriff’s Conceflion. 3

Bed and Board, or Cohabitation, ‘belong to the
Lflence and Subftance of Matrimony ; which made
Erafians and Bithop Hall fay, That the Diftinétion
of thefe two from the Bond, is meerly Chimerical and
Fancy.

The Promife of Conftancy and mutual For-
bearance, if it hinders Divorce as to the Bond,
hinders it alfo as to Bed and Board ; and becaufe
the fame Bed and the fame Table were promifed
i the Marriage Contract; but the Promife does
notextend even to tolerating Adultery, or malici-
ous Defertion ; which, according to Gop’s Ordi-
nance, diffoves the Marriage.

Qur Saviour {peaks of Divorces inflituted by
the Mpfaical Law 3 but they were no other than
Divorces from the Bond.

The Form of the Bill of Divorce among the
Jews was this, Be expelled from e, and free for
any Bedy elfe.  To give the Bill of Divorce, is
from the Hebrew Root m3, which is to break,
or cut off the Marriage. With this agree the
ancient Canons, Councils, and Fathers of the
Church.

Concil. Neocafar. & Elih. forbid the retaining
an adulterous Wife.  Concel, Eliber, Aurciian, 5
drelatenf. give Liberty in fuch. Cafe to marry
aoain.  Clemens’s Conlitution, Tertullian, St. Ba-
/i in his Canons, approved by a General Coun-
cil, arefor marrying agamn.  Concil. Venet, If they
marry in any other Cafe than Fornication, they
are to be excommunicated, and not otherwife.
Concil, HWormat. gives Liberty to the innocent
Party to marry atter Divorce.  Concil. Lateras.
aives leave for the innocent Party after a Year to
MAarry again.

Concil. Lateran. 17 any one take another Wife
while a Suit 1s depending, and afterwards there
be a Divorce between him and the firlt, be may
remain with the fecond.

Laitantins, St. Hicrom and Epiphanius, are for
Allowance of Marriageafter Divorce.  Chryfoffom,
How. 19. 1 Cor. 7. fays, That the Marriageisd;iffolv-~
ed by Adultery 5 and that the Hufband, after be bath
put ber away, is no louger ber Hufband,

Thegphylal? on the 16th of St, Luke, fays, that.
St. Leke muft be interpreted by St. Matthew, St
Hiliary is for marrying agamn, as Dr. Fulk faith
upon St. Matthew the 7th.  The EaffernBifhops,
in the Councii of Florence, are for marrying a-
gain: Fuftin Mariyr fpeaks of a Woman giving a
Bill of Divorce to a diffolute Huiband, without
finding any Faule with 1.

St. Ambrofe fays, a Man may marry again, if
he puts away an adulterous Wite ; Thesdoret faid
of a Wite who violated the Laws of Marriage ;
Therefore our Lordrequives the Bond or Tye of Mar -
riage 1o be diffotved.

All the Greek Church to this Day allow it
Erafinus Cajetan, and other Papifts: The Civil
Law, and the Laws of the Emperorare clear for
it: And the Conftitutions of our own Church
of England, in" the Time of H 8. £d. 6, and

Queen Efiz,

The
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The Practice of the Englifb Church, m the
Stat. 1 Fac.c. 11. againft fecond Marriages, Di-
vorces are excepted ; and in Ganon 107. 1S pro-
vided, they fhall not marry aguin 5 but it is not
faid fuch Marriages are void, only the Caution is
forfeited : Neither doth the Canon fpeak of fuch Se-
parations, wherein the Bond is brokeny as ’tis by
Fornication.

Even the Conon-Law allows marrying again,
i cafe 2 Woman feeks her Hufband’s Life, and
2 cafe of a Bond-Woman,  Gratian fays, n the
Cafe of Adultery, lawful Marriages ought not
to be deny’d. In the Cafe of an incurable Le-
profy, it was the Advice of St. Gregory to Auftin
the Monk, ‘That he that could not contain, fhould
rather marry. Bellarmine owns, That the Bond
of the Marriage of Infidels isdiffolvable 5 but the
Marriage of the Faithful, and of Infidels, is of
the fame nature: And Fuffinian, a Jeluit, con-
fefles, That it is fimply lawful for the innocent
Party to marry again. And the Roian Doflers
allow a Diffolution of the Bond of Marriage, if
the Parties fhould, after Confummation, transfer
themfelves into a Friary or Nunnery.

2 The Canons which, in the Cafe of Adultery,

prohibit marrying in the Life-time of the guilry
Perfon, are contrary to two Acts of Parliament
made 25 Hen. 8. and 3 & 4 Edw. 6. wherein no
Conons are allow’d that be any way repugiant to the
Lawsef Gov, or the Scripture, the King's Preroga-
tive Royal, and the Statutes of this Lend: T hirty-
two Perfons were to review the Camon-Law, 1n
which Review, drawnupby Archbithop Cranmer,
the innocent Perfon is permitted to marry again,
according 1o Chiiff’s Law and Conciffion.

We have Examples of fuch Marriagesin F. 4.
of France, and H. 8. of England, Lord Meunijry,
1ord Rich, Bithop Thornbereugh, and divers others.
And "usobfervable, That in the Cafe of the Mar-
quis of Northamplon, 5 Ldw. 6. who had been d1-
vorced for his Lady’s Adultery, and married ano-
cher before any At of Parliament made concern-
ing it, an A& which paffed afterwards (only two
Spiritual and two Temporal Lords diflenting) de-
clares, he had been at fiberty Ly the Laws of Gop
10 marry, and did Jawfully marry another: Where
the A& manifeflly fuppofes, that whatever had
obtain’d for Law till that Time, was void, asbe-
ing contrary o Gon’s Law.

The moft confiderable Men of the Reformed
Churches, both at Home and Abroad, arc of this
Opinion : Grotins quotes Tertullian, in whofe
Time it was lawful for the innocent Party to
marry.

Lancelot. Inftit, Fur. Can. acknowledges, that
Divorce is a Diffolution of the Marrmge.

Selden, who is not Jikely to contradict the Laws
of this Kingdom, maintaineth, That Mairiage
after Divorce is tobe aliow’d ; and, in that Par-
ticular Dr. Hammond doth not contradict him, but
is clearly for it.

The Opinion of Amefius deferves to be fet
down at large: ¢ Marriage, fays he, cannot be
< diffolv’d by Men at their Pleafure; and for
¢« that reafon, as ’tis confider’d fimply and abfo-
¢ lutely, *tis rightly faid to be indiflolvable, be-
«¢ cqufe Marriage 1s not only a Civil, buta Di-
¢« yine Conjunétion ; andis alfo of that nature,

¢ that it cannot be diffolv’d without Detriment

<« of cither Party: Yet itis not fo diffolvable
¢« but it may be diffolv’d for a Caufe which
¢« Gop approves as Jult; for the Indiﬁb]v;ﬂjiﬁt}r
¢¢ was not inftitated for a Punithment, but for
¢« the Comfort of innocent Perfons 3 and it ad.
¢ mits an Fxception, wherein Gobn ceafes 1o
““ conjoin. By Adultery two are made not to
«« remain one Ilefh: Hence 1t 1s that a contagi-
¢ ous Difeafe is not a Caule of diffolving Visr-
¢ riage, By ddultery the very Effence of the Coatraf?
< jsdirely violateds but the Gontralt ceafing, th;
« Bond depending on the Contralt weceflarily ccafes,
«¢ Tt 1sagainft all Reafon, that all Matrimoniy]
¢« Puties thould be forever taken away, yet the
« Bond or Obligation to thofc Duties fhould
¢« continue. The Wordsof anr Lord, Mat.v.12.
“ and xix. 9. have no Diftinction or Limiration
<« of the Putting away, but fimply and abfolute-
«¢ ]y approve of Putting away ; therefore they
< approve of Putting away, not Partial, or to g
¢ particular Purpole, from Bed and Board, bug
““ Total,

None are againft the Reform’d Divines, bur
Dr. Howfon, Mr. Bunny, and Dr. Prideaux.

Dr. Howfon was a profels’d Adverfary to Dr.
Raynolds, who was a great Maintainer of the
Church of England againft all the Points of Po-
pery, and particularly in this.

Dr. Taylor, Bithop Hell, Dr. Fulk are for Second
Marriages; no Authors agan{t them but the
Council of Trenz, and thofe of the Church of
Rome y whofe Credit isonly fav’d by thole of our
Church who agree with them.

Upon the Difference of Explication between
St. Ambrofe, Origen, and St. Auftin, a new kind of
Divorce hasbeen thought of, fiom Bed aitd Becids
but this Diverce, or Name of a Drivsreey was un-
known to the Fews and Aducient Coriftiaus.

I faid fo much before, at the firlt and fecond
reading of this Bill, that I was in good Hopss to
have had no further Occafion givenme of anfwers
ing any Objections again{t it now ; but feeing di-
vers new Arguments havebeen {ftudied and framsd
againft it fince that Time, I fhall now endeavour
to fatisfy and clear them allk,

™

1. The firlt Arsument againft it is, That the
Separation from Bed and Board doth not diflol:
the Bond of Marriage. To which I mut reply,
as I did before, That this isa Diflinction without
a Difference, newly invented by the Cananiftsand
School-men, and never heard of either in the Ol
or Nesw Teffament, nor in the Times of the ans
cient Fathers, who accounted the Separation irom

Bed and Board to be the Diffolution of the Bond
icfelf.

2, That firt Infticutionof Marriage, that they
may be one Flefb, is by Adultery diffolv’d, when
the Adulterefs makes herfelf one Flefb witha nother
Man, and thereby diffolves the firft Bond of bei
Marriage.

3. The Objetion, That if the Bond be dil
folv’d, and afterwards, if the Man or Womanh_::
reconcil’d, they muft be married over again, 1
no neceffary Confequence, no more than ’cis 1
Perfon baptiz’d, who may break his Covenant,
and renounce his Baptifm, and yet upon true Re
pentance be receiv’d into Gop’s Favour by virtus

Ref. Leg. Ecclef, Tit. de Adulteriis & Divortiis.
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of the firflt Covenant, without any new Baptifm.
Guppole a Witch, who, they fay, makes a Com-

& with the Devil to renounce her Baptifm,
ould afterwards, by the Grace of Go D, {c-
sioufly and cruly repent herfelf of the Wicked-
cefs s 1do not believe that any body would take
upon hin to baptize her again: And if a Prieft
ould renounce his Orders, and turn fl?frk, and
vet afterwards repent him, and return into the
Church, he need not be re-ordain’d a fecond time.
The Cafe will be the fame in Marriage.

4. 1faid heretofore, That the Roman Dotlors
Jlow’d this Diffolution of the Bond when the

Man and Wife, even after the Confummation of

Marriage, would transfer themlelvesinto a Friary
or 2 Nunnery; hut becaufe ic hath been fince
daubted, that no Authority can be thewed for this
Particular, I fhall here fhew it out of the old
Conftitutions of the Church of England.

«« And, *in the Cafe of Religion, that s the
« true Underftanding, That, to wit, eicher of
« them betaking themlelves to Religion before
« Carnal Knowledge, the Bond of Marriage be
« diffolv’d: But ifbothenter snto Religion,and make
 Jalemn Profeffion, then fuch Marriage is diffolv’d,
< event as to the Bond.

5. It hath alfo been faid, That if the Bill pafs,
it will pals againft the Church of England; which

I conels, I do notunderftand; for the Church of

England iswithin the Kingdom of ¥ngland 5 and if
the Laws of this Kingdom be for the Bill, and
have declar’d it by the Affent of the King, Lords

and his Dutchefs, for a Divorce.
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and Commons, as in the Cafe of the Marquis of
Northasnpton was beretofore declar’d, in the Time of
King Edward the Sixth, That by the Laws of Gon
the innocent Partywas at liberty to marry agaiiny cer-
tainly the Spiritnal Lords, as well asthe Temporal
and Commons, are bound toadmitit: And J dugw
not why they fhould be call’d the Churcl of England,
that joinwwith th: Council of 'Urent, andpleald f35much
to wphold 1t, rather thair others that join with all the
Reformed Churches, and plead againft the Canon of the
Church of Rome, which bath laid an Anathema npen
us, if we do not agree with then,

As to the fuppos’d Inconvenienciesthat will fol-
low upon marrying again.

1. More Inconveniencies will follow if they be
forbidden to marry again.

2. The Father would be inan Uncertainty of
the Children, if they thould retain the Adulterefs.

3. There would be danger of poifoning or kil-
ling one another, if no fecond Marriage were al-
Jow’d.

4. Where the Parties fhould confent to new
Marriages for their own Lufts, the Magiltrates
have Power to over-rule fuch Pradtices. |

5. It they be kept altogether by Divorce from
Marrying, it would occafion the innocent Party
to fin.

A littlebefore the main Queltion about paffing
the Duke’s Bill, the Dutchefs’s Agents handed
about this Paper, among fuch as they thought to
be her Friends.

* Prov. Will. Lyndewede, five Conft. Ang. fol. g4. Ver. nullatenus feparentur,

LI

THE

CASE of Mary, Dutchefs of Norfolf.

UP ON the Marriage of the Dutchefs with
the now Dicke of Norfolk, in the Year 1677,
her Father, the late Earl of Peterborough, paid as
Partof her Portion 10000/, and {etcled on that
Marriage Lands of near 1000/ per Aunum, the
Remainder of which, on Failure of Iffue, was li
miiedd to the now Duke and his Heirs for ever ;
and the Earl after hisand his Lady’s Death, fe-
cured tothe Duke the Forfeiture of Drayton, worth
10000 /. more ;5 and the Duke receiv’d alfo, by
Agreement, 1000 /. per Aunmm for Twenty Years
out of the Earl’s Eftate, befides very rich Jewels,
I?late, and other Things of great Value, which
Lie Dutchefs brought with her into the Duke’s
Family : And great Debts having been contracted
for the Support of the Duke’s Honour and his
Service, while he cohabited with the Durtchefs,
fhe hath, fince his Separatton from her, paid them
out of her own Eftate.

That by the evil and malicious Infinuations of
the Dutchefs’s Enemies, the Duke was prevail’d

Onto carry her, then a Proteftant, into France,
2

and toput her into a Monaftery (where fhe could
not be admitted without changing her Religion)
and left her there, on great Affurances of fending
for her home in a fhort rime, and fo parted with
great Expreflions of Kindnefs.

T hat a confiderable Time after, by the Duke’s
Confent, the return’d into England, and lived re-
tiredly at Drayton in Northamptonfhire 5 and atthe
Time of the Revolution fhe again retired to
France, where fhe continued till fhe heard of her
Father’s Imprifonment in the Zower, and then
came back to Englaid, and lived privately, till her
Father obtain’d his Liberty, whenfhe came home
to him,

That the 8thof Famuary, 1691, the Duke was
prevail’d on, by the Inftigation of her Enemics,
to exhibit a Bill in the Houfe of Peers, to the
fame Effect with the Bill now depending, and di-
vers Witnefles were examin’d on both Sides; after
which, and a long folemn Debate and duc Con-
fideration had by their Lordhipsof the Witne fies,
and what was fworn by them, the 17th of Few

biuary,
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bruary, they were pleafed to reject the Bill with-

out a fecond Reading. '
Notwithftanding which, the Duke was again

prevail’d on, the 22d of December, 1692, to exhi-
bit a Second Bill in the Houle of Feers, to the
fame Effedt with his Firlt 5 which, after {everal
Debates, was the 2d of Faurary following again
rejected. _

Some time after this, and for accommodating
all Differences between them, Propofals were
made to the Dutchefs, which, after long Agita-
tion, on the 28th of April, 1694, were reduced
into Writing, and executed by the Duke and
Dutchefs; the Preamble of which Articles 1s in
the Words following : 1Whereas diverfe Controver-
fies, Debates, Dewmands, andSuils of feveral natures
have for fome Time fincebeen agitated, and continued,
betwoeen the foid Duke amd the faid Dutchefs bis
Wife, &c. unto all which it is at laft beld fiting (it
beinr conducible to their refpeftive Duiets and Eafe) to
bave an End put, and the like for the future prevented,
It is therefore bereby, and by the Partiesto thefe Pre-
Jentsydeclar’d and agreedinmanner follow!ngy Where-
by the Dutchels convey’d to the Duke’s Ufe the
Manour of Caffle-Rifiag, &c. And alfo the faid
Dutchefs and her Trultees aflign’d their Intereft
1n a confiuerable Part of the Manour of Skeffield
in 2orkflire to the Ufeof the faid Duke; fo that
by thefe Artic'es, and that Deed executed there-
upon, the Duke had histhen defired Advantages,

That after the EExecution of thefe Articles, the
Dutchefs f{ent for onc Mr. Negus, the Duke’s
principal Gentleman, and exprefs’d her felf very
fenfible of the Mistortune of the Duke and her
felf, and defir’d Mr. Negus to tell the Duke, that
fhe would avoid all Company that fhould give
him any Offence 5 and, that fhe would not fo
much as pay a Vifit, but where he liked: Which
Mr, Negus lately teftified before the Lords, and
that he acquainted the Dukewithit; asalfo, that
fhe had feveral times told him, If the died firft,
fhe would leave the Duke her 1i{tate.

That notwithftanding the faid Agreement,
whercby the Duke and Dutchefs agreed to live
feparatcly, yet without his fignifying any Diffarif-
faction to or with the Dutchefs, and without any
manner of Notice, or previous Proceeding in the
common and ordinary Courle of Juftice, but by
taking from her that Legal Trial in the Eccle-
fiaftical Court, which by the Laws of this Realm
fhe is entitled unto, he did, on the 16th Day of
February laft, exhibit in the Houfe of Peers the
Bill now depznding, for diffolving the Duke’s
Marriage with the Dutchefs, and for enabling
him to marry again: Upon which the Proceed-
ings were {o very quick, two Forcigners {(a Freich
Footman, and a Duteh Cookmaid) lately brought
from beyond Sea, being forthwith examin’d a-
aainit her, charging her with Faéts fuppos’d to
be committed many Years fince, and long before
the Dateof the faid Agreement, and on which the
two former Bills were founded, that it was impof-
hble for her to make her Defence, as fhe might
have done if the Proceedings had been againtt her
according to the known Laws of this Land.

‘The Dutchefs thought her felf under a Necef™
fity of complying with all the Orders of the
Houfe of Peers; and accordingly, as well as the
could, made her Defence, tho’ lefs thana Week’s
Time was allow’d her for doing it; and upon
examining the Ividence of the Duke’s Witneffs,

3

many Contradittions appear’d, fome whereof f).
low, as doth appear by the Depolficions taken i
Writing, and now remaining in the Houfe of
Peers. |

For Haufenr the Footman fivears, the Dutchefz
was at the Cock-pit, when, and before he came 1o
live with Sir Fobn Germaine 5 and, thac he cong;.
nued there Fifteen Days after 5 and, that after
the Dutchefs lett the Cack-pit the went to Vaye.
ball.

Vanefs the Cook-maid fwears, Flanfeur came rg
Sir Fobn when the Dutchefs was at Vaux-hall.

Hanfeur fwears, thatthe Sth of Fedr. g2, he lef
Sir Fobi’s Service, when the Trial was betwee
the Dukeand Dutchefls in Parliament, and afier
lived privately fix or eight Weeks, till he and
Vanefs could get for Folland, and arrived there iy
the Lafter following, |

And yet n another Place he fwore, he defir’y
Leave to go; and afterwads, That he alfo wen;
for Holland as foon as the Wind was fair.

Bug nore, all the Lvidence was clofed and or-
der’d tobe fumm’d up the Ninch of February; fy
that he nceded not afterwards to havegone.  Arg
whereas he infinuates, That he and Vanefs were
fecreted, and kept from being Wignefles:

Note, It doth no where appear, that cither bz
or Vanfs were ever thought on for Witnefles,

Hanfeur fwears, He return’d again to Sir 1.b;
in Summer 92, being often fent to by Sir Fohr

Whereas Bayly, another of the Duke’s Witnel-
fes, {wears, he did not return again to Sir ¥el
in two Y cars after he went away, Bavly the Wit
nefs being all that T'ime, and three Years before,
a Servant in the Houfe.

Note alfo, Thatthisvery Summer 92, to wi,
in Eaffer-Term, the Duke brought his Action
oainft Sir Fobn, which was tried Michaclnas-Tem
923 at which Time it had been more likely, it
Sir Foln had behiev’d he could have done him any
Harm, he fhould have kept him Holleid, raths
than have fent for him over, efpecially confide-
ring that this Fellow afterwards {wears Sir sk
fwore 1 a Rage this Fellow would betrsy
him,

Hanfenr being afk’d, Who fent for Pauefs over?

Fe anfwer’d, That after he had promis’d the
Duke and L.ord Heward to {peak the Truth of
what he knew, theydefir’d him, if he met ani,
to defire her to come over, and fpeak the Truth
of what {he knew.

And being afk’d, How long after he met ¥
#efs 2 anfwer’d, About Twelve Months fince.

Aud being afk’d, When was the frft Time b2
[poke to her about coming over to fpeak the
T'ruth ? anfwer’d, *Tis about o Year fince.

And being afk’d, How long it was fince thej
refolv’d tocome overr an{wer’d, Twelve Months.

Vanefs being afk’d, Whether the was not fent for
from Hellaid tobea Witnefs? anfwer’d, Sheknew
nothing of it till eight or nine Weeks ago.

Venefs {wears, She was fent away on Accoun
of the Trial.

Whereas Peacock, Hawhfivorthand Kujght, three
Servants of the Durchefs’s, fwore the Dutchef
turn’d her away before the Trial, for keeping
Company with Dutch Soldiers; and they dofwelr
a new Cook-maid before the Trial,

Hanfeur {wears, Hehad a Key of the Door
going 1nto the Park, and conld come in when h¢
would.

And
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And yet owas he knew but two of the Ser-
vants, one whereof is long fince dead.

And alfo the Dutchefs’s Servants {wear, they
never heard any body had a Key 5 and, thatif
any Key had been, they muft have known of it.
They alfo prove the fhutting up, bolting, and
chaining the Door every Night, and opening 1t
every Morning ; and but one of the Servants re-
members ever to have feen him at the Door, and
then he rung the Bell, but came only to fee a
Country-woman of his, and ro carry Letters to
Helland, and brought Anfwer back to her, but
was not admitted beyond the Paflage.

Houfewr and Vanefs {wear, they faw the Dut-
chefs and Sir Fobu in Bed rogether at Mill-bank.

The Dutchefs’s Woman f{wore, fhe has put
the Dutchefs to Bed, and taken her up every
Night and Morning feveral Years, and never
iw him in the Houfe. And two others {wear,
they were conftantly in waiting Night and Morn-
ing, and pofitively deny any Krowledge of any
fach Thing, and fay, they never faw Hanfeur
there 3 and that Panefs was never admitted up
Stairs, the was fo dirty a Creature, much lefs to
drefs or undrefs the Dutchefs, as fhe pretended

often to have done.
Vaiefs fwears, She could not tell the Places

fie has been at thefe Six Wecks laft paft,
Whereas

Mr. May, and two other of the Duke’s Ser-
vants, {wear, fhe has been fourtcen Days in the
Duke’s own Houfe, with the full Liberty of the

Houfe.
Vanefs being afk’d, Whether fhe ever told any

hody of the Occafion of her going away? fhe
{wore, Yes, the told it to a great many in Hol-
land, and not here,

Yert being afterwards afk’d, Whether fhe ever
difcovered that fhewas fent out of the Way? fhe
[wore diretly, No,

Thefe are forse of the many plain Contradicti-
ons and Difproofs of thefe Evidences, befides
the great Improbability in their own Nature, in
feveral Things fworn.

Bur it is alfo to be noted, that Hanfeur left Sir
Febw's Service in a Difguft 3 and fo ’tis prov’d
by Bayly, another of the Duke’s Witneffes, and
that what Heafeur {wore could be nothing but
Spight and Malice : Yea, ’tis prov’d on the
Dutchefs’s Part, that he fwore he would find a
Way to be reveng’d of him, and that perhaps it
might not be long firft : And Mr. Strange, Mrs.
Pitts, and her two Maids, who could have de-
pofed very materially for the Dutchefs, refufed
to appear, tho’ often {fummon’d, being Perfons
not 1n the Dutchels’s Intereft or Power.

This Haufeur has been out of Place ever fince
he left SirFobir's Service, April 96, and is fo ftill,
35 he {wears, and fo in confequence hkely to be
necelfitous,

Notealfo, that Henfeur {wears, Sir Jobn gave
him feven Guineas to pay the Charges of him-
lelf, Fanefs, and another, which were order’d to
be kept private till they could be fhipp’d off,
and alfo tor their Paffage into Holland, which was
it Time from the Sth of February 92, till Eafter.

Which does not Jook like a Bribe for a Secret
of this Nature, being hardly fufficient to main-

tain three People, and pay their Lodgings, for,

two Months,
You. V,
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Heufenr would be thought a mighty Confi-
dent, {oas to have a Key to the Dutchefs’s Houfe,
to come 1n and go out when he pleas’d ; and yet,
as well acquainted as he pretended to be with
the Houfe, and the Dutchefs’s Bed-chamber,- he
could not tell on what ¥loor it was, nor what.
Furniture ithad, nor whether wainfcoted or hang-.
ed : And when he was afk’d which way the Win-
dows of the Bed-chamber look’d? he trifled in
that Queftion, and concluded, he could fee the.
Water, but was afraid to go near the Window,
for fear of being difcover’d ; and yet had no
Seruple of coming mto the Houfe with his Key,
at any time. |

Thele Things being obferv’d, it muft be con-
fider’d, that the Facts now in effett charged a-
gainft the Dutchefs are fuggelted to bedone many
Years fince, and were debated and confider’d be-
fore the Peers, before the Rejetion of the two
firft Bills, and long before the Agreement for put-
ting an End to all Controverfies and Debares,
Now ’tis very hard to put the Dutchels to ac-
count agamn for thofe very Fadls, confidering chat
after eight or nine Years, many People are dead,
others difpers’d, and not in a little Time to be
found out, and Circum{tances of Times and Places
(which in the Nature of all chefe Cafes is almoft
all that is left to difcover a Falfity) forgor. |

The Dutchefs is alfo under the-unavoidable
Neceflity of proving a Negative againft down-
right Swearing, and that without any Matter in-
troductory ; and alfo by two mean Servants, the
one turn’d out of her Place for keeping com-
pany with Foot-Soldiers, and the other leaving
his. Place in difguft, becaufe he could not have
the Play-Money.

Mafters are already too much in the Power of
their Servants, and if they charge their Mafters
with Adultery, Felony, and even Treafon, it is
not eafily in the Power of the Mafter to defend
himfelf againft downright Swearing ; Servants
having thofe Opportunities of the Knowledge of
Times, and Places, and Company, which cannot
be denied or avorded, and which others have not s
whereupon they may frame and build falfe Evi-
dence, and many times are of ill Principles and
defperate Fortuncs, and of Tempersvery revenge-
ful ; fo that whoever turns away a Servant, he is
in his Power for his Eftate, Honour, and even
Lite itfelf ; and therefore, for the Safety and
Freedom of Families, in other Countries, they are
not permitted to be Evidence againtt their Ma-
fters, in any Matter criminal whatfoever.

Note alfo, thac the Dutchefs thinks fhe, asan
Englifh Subje€t has, by Magna Charta the fame
Right to a Trial in the legal and ordinary Way
of Juftice, as thereft of the King’s Subjects, efpe-
cially confidering that there never yet was n
England one Prefident of a Bill exhibited in Par-
liament to diffolve a Marriage at the firlt Inftance,
without any previous Proceedings in the Ecclefi-
aftical Courts, (which in thefe Cafes is the Law
of the Land) and not above Five or Six Bills, tn
above 600 Years ever pafs'd to diffolve Marria-
aes, or make Second Marriages good, even after
there had been a Divorce in the Spiritual Courts,
and thofe Bills too in Cafes generally where the
Hufbands were without any Recrimination. |

No Impediment appears why the Duke (hould
not have endeavour’d a Divorce at Law before he
had attempted a Bill to diffolve the Marriage ;

N n for
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for any Application to’ the Legiflature for Trial
of Matters of private Right 1s 1mproper; be-
caufe there are proper Judicatures that give that
Remedy the Law allows. | o

To afk any thing of the Legiflature, 1n private
Caufes between Party and Party, beyond what
the known Laws in force give, {cems to be Im-

proper 3 becaufe, |
. It is to makea Law 1n one Perfon’s Cale,

which is not the Law in another’s.

». Ttis to retrofpedt Actions, and after the
Fid, to augment or aleer the Penalty.  Our
Taws are certain and known, that Perfons may
conform their Actions to them.

3. The Courts and Forms of Law are equally
the Subjects Right with the Law, and the Ap-
plicition to the Legiflature takes away all that
Right of Form and Chareing ;5 whereas a Cer-
tainty in Time to anfwer, and Exceptions to
Witnefles, and other legal Defences of the Fact
cannot be denied the meaneft Subject.

The Confequence that fhort and fummary
Ways of Proceedings may have on the Settle-
ments of Eftates and Families, may be very dan-
gerogs 3 and tho’ the Duke of Nerfolt’s Bill
paffed the [oufe of Peers, yeta great Number
°f the Pecrs, both Spiritual and Temporal, en-
cer’d their Proteft againtt its paffing, and their

Reafons for it. o
It ought to be no Prejudice to the Dutchefs,

hat the next Heir prefumptive to the Duke
doth not yet appear to be 2 Protettant, becaufe
when a Bill, which hath lately paffed both
oufes, is become a Law, it is not likely tha
noble Family will be without a Proteftant at the

Head of it. ‘

Ifany of the Witnefies formerly examined on
the Bill in 1699, be now again produced, it 1s
humbly apprehended, that as the Validity of

theit Tefltimony they then gave, was totally
overthrown by a greater Number of Witnefles,

fo it will beagain, tho’ under the Diladvantage
of the great Diftance of Time,

Martis 19 die Martii, 1699.

Tlie Reading the Bill, for diffolving the Mar-
riage of the Duke of Norfolk, the fecond Time,
ind hearing Council as well on the behalf of
the Dutchefs againft the Bill, as on behalf
of the Duke for the Bill, being the Order of
the Day, before the Council was called in, to
prevent the Inconvenience of People crouding
=0 the Houfe, the Houfe made an Order,

That none but the Council, Sollicitors, and
Partics (hould be called in, and that the Wit-
nefles fhould have Notice to attend without,
reidy to be called in, if the Houfe fhould
think fit.

It was alfo intimated, That if the Duke and
Duitchefs did think fit to come mto the Houle,
théy fliould be accommodated with Chairs, that
being @ Refpect fhewed to the Nobality when
thiéy come into the Houle.

" And then the Council, and Sollicitors, and
Pirties of both Sides were called in: And firft

the Bill wis read to them.
And then the Lady Dutchels’s Petition was

read. DL
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The Council that-appeared were,

Sir Themas Perys, ‘
Mr. Dad, for the Dutchels.
Dr. Pinfsld,

Mr. Sery. WWright,
Mr. Northey,
M, Atsood,

Dr. Oldifh,

.lfur the Duke,

And Mr. Speaker then fpake to this Efiect :

Mr. Speaker. You are here, 1 fee, Council on
both Sides. T he Houfe have ordered, That my
Lady Dutchefs hould be heard according to the
Prayer of her Petition s and my Lord Duke had
Ikewifi an Order to be heard to make good his
Bill. I think the Peritioner is to be heard firft,
to make good the Allegations of her Petition;
and when the Houfe have heard you both, as to
that, they will confider whether they will proceed
to hear the Allegations of the Bill made out.

Sir Theias Pewys. Mr. Speaker, with your F
vour, Sir, I am of Council with the Petitioner,
the Dutchefs of Noifolk, againft this Bill thais
now before you 3 and 1 believe I may Ly with
fome Afurance, that thisBill, in the Manner it is
now brought before you, is the firft that ever wis
attempted in this Honourable Houfe. It’s, Si,
true, thac feveral Years ago this Bill, or another
of the fame Nature, was attempted twice 1 the
other Houfe, and as often rejeted 5 but ’us as
true, at laft it does come from thence hither, but
not without a Proteftation theres and I humbly
hope that you will take notice, chat this is a Bii
of Divorce in Parliament, in the firft Inftance,
without a previous Profecution to examine the
Fat in any of the ordinary Courts that have Au-
thority in thefe Mateers.

Itis a Bill not only to Divorce the Dutchels
apon a very fhort Warning, who hath been 4
Wife twenty-three Years, but to render her la-
fimous to all Pofterity by Act of Parliament,
which I account to be the greateft Misfortunc
poflible to befal any Perfon 5 and at the fame
time it takes from her the legal Trial of the
Fa&t whercof fhe is accufed, and which fhe
hath a Right to by the Laws of the Land, fure
as much as the meaneft Subjet 5 and which we
don’t apprehend fhe has in any wife forfei-
ed ; nor is there any Reafon affigned, why his
Grace has not been pleafed to proceed in the or-
dinary Courfe. 1 hope, Sir, you will take
Notice alfo, that this is, in truth, nothing
but a Suit between Party and Party. ’lis
meerly a Caufe Matrimonial between Hufband
and Wife, heean originally in the Houfe of
Peers 5 and as hitherto the Beginning of Caufes
between Parcy and Party, in that Houle, hath
been ftrongly oppofed, fo I hope it will be thought
reafonable to do fo always, becaufe it depnves
the Subjedt of that legal Defence due to him
by the Law of the Land. If this was always
complained of, when the Proceedings werc in
2 Judicial Way, furely ’tis @ great deal worle
to begin there a private Caule berween Par-
ty and Party in the Legiflative Way. ] cif

fcc no manner of Difference, with refpett ltﬂ
the



the Lofs of thofe great Advantages the Party is
sntitled to, only this feems rather to be the moft
againﬂ Rca{:on. _ _ _

Sir, this is a fummary Proceeding with a wit-
nefs, It began but the 16th of Februaiy, and
hut 2 Weelk’s Time given to the Party accuf-
od of fo high a Crime, and of fo great Con-
fequence to the Party accufed, to be heard to
s and tho’ perhaps we may with Reafon
cnough find Fault with the tedious Proceed-
Ingrs in fome Courts, where Appeals and Writs
of Error are jultly due, as where Property is
well fixed, it mult needs be reafonable : I fay,
from various Caufes, though Suits in the Ordi-
nary Courts are very tedious 5 yet I am fure a
fummary Way of Proceeding withoutr due Wain.-
ing, or any certain Way of making Defence by
any known Rules, and without Oath, as here
without Appeal, without any Poffibility of re-
tricving the Matter again, with great Submiffi-
on; and if this muft be for all that one hasin
the World, fuch a fummary Way is a very ter-
rible T hing. .

I would be glad any onc would make it his
own Cafe, and think with themfelves how they
fhould like it, if their Life, Eftate, and all they
had, were put upon fuch a fammary Way of
Proceeding. *Tis true, in fome Kingdoms, where
the Government 1s arbitrary, the Proccedings
are fummarily, and moft commonly they go to-
gether 5 and if we were 1n a Place where the
Judges were infallible, and there were no falfe
Witnefles, and Truth could be difcovered at an
inftant, a fummary Way would be beft ;5 but
fince Men are fallible, fince there 1s Paflion and
Partiality in the World, fince oftentimes there is
notorious Detetions of Perjury, and feveral
Things are difficule to be difclofed, and require
a reafomable Timme for cxamining into Falls;
from thence it 1s that there are fettled Courfes
for determining all Quettions in Lugland between
Party and Party 5 and there are known Rules
and good Methods for the Relieving againt
any 1l Judgment that 15 gtven,

Whatever you may think of this particular
Cafe of the Dutchefs of Norfolk 5 the Example
15 of mighty Confequence to 2ll Parents, that
perhaps make hard fhift to give their Daugh-
ters confliderable Portions, and may think they
have marrted them well, and made Provifton
for them and their Children : 1 fay e will be
hard, if thetr Daughters fhould be fent home
to them upon a Fortnight’s Warning, and thar
WitnelTes thould be examined againft them with-
out their having Notice {fo much as of the Places
of their Abode; and a Thing (hould be de-
termined before the Witnefles can be well known:
And it muft be agreed to be of great Conle-
quence to all collateral Heirs, if Marriages are
fo calily and fuddenly fer afide for want of If-
fue; which 1 find to be one of the Caufes af-
hgned for this Bill, and that it might be in a
fammary Way, perhaps, before they can well
hear of it. I am fure, thisis a Matter of too
great Temptation to be put upon Men that may
grow weary of their Wives, and defire a better
rortune, or defire Change, or may be moved by
2 thoufand Reafons we can’t think of, to revive
old Quarrels, and think of Things long fince
pafled, if you will fee fuch a Precedent of Di-
voraing 1 fuch a fummary Way,

YorL, V,

and his Dutchefs, for a Divorce.
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This is fure of infinite Concern to us in liigh-
er Matters, A Bill of Divorce of a Woman in
Parliament, without a legal Trial, is jult the
fame Thing as a Bill of Attainder againft 2 Man
for Treafon ; the one forfeits the Eftate, cor-
rupts the Blood, and takes away his Life, and
the other docs very little lefs: For I find, ac-
cording to the Bill, *us to forfeit her Joynture,
to defame her Perfon, corrupt her Reputation ;
and tho’ it Jeave her Life, 1t is left with In-
famy, which 1s worfe than Death ; and in a
Cafe of this high Moment, fure you will be
careful how you alter the Courfe of Trials, I
befeech you, Sir, will not the Reafon be the
fame, that a Bill of Atrainder may be brought
again{t 2 Man, and that Witnefles againft him
may be fetch’d from beyond Sea, which he had
formerly difcharged from his Service, and put
the other Side to prove what is always very dif-
ficult, the Negative, to make his Defence, which
muft needs require a reafonable Time for the
making out of Circumftances, and laying Evi-
dence together 7 Where will be the Difference
between proceeding againft a Man for his Life
without a Trial, and procecding againft a Wo-
man for her Joynture, where her Name, Fa-
mily, and Reputation is concerned, and per-
haps her Children, the Legitimacy of whom
muft come in queftion ; and in a Cafe, wherce
the Perfon by no Behaviour of hers hath forfei-
ted fuch a Trial, nor the Perfon that profecutes
this Bill, can’t fhew, that he hath been obitruc-
ted in his proceeding in the ordinary Way ¢ I
need not take notice of what every body knows,
that we have a happy Conltitution, if we can
keep it 3 every Man can call his Wife his own,
and his Eftate his own, becaule 1t can’t be taken
away, bat by legal Trial; but 1t you will go
into thefe extraordinary Reforts, when the Courts
and the Law is open, without any previous Pre-
parations for that Matter, by having a fir
Examination, that the Party can’t fay there is
a Surprize, I know not where it will end 5 and
though in one Cafe 1t may be defirable, chat
there fhould be an extraordinary Relief: Bue
will this go no further? Can any bedy fay
that ¢

That which we find in Magna Charta is not
to be forgot, where there 1s fo much Care in the
feveral Inftances of it for the preferving of Pro-
perty, and the Right of Trials, Quod unullus de-
fruatur, nec fuper eum ihimus, nec fuper eum zitti-
sy nifi per legale judicium parium fuornim vel per
legcin terre.

Why, in this Cafe the Ecclefiaftical Law 1s
Lex Terre. And if that be to be taken away
without any Reafon, why may not the Law in
any other Cafe ?

We have, perhaps, in Time of great Emer-
gency and publick Difliculties, had fome extra-
ordinary Laws grovnded on extraordinary Rea-
fons ; but now we are 1n a Tiune of fectled Peace,
when there may be a juft Determination accord-
ing to the Law of the Land, I car’t fee any Rea-
fon for this Proceeding, no not in this particu-
lar Cale.

I would, Sir, with your Favour, take Notice
of thofe few Inftances of this kind, that have
been in Euglend by A& of Parliament, and in
what manner they have proceeded.

Nn 2 There,
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T here have not pafled hardly fix in fix hun.

dred Years; Ithink I may challenge them on the-

other Side to fhew fo great a Number, but thofe
I have I fhall quote : But they proceeded in ano-
ther manner than this has done,

*T'is true, where Perfons have had a fair Trial
in a proper Court, and Witnefles have been ex-
amined,and Sentence final been pronounced, and
where the Party as to the Fact hath been con-
cluded according to the Law of theLand; when
all this hath pafled, fome Inftances there have
been, that afterwards an A& of Parliament has
pafied to {trengthen the Sentence, and to carry
it farther than the Ecclefialtical Court will allow,
even to thediffolving the Marriage, and enabling
the innocent Perfon to marry again; but you
will find all thofe Aés are founded and built
upon the Sentence of thofe Courts, and recite
thofe Sentences asa great Inducemient to the pal-
fing of thofe A&s ; and 1 crave Leave jult to
take Notice of thofe. The firft we find, 15 that
made in the Cafe of the Marquels of Northaiup-
ton, which was in 5 E. 6. He was married to
a Daughter of the Earl of Effex, and fhe eloped
from him, and was profecuted in the Ecclefafti-
cal Courts, and there was Sentence againft her
of Divorce. The Marquefs, from hence, took
upon him to marry a Daughter of the Lord Cob-
ham 3 and after four Years Marriage of her, he
obtained an A&t of Parliament to ratify the fe.
cond Marriage 5 which Act recites a Settlement
of Divorce in the Ecclefiaftical Court.

This took its rife from Examination according
to Law ; and that A& of Parliament 1s grounded
upon it, and recites it as a previous Macter necel-
fary to induce that AL,

The next that follows was the famous Cafe of
the Lord Rofs, afterwards Earl of Rutland, tho’
there perhaps was as great a Notoriety of Fact
as can be pretended in this Cafe, and he did not
ftand impeached of any immodeft Behaviour, but
even in that Cafc the Divorce by the Act, fol-
lowed a Divorce in the cclefiaftical Court, and
that pafled with fuch Difficulty, that it was four
Years in hand 5 it began in Sixty-fix, and was
not pailed till Seventy: I have a Copy of it,
and it fays, that foralmuch as AMauners, commonly
call’d L. Rafs.

And it proceeds thereupon to enable him to
marry again 3 but this, Sir, could not be but by
two Aéts of Parhament, belides the Sentence in
the Ecclefialtical Court 3 for he firlt ot that
Court to declare the Children illegitimate, and
then n the Year (70) the Parliament pafled this
At

I know of no other, till we come to a Cafe
that happened within our Memory 5 tis the Cafe
ol a Perfon of great Worth, and I hope it will
aive no Ofience when I cite the Precedent.

It was the Cate of Mr., Lukenor, who had been
orofly abufed by his Wife, by Elopement and
open Adultery 5 but the A& he obtained went
no farther than to difable the Children born
while fhe lived in open Adultery 5 and that Ad
reciees a Sentence of Divorce : 1 have a Copy of
i, and I crave leave I may read a few Lines of
it 5 it recites that Mr. Lukenor’s Wile had cloped
irom her Fufband,

There was indeed a famous Cafe not long ago,
of a Lady that was taken away by Force, and

pretended to be married, and an A€ of Parlia-

ment came afterwards to declare that Marriige
nall and void 5 bur even there was a Procecdine
at Law with a witnefs. The Perfon that had
been concerned, was actually indited and exe.
cuted 3 it was not there to make a Divorce, and
fo it had been a vain Thing to have gone ing
the Spiritual Court, where there was no M.
riage, for it was only a Law after the Fadt de.
claratory by way of Caution, to give the more
Satisfaction that That Marriage was null angd
void,

Sir, the laft T know of (and it may be propz;
for you to obferve how quick thefe People coma
after 1t) was that of a noble Farl, that did ob-
tain Laft Parliament, an A& for divorcing him
and his Lady : It is the Cafe of the Earl of M.
clesfield 5 bue in that Cafe it will be proper 1o
take Notice to you, that there were previous
Proceedings in the Ecclefiaftical Court s there
was 2 Libel exhibited againft her, a Charge upen
her, and Witnefles examined, and fhe had a fair
Opportunity of making her Detence 5 there was
a regular and a long Proceeding againlt her, and
a Profecution of her, in order to a Sentence of
Excommunication 5 and then there came the
Earl’s Petition into the Ioufe of Pecrs, fetting
forth, that there had bLeen {uch a Prucceding
as this, and that fhe ftood in Contempr, having
been profecuted as far as that Court could go:
After an Examination of Witnelles, in all the
Cafes I have heard of a Divorce by Act of Pure
liament,. there have been Proceedings m the Le-
clefiaftical Court; this was the Way of former
Trmne, but now we are beginning where the
Matter ought to end.

And now the firft Application s to that Place,
wherein all thefe Inttances (as I think 1t ougheto
be) was the Ialt Reforr. *Tis true, this Meethod
may not pleafe the Duke, for we know his Grace
1s 1n hafte for curting the Knot alunder at once,
by the Leeiflative Power 5 but T hope, upan
thefe Precedents, you will think it more realox-
able it fhould be at firlt untied, or at leaft
loofened by a judicial Proceeding,  If you wiliy |
do not {ce how in Juftice the Parlinment cn
deny the like Remedy the next Sefiions to any
other that may be in the like Cafe; it may bein
worfe, for here is no Pretence of any {purious If-
fue. Can the Parliament of Eugland, whenca
we take our Meafures of Juftice, deny the like
Remedy m Juftice to any others that are mn
ke Cafe? What is it that guards you irom an
infinite Application of this Nature, but requir-
ing Perfons to take the ordinary Courfe firlt, ard
to come round about to the Parliamune, as tie
lalt Remedy, to carry the Sentence perhaps far-
ther than the Ecclefiattical Court can do @ Buri
Perfons can come up dire&ly hither, T am apt t
think your Loby will be crowded with Petitiorers
of this Nature the next Seffions, though the Sot-
fions now are long and frequent, this fingle F-
finefs may be fo great as to obfiruft ali ciw.
Bufinefs; Iam fure a Commitree for Aduita;
would have a full Employment.

Let it be confider’d how firange it wouid &
il fome poor Man upon this Precedent, thu
come and make Application, and il yeu I
ftands in Need of fuch a Bill from the Conut-
tion of his Family; that his Wife plinders £
Houle, fells his Goods, and hves in Aduitary,
and prays this Mateer may be cxaminud 100

fununay
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(ummary Way, becaufe he 1s not able to go
tirouch thecoftly Courfe of Ecclefiaftical Courts,
nd be favoured wi_th a Divorce s woqld not
this peor [Mar’s Cafe feem to have the like Ju-
fiice, or poflibly more: and yet if rlIFI:l 1 mean
nlan fhould come with fuck a Petition, per-
hips it would look firange 5 but yet i Juoftice
here 15 no Refpet of Perfons 3 the Law in
Feaiond s, timiin pondts & una menfura 5 and if
is fhould be done in the Cafe of a great and
rich Man, and not for a poor Man, they may
fi-- what has been faid by fome, That our Lacys

cro [ io the Szidei’s Teo, wwhich only beld the leffer

P

IJSIMII thofe that expedt the beft Fortunes and
creat. b Advantace by Marrage, not undergo
T fod Foroane of Marrage oo ? I am fure if
giis ke lo, it's a Urivilege of Peeraze, never
{hmight on belore. o

You may [ee, Sir, by this Bill, how Preccdcnts
Crow upon you ; at farlt in wie Cale of the Mar-
cucls of Nerzheaoton, 1o was hard to get an Act
afer o Divorce @ So it was 1 the Cafe of my
T.ard Refs 3 the Jalt Seflions 1 the Cafe of the
Ful of Marclesfizldy it went farther there, be-
cabe there had been a previous Proceeding
the Feclefiddlical Coure, and his Lady had ob-
fliudted that Sentence, that A& pafled before
S.atence 3 but now we are come to have 1t done
without fo much as a Trial to get a Divorce in
the Leclefiaftical Courts; to have all paffed ac
once n 2 fummary Way, 1w will be but to peti-
tion the Daliameur, and all fhall be determined
wizhout 2 Poflibility of being re-heard.

Lnow nothing can be faid on the other Side
with good Realon (unlefs that which I heard in
arother Place) why they thould not go to the
Feclfiaftical Court, which 15 that thofe Courts
cinnot divorce a Fierlo Matrimony 3 therclore
it would have been a vain Thing @ This may be
2 zood Reajon for them to come to you afier-
wards, but *us no Reafon for them to come here
at hirll, urnlfs they would fay at the fame time,
that every Thing ought to be begun m Par-
hament, becaute *us poflible every Thing may
he Drensht to the Houfe of Peers at laft : Will
ticy fay that all Ljeciments oughe to be begun
originally in the Houfe of Peers, becaufe after
the Parties have been at great Charge and Trou-
Lie tn the Courts Lelow, tiiey may be broughe
wither by Wit of Lirror at the laft, This
would have bean a goed Fxpedienr, i a Caufe
lerdy where a Deed was tried over and over, if
the Perfons concerned 1n fo miany Verdidts, lad
oiice thought of having Legun in Parliument to
hve had e fetded, whether 1t was a juft Deed
o 1y it this be the Rule, it would be well it
wire known, and made to be the Law of the
virgdom 5 for that Law will be always reckoned
hird which is made in one Cale, if it may not
be had in another 5 the Law of England does go
thioughout, and if 1t be Law for one, ’us for
otaer. T have but one Thing more to lay be-
lore you, and that feems wortiny of your Confi-
deratron, befides ail that T have faid.

You obferve the Bill is general without Re-
f{,’.‘””t’ of Tune and Plice, or Defcription, or
vircamltanees relatine to the Fadt @ Now, Sir,
Fmalt olie leave to acguaint you, that fo long
W50 as il 160y, his Grace the Duke, who
compliins of this Matter, a3 if fome Misfortune
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had befallen him, having made former Complaints
and Attempts for obtaining what he now defires,
did at laft in April 1694, not fuddenly, but by
Advice of Council, with his Friends about him,
after a long Time of Agitation, come to Articles
with his Wife the Dutchefs ; of which I crave
leave only to read the Preanidle,

The Articles are between his Grace the Duke
of Nerfolk and the Earl of Peterborongh, and re-
CITeS—

* It is therefore determin’d by the Parties, and
agreed as followeth; and thereupon the Articles
proceed to fettle every Thing between the Duke
and Dutchefs to his own Satisfation, and accord-
g to his own Defire: His Grace hath reap’d
the Benefit of thofe Articles, by having received
a creat Sum of Money 5 and the Dutchefs parted
with her Intereft in that Great and Noble Manour
of Sheffield 3 his Grace hath had all that he on
his Parc was to have, and hath executed abun-
dance of Deeds,purfuant to his Agreement. Now
ify after all this, there be a Prolpect of farther
Advantage by another Marriage, that will not
move you to give him a Liberty for a Departure
from fo folemn an Agreement, in what a Condi-
tion are People that have purchas’d their Peace as
the Dutchefs has, if they may have Liberty to go
back beyond this, for the Bill has no ftint; furcly
all Reconciliation between Men and their Wives,
and all Aéts towards them, and all Acts of Kind-
nefs, are to be favour’d 3 and Matcters of a Di-
vorce are of an odions Nature, and nor to be
encourag’d after fuch Compofure of Difierences,
and Reconciliation.  We have Inftances of fome
that have taken their Wives again, and lived
comfortably afterwards 5 furely it {hall not be 1n
their Power to go back and fay, Pray ket us be
divorced 3 *uis contrary to the Ule of all Aéts of
Pardon. What is the I5nd of all Aétsof Parlia-
ment of General Pardon, and all Statures of Li-
mitation, but to cale People in fuch a Cale? For
“t1s impoffible that any Perfon can be able to de-
fend their Actions nine or ten Yearsago 5 they
can’t keep their Witnefles alive, and therefore the
Law hath often limited a Time, beyond which
Perfons fhall not go back: And this, we think,
the Duke hath done by Articles, and furely they
are conclufive both before G o p and Man.

I thall fay no more, but that I don’t appre-
hend the Nation will be in any great Danger, if
the Duke do, betwixt this and the nexc Seffion,
proceed in the ordinary Courfe, and prepare
Matters againft another Seffion s I am fure ’us of
areat Confequence : No Man can deny but we
have a good Conftitution s but if itis in the
Cafe of a particular Perfon to be broken, fuch
a Breach in this Conftitution may not be very
eafily recover’d.

I hope this Caufe, that is precipitated here ont
of Time, and before thofe Preparations were
made that have been n all other Cafes, fhall be
remitted to its proper Place, where her Grace
will eive the Duke & mecting, if they be not be-
fore that 'Time reconcil’d. ‘

NMr., Dedd. Mr. Speaker, I defire the Favour of
a Word of the fame Side.  Thele Bills are not
common 3 1 thinke there are not above three In-
flances to be found tn the Records of this King-
dom,

P— - E——— -

* Vide her printed Cale wt infra, :
"T'his
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fore you is the Cale of a great and honourgh)e
Perfon, yet your Jullice will be the fame, if i
fhould happen that any other Man in the Kine.
dom fhould be in the fame Circumftances, a4
willing to (lip over all Trials, whereby the Pey.
fon accufed might have an Opportunity of k.
ing her juft Dufence, as is the Cafe of this nol)e
Lady, who is hurried on after twenty-threeYegrs
Marriage to a Determination in as many Days
in this extraordinary manner,

I hope therefore you will not proceed iy 4
Bill of this extraordinary Nature, of which
there is not one Inftance to be given, wher
you have begun to examine a fuppoled Crima,
but you have always left it to the Determination
of the Law in tle ordinary Courfe; and o
think it ought rathter to be fo in this Cafe, be.
caufe ’tis not pretended by the Bill, that there
15 any Stop put to their Procesdings there
there 1s no Abfence of Witneffes, no Incapacity,
but his Grace may proceed there o conyid
this Lady of the Crime he fuppoles her guily
of, and fhe will there have her jult Defenees
and till then there is no Crime for you to judge
upon, and I hope you will think fit to rejedt
this Bill.

Dr. Pinfold, Mr. Speaker, Idcfire to fpeak a
few Words as to the Feclefiaftical Law, which
is a Part of the Law of England as much as any
other, for our Law dogs not receive Majns &3

This Bill is to diffolve a Marriage afterTwen-
ty-three Years Continuance, and that not upon
{o many Days Notice as there have been Years of
the Marriage, for to ferve the particular Purpofes
of one Perfon : *Tis a Law after the fuppofed
Fa&t committed 3 the Law fhould go firft, and
the Fa& follow 3 it is not a General Law for all
the People of England 3 as fuch, it would have
another Confideration : There is no Occafion for
a particular Law, ’tisa Bill from the Lords, and
in a little time, for what I know, the Lords will
prefcribe to it.  There is not one of thefe Bills
for 2 Commoner, unlefs in my Lord Rofs’s Cale,
who was of a Noble Family.

*Tis not pretended by this Bill, that the Dutch-
efs hath had any fpurious Iffue, though that was
the Circumftances of one of the Bills that did
pafs, and that was a material Circumf{tance In
the Cafe ; and that is not alledged here.  Thefe
Bills are rot to be made ufe of, but upon extra-
ordinary Occafion, and the utmolt LExtremity,
and till then I hope fuch Bills fhall not be made
ufe of, and we think the Proceeding upon this
Bill, in this Cafe, will appear much harder 3 for
>tis the firft Inftance of this Nature, when there
has been no Proceeding in any Court whatfo-
ever, to convict the Durchefs of this Offence, no
Citation all this while in the Ecclefiaftical Courts,

where the Dutchefs might have an Opportunity
to make her Defence.

If thofe Courts have Jurifdiftion in any one
Thing, 'tis in Cale of Matrimony: If this was
brought into thofe Courts, the Dutchefs would
be allowed to make her Defence, not only by
way of Recrimination, but Examination of Wit-
nefles 5 2 Commiflion might be had to examine
Witnefles beyond Sea, 1f fhe had any Witneffes
there, or in the Country 5 fhe might appeal to
a Superior Court, and thence to the Delegates:
Thefe are all proper Defences that the Law al-
lows, that there may be no Surprize upon the
Party 3 and if injured, he may be righted in
another Place : Thefe Proceedings, we think are
ncceffary to go before a Bill of this Nature, for
then the Faft would be plain 3 and if the Dut-
chefs had been convifted in this manner, as to
the Faét, we muft not have opened our Mouths
againft it.

By the fame Reafon that a Bill is brought to
diffolve this Marriage, in a little time you may
have a Bill to marry People : Be it enacted for
fuch and fuch Reafons, fuch Perfons fhall be
married. This would be a much readier Way
in Cafe of Contraéts, than any Procecdings in
the Ecclefiaftical Courts. And though they may
fay the Law of Zngland takes notice of Con-
tracts of Matrimony, as well as any other Adts,
that 15 no Anlwer s for the Faét is, whether
there 1s any Contraét of Matrimony, or no ; and
fo *tis here, whether my Lady is guilty of the
Crimes charged here in the Bill 5 and for this
fhe ought to have a proper Trial, and ought to
be called to an Account in the ordinary Me-
thods of the Law; and then it might be proper
to carry the Sentence farther than thofe Courts
can. I hope you will be very tender of making
a new Precedent; and I do not know of any
Bill before this, to convitt a Woman of a fup-
poled Crime 5 then this 1s the firlt Bill of this
Nature, and you will confider, whether you will
make a Precedent of it or no. Though this be-

Mings 3 and the Feclefaftical Courts have beep
fettled for feveral Ages, and are governed by
fuch Rules which cvery Subjet has a Right to.
Sir, this Bill is to diffolve the Bond of Marriage,
and to give Leave to marry again 3 and [ crave
Leave to fhew the Houfe what our Ecclefiaftical
Conftitutions are in that Cafe, and how tende
they have been in that Point, and how thofe Con-
ftitutions are grounded upon the Canons and D:-
crees of Councils,

The Cafes where the Bond of Marriage 1sto
be diffolv’d are but few, and they arife before
Marriage ; *tis in the Cafe of the Precontrad, or
Nonage, or Confanguinity, and there the Boud
s broken by the Sentence of the Judge, and the
Perfon hath liberty to marry again ; but for what
comes afterwards, whether it be the Cafe of A-
dultery, or any thing elle, the Law Ecclefiyfti-
cal, which, as 1 faid before, is part of the Luw
of Enugland, hath been very caretul not to diflolv:
the Marriage.

The 48th Canon fays, If any Layman fhal
put away his Wife, and marry another, he (hall
be excommunicated : That was the Sonfe of thofs
carly Days; and fure they did not think it s
indifferent Matter, becaule they punifhed 1t with
fo heavy a Punithment.  So “twas in the Cour-
al of Arles, 314, and there it was decrecd,
That if a Man took his Wife in Adultery, Le
thould be forbidden to marry,  There vhat was
to be done ? Counfe! fhould be given him not
to marry while {he lived, tho’ {he was an Adul-
terefs.

And i the Council 402, the Neapolitain Evan-
gelical, Apoftolical Council, it was decreed, That
if 2 Manwas divorced from bis Wife, or a Wite
from her Hufband, there they were not to mar-
ry, but fhould remain unmarried, or be recon-
ciled.

And in the African Council, Canon 102, ther

it was provided, That they who were divorceds
2 whiether
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whether "ewas @ Hufband from his Wife, or a before ; but before my Lord- Macclesfield brought
Wife from her Hufband, they fhould remain his Bill in Parliament, there was nothing remain-
qnmarried. + This was the Se_nﬁ? of th:a an_cjent ed to be done in' the Ecclefiaftical Courts bur:
Canons and Councils, and this 1s received into  Sentence : And I hope for all thefe Reafons,. you.
our Ecclefiaftical Conftitution.  In the 15th  will not proceed upon this. Bill. o -
Year of the Reign GF_ Q{een Elizabeth, in_ the Mr, Ser). Wright. Mr. Speaker, I amiof Coun-’
Chapter of Diverces, *us faid, That upon a E'gcn- cil ﬁa_r the Duke of Norfolk, who is your Suppli~
rence of Divorce there muft be an Admonition, ant. for this Bill, for Redrefs. agamft che higheft
and a Prohibition, that the Party fhall not mar-  Injory that can be offered.; the Rights of his
ry again. o Marriage:Bed have been invaded,. and he comes:

And in the Year 1602, in the Beginning of for that Relief here, which no other Court cans
King Fames’s Reign, there was a farther Provi- afford him 5 for the learned Ddctor on the other
fion made to keep them from bemng married Side, tells you plainly, from the Canon Law;
again ; and that was this, That they fhould give that there can be no Divorce @ Fincnlo Matyi-
Bond and Security that they thould not marry smeaii in their Courts ; Now to fend us to a Court
again ; this is certainly our Ecelefaflical Confti-  for Relief, that they tell us before-hand can give
wtion, and grounded on the Senfe of the ancient  us none, is in Effeét to tell us we fhall have none
Canons. it all,

Now it remains to fhew fome Advantage this  The Bill is founded upon the Sugpeflions
would have had: If fhe had had the Trial, contained in the firft three or four Lines of tlhe
which of common Right i1s due to the meanclt  Bill, that the Dutchefs of Nerfelk hath, for divers
Subject, fhe would have had the Advantage of Years lived in Separation from the Duke her
Challenges, which fhe can’t have here s for here  Flufband, and hath had unlawful Familiaricy,
the Evidence muft drop from the Wimefles and adulterous Converfation with Sir Yobn Gep-
Mouths, who are Foreigners, and have been long  iasie, and is guilty of Adultery on her Parr,
abfent 5 there they mult give an Account of and hath broken the Bond of Matrimony : Thefe
themlelves, which here hath not been done Dy are the Reafons for which the Duke defires this
any body. The Lady might have given her Bill may pafs 5 ’tis for the adulterous Conver-
Exceptions to thofe Witnefles, and had'a Com-  fation of the Dutchefs, not for one fingle A&,
mifion into Helland, to have examined how thefe  but a continual Series of the like A&s for man
Witnefles behaved themlelves, and whether thefe  Years; for we fhall not give onlyone fingle Aét
Perfons were to be believed and credited : Here or Inftance in Evidence, but prove this Conver-
fhe would likewife have Liberty to give an Ac- fation for feveral Years, beginning in Eighty-
count how this Dehign began, I do now fpeak feven, and carried on to the latter End of Nine-
with refpet to the Duke, but I do fay it does ty-five, |
fcem to have begun a Year and a halfago. She It hath been objected, that this is the firft In-
would likewife have had the Advantage of a ftance of a Divorce, the firft Bill of this Kind,
thoroush Reconciliation : And here are fome where there has been no Proceedings in the Spi-
Deeds in (9.1} between the Duke and the Dutch-  ritual Court : That tis the firft Bill of this Kind
efs, which I hope, if the Houfe will take an Ac-  we deny s butthat there havebeen no Proceedings
count of, will have its due Effeét s the would 1n the Spiritual Court, we own ; for the Earl
likewife have had the Advantage of an Appeal, of Macclesfield’s was the fame, to all Intents and
the common Right of the Subject, and grounded  Purpofes, as this is; for though *tis true, they
upon gond Reafon s and in cafe there had been  had been m the Spiritual Coure, yet *tis as true,
a Neglect in the firft Inftances, the Party may be  they came here into Pavliament before any
righted in another Place. Sentence in the Spiritual Court : Now to what

By this Bill the is debarr’d of the Advantage Purpofe is it to go into the Spiritual Courrt,
of Recrimination, to which fhe hath a Right, and not to ftay for the Determination of that
for the Texe Law is Court, 1f the Judgment of that Court is to

And the Text Law, De Divertiis, were the have any Weight in the Cafe of the Earl of
Charge moft true, which we do not admity yet  Macclesfield ? *Tis true, they had been.there and
I the can prove the fame Thing againft her examined Witnefles on one Side, with all Pre-
Hufband, the Fault of one muft be fer againft cipitation, yet would they not ftay for a Sen-
the Fault of another, and he can’t have the Ad-  tence there, but quitted their own Proceedings,
vantage of his Prayer. and came to the Parliament. Now I do rake ic,
~ Iihal} repeat only one Thing more, and that  that they had better never been there, than to
Is the Cafe quoted already of the Earl of Macclyf- have come away before Sentence 5 for when they
fild, but in that Cafe the Lady withdrew her were in the Spiritual Court, and were proceed-
felf five or fix Days before Sentence 5 yet there ing there, to leave that Court, fhewed rather a
the Lord Macclesfield had all her Defences, and  Miftruft of their own Cafe. But it was no Ob-
even her Recrimination, and had a ‘T'ime to je&ion in that Cafe, that it was taking it away
prove it ; there was Publication, and a Day fer  from the Jurifdiction of the Spiritual Court.
down for Sentence 3 but fhe foun out the Time We don’t come to you for any Thing the Spi-
tll the Parliament was ready to rife, and then  ricual Court can granc us; for that Court goes
my Lord’s Friends advifed him to begin in Par- po farther, if the Fac be proved, than to make
liament 3 and when the Lords were accquainted o Separation & menfd & thore, but the Bonds of
of my Lady Macclesficld’s {tanding in Contempt Marriage 1s to be continued ftill : Now with
of the Court, and the was profecuted fo far, that  Submiflion, this is to punifh the Innocent inftead
the was almoft ready to go to Prifon for her of the Guilty : What would the Dutchefs defire
Conttmpt, then the Houfe of Lords did think more, than to be feparated from the Bed and
fit to receive my Lord Macclesfield’s Bill, and not  Board of her Hufband, and be left free to ac-

C'Uml)&l{] Y
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company Sir Fobn Germaine 3 "but we go further,

for we come to the Parliament to diffolve this

Marriage for that, which is allowed by feveral

learned Writers to be a juftifiable Reafon for fo

doing, for Adultery committed by the Wlfc_;

’tis exprefly, thata Man ﬂml_l not put away his
Wife, except in cafe of Formgmqn 1 this Text
plainly allows, that in cafe of Pormcatlgm,_n Man
might put away his Wife ; but the Popifh Ca-
nons the Do&or has named, have put a Con-
ftru@ion upon it : Say they, You (hall put her
away ; but how? She fhall be removed from
your Bed and Table, but you fhall not marry
another, Then they fay, there is no Precedent
of 2 Bill of this kind, but there hath been a pre-
vious Profecution in the Spiritual Coures. |
agree the Marquis of Northamploi's Cafe, that
That A¢t does recite the Proceedings in the Spi-
ritual Court : But that Cafe is ftronger than this,
for there the Marquis of Northampton had mar-
ried even in the Teeth of their Canon Law, and
comes afterwards an A& of Parliament to make
this Marriage good, and there the Divorce was
no Ingredient upon the pafling of the Bill : But
the Parliament enated the Marrmage to be law-
ful. In my Lord Rgfs’s Cale, there is no men-
tion of any Divorce.

I appeal to the Journals of your own Houles
for that 3 but notwithftanding the Divorce, the
whole Matter was examincd over again, Witnef-
{fes were examined both in the Houle of L.ords,
and here upon the firft Bill which was brought,
which was to illegitimate and baftardize the Chil-
dren ; and the Witnefles proved, that my Lord
Rofs and his Lady had not lain together for a
long time, and that (he had kept Company with
others ;5 fo that the Parliament did not found
the Bill upon what had been done upon the Di-
vorce.

I appeal to your own Memory, that in the
Earl of Maccle:field’s Cafe, there was no Ufe at
all on that Side; the Bill was brought, that
there had been Proceedings in the Spiritual Courrt,
nor is there any fuch Thing recited 1n the Bill,
but only an exprefs downright Charge of Adul-
tery 5 nor was 1t proper for them to have men-
tioned any Proceedings in the Spiritual Court,
fince they waved that Profecution 5 but we on
the other fide infifted on it, as a Reafon why the
Parlament fhould not proceed in 1t, it being to
take upon them an original Jurifdiétion 5 but
we were then anfwered by a learned Gentle-
man againft this Bill, thacit was m vain to go
there, for they could not give the Remedy
that might reafonably be expedted. I beg the
Favour to mention a Cale or two, where Di.
vorces have been 1n Parliament, and there have
been no Proceedings in the Spirttual Court 5
one of them was the Cafe of Mrs, Kunight, who
was married sufre auios Nubiles to Mr. Goodwzin.
Every onc knows, that a Marriage 7ufra annos
Nubiles, 15 a good Marriage 5 and if the Wo-
man be above nine Years old, fhe fhall be en-
dowed ; and yet notwithftanding, for fome irre-
gular Proceedings without going into the Spiri-
tual Court, they came into Parliament; a Bill
wis pafled, by which this Marriage was diffolv’d,
and 1 think *tis exprelly enaéted,

That fhe fhall not marry till fuch an Age.
This goes farther 3 for here I am fure the Doétor
would have explained; and told you, if there had

the D. of Norfolk 12W,I1j;

been Reafon to diffolve the Marriage, they could
have done as great a I'eat 1n the Spirttual Coyre,
that they could have examined Witnefles upon
Qath, and could have told you whether tlere
was proper Evidence ; yet the Parliament, wih.
out any regard to what they could do, would
aflerc their own Jurildiction.

The Cafe of Mr. Fharion was mentione] gp
the other Side; and therefore I need not fay any
thing to it: There was nothing of Divorce, nor
needed any.

They fay this Bill begins where it is prope
for Matters of this Nature to end 5 and tha alter
we have taken a Turn into the Spiritual Cour,
and travelled three or four Years there, then it
will be fit for the Judgment of Parliament, |
would know if they had been feven Years in thay
Court (and perhaps if they come there, we fhy]l
not get out fooner 3) to what Ulfe the Examina.
tion of that Court would be. This Houfe, |
prefume, would not let thofe Depolitions be
read here, efpecially if the Witnefles to their
Fadts were living.

They fay this s a very fummary Way of pro-
ceeding ; it may be too quick for the Dutchefs;
but you may be pleafed to conlider, that there
was a Bill brought into the other Houle fom:
Years ago and rejected 5 upon what Terms, thy
will reft upon us to fhew you by and by.

But the Matter was, the Witnefles that proved
the Fact, was {ent out of the Way by the Duich-
efs and Sir Fobu Germaine, when Things were un-
der an Examination ; and we hope a DMatter of
this Nature, never fhall be baffled by keeping
the Evidence out of the Way.,

We told them long ago, who the Witnefies
were 3 they were the Dutchels’s Servants, fuch
as they thought fit to entruft,

They fay this Bill deprives the Dutchefs of her
Trial; I hope no body thinks the Parliament
will pafs a Bill, without due Examination of
Witnefles, and legal Proof of the Fact ; if fo,
what matter 1s it, whether the Proof be maae
before the Parliament, or fome inferior Court; if
the Dutchefs be guilty of this Crime, we come
here for a Relief, which the Spiritual Court, the
Dodtors tell you, can’c giveus; fince the Dutch-
els hath broke the Bond of Matrimony, we come
to you to Diffolve that Marriage, and I hope
we fhall have it.

The Doctor hath infifted on one Thing, that
I think is very extraordinary : He tells you, by
the Rules of their Law, if the Woman can re-
criminate, and prove her Hufband guilty, in fuch
a Cafe, they muft fet the Fault of one aguinft

the Fault of the other.

I with the Doftor could have told you the
Offence had been equal, that the Injury to Fa-
milies had been equal 5 a Man by his Folly of
this kind brings no fpurious Iffue to inherit the
Lands of his Wife, but a Woman deprives her
Hufband of any legitimate Iffue; for when fhe
converfts in this Manner with another Man,

the Iffue: may be equally look’d upon to be that
NI:II'I,S:

I
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s, if not more, and his Lady hath kept
Eﬂznéonverﬁltion ever {ince the Year Sixteen
Hundred Eighty-Seven, and left the Duke.

One Thing is farther objected, and they in.
ftuponcertain Articles of Agreement in Ninety-
tiour, and they read to you the Preamble of
dem ¢ Why, Sir, the Artlcles, if they come to
be read through, Iam fure 1t won’t amount to
whar they pretend 5 it does not amount to this,
that the Dutchefs might ufe her Body as fhe
pleafed there s no Agreement, that fhe fhould
ive after her own Pleature. Indeed, fhe was
o have the ufe of her Houfhold Goods, and
Servants, and live where fhe pleafed, but that
will not juftifie her in her Way of Living,

Then to tell you, thefe are Matters of long
ftanding; they are fo, and of a long conti-
mance; for, if my Inftructions prove true, we
fhall prove this Scene of Adultery for matter of
cicht Years fucceflively, and that by Servants
thaw were privy to the Intrigues, who were
fent away to Holland ; but no fooner was the Biil
baffled, but the Man was fent for again, and the
fime Converfation continued that was berween
the Dutchefs and Sir Feobn Gerineine before he
left LEngland.

The fame was continued after he came back
to his Service in (1691); only they were {ome.
thing more cautious, and People were not admit-
ted fo familiarly to fee them in Bed together in
(1692) 5 and fo it continued till 1693,

They mentioned the Statute of Limitations,
which was to put an End to frivolous and vexa.
tious Actions: How they can apply 1t to this

Cafe, I can’t fee; becaufe a Maa fhall not bring :

frivolous and vexatious Actions after a long di-
{tance of Time, therefore a Man fhall not com-
plain when he hath received the greateft Injury
that can be done to Mankind.

Sir, They are kind to us again, in recom-
mending it to the Duke to go into the Spiritual
Court till the next Seffions: But we think weare
in proper Method here, for that Relief which
the Spiritual Court cannot grant; and fince we
have {o good Reafon to come here, if we prove
the Fact, T hope this high Court will not fend
away a Complaint of this Nature, without fuch
Relief as fuitable.

Mr. Northey. Siry, 1 am of the fame Side: I
would beg leave to fay this: Asto what the
Council have faid in relation to the Evidence,
that there were three Witnefles examined upon
Oath, in the Houfe of Peers, before the Bill
did pafs there; and I believe they are aware
of that, and that when you hear cur Wit-
nefles, there will be no Anfwer to be given
on their Side; and indeed the Witnefles they
brought, were fo far from contraditing our
Witnefles, that they did really confirm them.
B_ut that is not the Cafe now, what our E-
Kldencc 1, or whether it be fic for you to be-
deve them, that will be when you have heard
them ; and for che Matter of the Time, that
you can’t take notice of neither, till you hear

our Evidence, But this I may fay, we fhall
YoL V.
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bring a Man that will {peak to within four or
five Years.

But the Matter they apply themiclves to,
which is material, is, Whether it is proper
for you to proceed on this Bill, that is, to
oive fuch a Relief as we defire, by diffolving
this Marriage? And 1n the next Place, Whe-
ther this be a proper Time to afk this Fa
vour ¢

For the firft, the learned Do&or tells vou *tis
not proper at any time to do it, for he would have
the Canon Law govern here, as it does in their
Courts.  But the Council on the other Side have
cited you leveral Precedents where it hath been
done. Inthe Cafe of the Marquis of Northamp-
fon, the {econd Marriage was contrary to the Ca-
non Law, and yet that Marriage was confirmed
according toGod’s Law, And this Bill is to res
lieve againft the Canon Law.

Now, whether weare herein a proper Time ;
Sir Thomas Powys has faid a great many Things,
which may be proper to many other Purpofes.
One Argument was, Gecaufe the Witnefles can’s
be upon Oath; but that we know will not pre-
vail in this Place.  In the next Place they except,
becaufe this Proceeding is in a fummary Way.
I would know of them, whether there is not the
fame Objection to all Proceedings before a Jury,

that they have no Notice what Witnefles will be
produced?

Then in the next Place they bring a great Ar-
gument for ine Recital of foin: of thefe Bills,
That there have been & Sentence in the Eccle-
fiaftical Courts. Now, ’tis true, they have been
fo in fome of thofe Cafes: But I beg leave to
obferve, That in the Cafe of the Marquis of
Northampton, the Bill was not to confirm the
Sentence, or to cnable them to marry, but to
deliver them out of the Hands of the Ecclefi-
aftical Courts, who faid it was not lawful in
that Cafe to marry, for they were married be-
fore,

I beg leave to fay, Thatin the Cafe of my
Lord Macclesfeld, there was no Notice in the
Bill that came down to you of any Proceedings
in the Ecclefiaftical Courts: And I take this
to be the Reafon, becaufe there was no Sentence,
though where there was a Sentence, they had
good Reafon to take notice of it.  And Ithink
there is as much Certainty, and as good Ground
to proceed on thisBill, as in the other Cafe, for
the Witnefles have been already examined in the
Houfe of Lords. Inthe Cafe of my Lord Rofs,
there was no Regard to the Determination of
the Ecclefialtical Courts, as a Guide to the
Parliament; and it was looked upon as of no
Confequence, for the Witneffes were examined
again.

*Tis true, when we came before you without
fuch a Proceeding, we came under this Difad-
vantage, you will be fure to expeét a plainer and
fuller Proofs but for that we will undertake to
make the Fa& (o plain, that they can’t give the
lealt Pretence to anfwer to It

O o We
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We are here afking that we can’t have any
where elfe: Their great Defign 1s Delay, and
that we have learnt from the Civilian, who tells
you, their Methods are very grave and deliberate,
and, that they may have a Commiflion to exa-
mine Witneffes beyond Sea; and that 1s to en-
quire how their own Servants have liv’d beyond
Sea.

As to what Sir Theimas Poswys would have, that
is, that we fhould go into the Spiritual Court,
and apply our felves here again next Seffions, 1
do not think the Legiflatare will fend us back to
alk that in the Spiritual Court which both have
fubmitted to: For after the Duke had mifcar-
ried in the Relief he fought by another Bill, by
the Dutchefs’s fending the Witnefies out of the
way 5 why truly, after that, to prevent any Pro-
fecution in the Spiritual Court, the Dutchefs
fubmitted to a Separation by Articles, and that
was all cthe Duke could have pretended to by the
Ecclefiaftical Law: We follow her upon that,
and come to enforce that Separation. And, to
make it effectual, and for that which we humbly
hope will be thought but Juftice to the Duke,
that is, to be deliver’d from this Wife, and to
have Liberty to marry again; we think there is
no Occafion for Delay, and that no body can
be hurt by a Precedent that carries Relief in this
nature, and deliver us from a Law, which in the
Days of Popery was put upon us; Upon the
whole Matter, I hope you will think that we
arc here very properly for Relief, and that we

thall have the Favour to call our Witnefles.

Dr. Oldifh. Sir, the great Objection againft the
paffing of this Bill was, becaufe Witnefles had
not been examin’d in the proper Court. *Tis
very true, generally fpeaking, in Cafes it ought
to be fo; but here is a very great Exception to
that Rule, and which, I think, can’t admit of an
Anfwer, and that s, the Notoricty of the Fact;
and in that Cale they begin with Execution.
And if that be fo, I think there never was a
clearer Demonftration in the World 5 for when
formerly the Dutchefs came to give in her An-
fwer in the Houle of Lords, to the Charge againft
her, the did declare, That in the Year 83, or
thereabouts, fhe went out of Lugland, and tarried
Three Years, and return’d about the Time of
the Revolution. And it does plinly appear
there, beyond all queftion, that fhe was at Lam-
beth, and went under the Namc of the Lady
Beckman, and was attended by one Keeier, who
went then by the Name of Goodinan.  Belides
this, there are Witnefes that fpeak to particular
Faéts, Now, I fay, here is that which amouncs
to Demonftration; and where there is 2 Noto-
riety of Falt, that is an Exception out of the
General Rule, and *uis proper to begin with Exe-
cution.

There 1s an Exception to the General Coun-
cils and Canons that have been mention’d, That
there fhall not be a Divorce 4 Pineulo.  Sir, 1 fay,
it was an Ecclefiaftical Conftitution, which was
againft the Law of Gop ; and ’tis demonftrably
fo 3 for where our Saviour fays, That a Man fhall
not put away bis Wife, except in cafe of Fornication
it is plain, that in cafe of Fornication he may.

There 1s another Thing infifted on, and that
15, That there was a Reconciliation between the
Duke and his Dutchefs, °Tis true, a Reconci

Jiation fhould drown all Things before that Time.
but when the Law takes notice in cafe of 4 Rej
lapfe, that does recindefeere, it rubs upon the glg
Sore, and then that which was before laid fleep
is brought again upon the Stage, and will repyy,
with greater Vengeance,  And we have ply,
Proof of her living in the fame manner fince, 4
before.

But they would infinuate to yeu, Thar
cafe there was a T'rial in the cclehaftical Coyry,
there might be a Recrimination s but there nypg
be a Compenfation, which can’t be thought i,
this Cafe s for, I think, in this Cafe, under .
vour, there is no Compartion. 1 don’t thipk
they are Paria, for *us impoflible for the Huyf.
band to do that Injury as the Wile may ; for i
may bring 1 Baftard into the Fanuly, and the
the Eftate does not go according to the Law of
Gop and Nature, tor every body defires his
own Blood fhould fucceed him.

Sir Tho. Powys. Sir, [ fhall fay but very il
But Three or Four Things have been mention’
on the other Side, which they ofler asif they
conceiv’d them to have great Washt, and ye
they feem to me as very capable of being an.
fiver’d 5 and I crave your Favour to do it

They have gone much upon the Proofs thy
they are ready to make, and, I think, not very
properly, becaufe we {peak againft their Proceed.
ing upon this Bill 3 but I am {ure it turns upos
them: For, according to their own fhewing,
they are very well prepar’d to proceed 1n a re-
oular Courle, for they have their Witnefes ready,
and nothing docs obftruct them.

M. Serj. I/right mention’d a Thing which,
muft confefs, I was furpriz’d in; for when I told
him, he could not find any Precedent of fucha
Bill as this, without a previous I’roceeding in
the Spiritual Court; Mr. Sery. Wright faid, It
was quite otherwifes and, to fhew you 1t wa
{o, he cited two Cafes where there was no Mar-
ritge. Now I aiways underltood, a Divorc
muft be in any Cale where there was a Marriagy,
for the Cafe of Mr. Kunight’s, that was very late-
Iy : That was the Cafe of an Infant, who they
pretended to have married infra annos nubiliss
and therefore, fays he, the declaring of that
Marriage to be null and void by Act of Parlia-
ment, was a Divorce. The other was the Cule
of Mrs, Wharton, which was no Marriage nei-
ther, for Marriage muft be by Corfent, and that
was a Force: And that he fancies to be a Cale,
where there was a Divorce too, without pro-
ceeding in the Spiritual Court 5 and vet, of his
own fhewing, it was no Marriage.

Another Thing I am much more fupriz'd at,
we infifted, that they would not fhew an Act
for making a Divorce without giving the Party
an Opportunity to make a Defence 5 and the
Docor fays, in Common Cafes it ought o be fo:
And they cited the Earl of Muacclesfield we firlt
mention’d, and the Doétor told you the Progrefs
it had, and that there was a full and regular
Proceeding, of great length of Time 5 and, that
my Lady Maeclesfield had all her Witnelles exa-
min’d, and my Lord profecuted her to an Ex-
communication, which is in effeé a Sentence, for
it is in our Law us in Cafes of Outlawry., This
he calls 2 Precedent wherein they proceeded 10
eet an A& of Parhament, without a previous
Froceeding in the Spiritual Court.

‘ He

'
H
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He tells you in the next place, That notwith-
flanding the Divorce in the Cafe of my Lord
Rafs, the Parhament did examine Witnefles 5 *tis
rrue, they did, f?r' I don’t think they Wl![ {o en-
irely pin their Faith upon thofe Proceedings, as
.0 have no other Satisfaction.  But will he there-
fore fay they took no Notice of it, when ’tis the
Foundation and Ground of the Bill?

He tells you in the next place, That the Crime
does not feem equal between the one and the
other 5 and fo, in fome fort, they ridicule the
Doctor’s Notion of Recrimination.  But I ap-
prehend the Do&or is right in it for it would
he hard if 2 Man fhould marry a young Woman,
and aive her an i1l Example in his own Family,
(1 do not fay tis this Cale) and bring her ac-
quainted with loofe anfi i1l Company, and by his
Fxample or Provocation lead her into the fame
Offence ; would that Man deferve to be reward-
ed with 2 new Wife, and another Portion, be-
cwfe his firft Wife had only followed his Ex-
ample ?

They fay, the Offence 1s not equal, becaufe
the Man brings no Children into the Family.

I doubt it happens oftentimes to them thac
oo abroad, that they bring home that to their
Wives which fticks longer by them than their
Children,

T'hen to comeand fay, The Articles can’t be
of any Ufe to usat all 5 and to imagine that we
ufe the Arncles {o, that the Dutchefs might be at
perfect liberty to live in Adultery ; I wonder how
that Conceit hath followed him hither, when we
told him we had not fuch a Thought as to live in
Adultery, but they do direét her to live fepa-
rate 3 and o we ufed them, as an Anfiver to that
Part.  Weufed them hkewife as an A¢t of toral
Oblivion and Remiflion of any Thing beyond
that Time 5 and, I hope, to fuch Purpofes they
thall be thoughe facred.

Now I befeech you, Sir, on the whole Mat-
tery have they on the other Side faid one Thing
but what does totally tend to bring all Cafes of
Adultery immediately before you? Have they
diftinguifh’d this Cafe from the Cafe of any other
Perlon? And then, if they have not, I do not
fee from henceforward, that any but IFools will
g0 to the Ecclefiaftical Courts for Relief : For,
fays the Serjeant, they cannot give them a final
Reliefy and enable any Perfon to marry again,
and therefore let no body think to go there a-
cains but here is a Reliet to be had worth a
Man’s having.  But, Ihope, we fhall have the
Benefit of the Law, as it is, till you think fit to
alter ir, and then you will ereét fome Judicature,
Where People may have their Trial. Now there-
tore the Argument goes too far, or it argues no-
F]un;r; at all, becavfe, if there be any thing mn it,
ICgoes to take away the Proceedings of thofe
Courts torally.

But tho’ thofe Courts cannot do all that thefe
Gentlomen defire, they can do what is very pro-
PT to be done ; they can examine Witnefles,
nd pronounce Sentence, and zive the Party a
lall Opportunity of knowing the Accufation
ind Accufers; and chen the Cafes we have men-
Goned have had the Aid of an A& of Parlia-
ment,

oI, we have fpent a great deal of your Time
Mready s T hape,  fince you fee what Ufe they
lﬂ.lk[‘\?f the Talt Precedent of my Lord Macclef-

oL, V.
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Jield, where he did proceed to an Excominunica-
tion. Now from thence they argue, that you
fhould proceed Originally in chis Cafe.  When
1s the Time to make a Stand, but in the firft
Cafe? And then no Man can complain of any
Injury. If you grant this to my Lord, I think
in Juftice you cannot deny it to any other that
ftands inneed of it, I believe there never was the
like before, and therefore, I hope, you will put a
Stop to it here.

Mr, Dodd. The Gentlemen on the other Side
have told you, that our Saviour hath faid, That
no Man fhorld put away bis IVife, except for Foriie
cation. *Tis true, the Textis {fo, but he cannot
fhew you any Text wherein our Saviour fays,
That the Man may marry again, tho’ he might
put his Wife away. Another Thing was faid, as
to the Proceeding in the Ecclefiattical Courts:
Dr. Oldifly {ays, There is to be nothing but Exe-
cution where there is a Notoriety of Falt; and
here the Fact is notorious, and therefore you may
come up to order Execution 3 but that 1sa ftrange
Doctrine to our Englifh Conftitution. Would
they hang one firft, and try him afterwards ?
That would make Work, Let the Faét be ne-
ver fo notorious, yet ’tis the Kight of all the Peo-
ple of Eugland to havealegal Trial 5 and, Thope,
you will not interpofe dll there hath been a re-
gular Trial in another Place.

Then Sir Thomas Powys ofter’d to produce the
Articles, but they were not admitted.

ey Iy

Lune 25 Die Martii, 1400,

The Houfe refolv’d themfelves into a Cominittee of
the whole Houfe, to confider of the Duke of Nor~
folk’s Bill,

Sir Rowland Gwynne took the Chair of the
Committce of the whole Houfe.

nd the Counceil and Sollicitors weie call’d iny and
the Bill read to them 5 and then Mr. Northey, of
Council suith the Duke, open’d the Evidence thus :

Mr. Northey. § Am of Counci! for the Duke of

Norfelk, 1 fhall not trouble you
now (becaufe 1 think it not fit) to fay any thing
for the Bill, for that you have approved of by
Commitment of the Bill, and declar’d 1t to be 3
reafonable and juft Relief againft the Dutchefs,
for the Adultery charg’d in the Bill. I fhall not
{pend any of your Time in agaravating the Crime
of Adultery.

But that which 15 incumbent on his Grace’s
Council now, is to lay betore you the Proofs of
the Fact fuggefted in the Bill 5 and the Fats to
be prov’d are the Introduétion of the Bill, That
the Dutchefs has liv’d, for divers Years, in Sepa-
ration from the Duke, and had unlawful Fami-
liarity and adulterous Converfation with Sir Fol:
Gerinarire 3 and for that Falt we will call our
Witnefies.

And our Itvidence will make this out to you,
as plain as ’tis poffible to expet a Matter of this
Nature to be prov’d.

However, I think they have manag’d Things
in that manner, as we fhall be able to give as
plain a Proof of thefe Fadts as might be expected
of thofe Acts which are in their own Nature molt
publick. However, in the Naturc of the Thing,
there were but a few Perlons to be entrufted
with it, and thofe were generally Servants, who

Oo 2 had
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had Attendance on the Dutchefs’s Perfon. We
fhail produce you Servants both of the Dutchefs
and Sir Fohn Germaine; and, 1 hope, 1t cannot
be an Objetion, that they are Servants 3 for to
object to them for that Reafon, is to fay, You
fhall prove the Fact, but you fhall have no
Witnefles ; for thefe are Facts that cannot be
prov’d but by fuch as were concerned with the
Dutchefs.

For our Lvidence, it will fall out to be this:
“The Duke and Dutchefs were married in the
Year 1677, and they liv’d together till about the
Year 1685 : And then the Duke having fome
Account of her Converfation of this Nature, they
did part, and afterwards fhe came to live openly
with Sir Tolu Germaine 5 for, in May, 1689, the
Witnefles will give you an Account, that for
two Months together fhe lodg’d with Sir ol
Germaine at the Cock-pit 3 and they liv’d there
as Man and Wife, as the Witnefles phrafe it.
During the Time they liv’d there, there was a

near Relation of Sir Fobn Germaine’s, Mr, Daniel

Germaine huis Brother, and Mrs. Briane his Sifter,

did frequently come to the Houfe; and two of

the Witnefles were frequently in the Room while
they were a-bed together.

After two Months time, the Dutchefs thought

fit to be a hittle more private, and it was given
out fhe was gone to Fraunce, but in truth the re-
mov’d to Vaux-bhall, to a Houfe that was taken
by Sir Fobn Gerinaine’s Brother, and went by the
Name of my Lady Beckian 5 and fhe liv’d there
two Yecars fucceffively 5 and Sir Fobu Geimaine
came there frequently, once or twice ina Weck,
and lay there a-Nights during that Time. We
have two Witneffes that did attend the Dutchefs,
as well as at the Cock-pit 5 one of them is Ellena
Vaneffe, who was hired by Sir Fobn Germaine’s Si-
fter, and liv’d with the Dutchefs at the Cock-pit
two Months. We have a fecond Witnefs, one
Hofier, who was with Sir Fobn Germaine at the
Cock-pit fifteen Days before the Dutchefs went to
Vaux-ball 5 and afterwards he went to Varx-ball
when fhe removed there, and ftaid with her all
the two Years.

Thefc are both Foreigners, and Detch People,
and 1t was reafonable enough to expeét foreign
Witneffes, when an Englifb Dutchefs had a foreign
Gallant 1 They are fuch as he thought fit to en-
truft about her. .

After fhe had livid two Years at Vaue-ball
(this brings her to the Year 1691) fhe removed
home again to her Houlfe at Mill- Bank, and there
Sir Jobn and fhe were frequently together, and
have been feen a-bed together.

This brings us to the Time when the Duke,
having an Account that fhe had this Converfa-
tion with Sir Fohn Germaine, brought a Bill into
the Floufe of Peers for a Divorce: but it hap-
pen’d that the Ducchefs and Sir Jobu Germasne,
to avord the Condemnation, kept the WitnefTes
out of the Way, and afterwards caufed them to
be fent into Helland.

The Woman ftaid abroad ill about three
Months ago, but the Man return’d before into
Sir Fobi Germaine’s Service ; and he will give you
an Account of what Obfervations he made there,
for the Familiarity continued between them then.
He was admitted into the Room where they us'd
to be, and he will give you an Account how he
hath feen them frequently together; and he
brings it down to within the Year 1693,

2

We have another Witne(s, one Williain Bayy,
who likewife was a Servant to Sir b Gfrwfn},
and came into his Place when Hoffer-went be.
yond Sea.  He is an unwilling Witnefs, becayf.
he hath been preferred by Sir Fobr Gerinains |
but when he was upon his Oath in the ogfy,
Houfe, he did give an Account, That while |,
continued 1n Sir fobu Germaine's Service, nor.
withftanding this publick Reproach in 1695 gy,
1096, fhe frequently came to Sir Jobir Geriaiy,
Houfe, with one heemer, whom fhe had grey,
Confidence m, and one Sufawnab Barrington, |
think, yet in the Dutchiels’s Service.  And thi
Mr, Bayly will give you an Account, that s
Mafter was often from home s and when he wy;
fo, he uted to carry his Linnen to this Keesiner,
who was the Dutchefy’s Servant, or this Kec.
would come to him for it: And this wil} bring
it down to 1690, There are feveral Witneliis
to confirm this; but we think, with Submiflion,
after the Dutchefs had been fo accufed in ).
Houfe of Lords of fuch a Familiarity, any Evi.
dence of a Converfation between them afi.e.
wards, is as much as a Thoufand Witneiles ;
for no Woman that valued her Reputation, h;-
ving been accus’d as fhe was, would have hyl
any Converfation with Sir Fobn Gerinasitg after-
wards. But we don't want Circunflances 1y
fupport the Bvidence of Faét; we have as plain
Evidence in this Cafe, as can be expected i
Cafe of this Nature, We will {pend no more of
your Time, but beg Leave to call our Wi
neffes.. '

Mr. Arwosd. SirRowland Guoynne, pleale to (i
vour me with a few Words on the fame Side |
fL.all not mif-fpend the Time of the Commitiee
in repeating any thing find by Mr. Nertley ; |
fhall only obferve, that the Witnefles, i/ and
Vanefs, lay, That Sufaunch Baiiington vas privy
to this adulterous Converfation 1 And this §/a-
nab Bairingion has withdrawn her {elf fince the
Bill was depending in the Houfe of Loids.

*Tis further prov’d, That Mr. Dauid Ger-
matie and Mr. Bidane’s Wife were 1 Lilud
lately, and that thefe were privy to the fame
Converfation.

"Then the Witnefles were call’d in one by one,
and Interpreters allow'd.

The Witnefles that were examined beforc the
Committee of the Commions were Elcia Vauele,
Nicholas Hofier, William Bayly, and dun Read.

Butall, except iz Read, were examined in the
Houfe of Lords, and their Evidence there being
at large fet forth, the Reader is referred to the
fame. The Evidence of Auiz Read is as tollows :

Ann Read being afl’d, Whether fhe had ever
{een the Dutchefs go to Sir Fobu Gersaine’s Houle, -
and when ? fays, ‘That about April 1692, (which
was foon after the Duke’s Bill had been rejected
in the Houfe of Lords) fhe faw the Durchels of
Nerfolk go 1n a Chair to Sir Fobu’s Flouf:; that
the Door was immediately opened upon her
Chair’s being fer down, and fhe weat into the
Houfe with her Mafk off. '

She being afk’d, Whether fhe had feen Sir
Fobn come to the Dutchefs’'s Houfe, and when?
fays, She, within a T welve-month laft paft, or
thereabouts, followed him to the Durchefs's
Houfe, about Three of the Clock in the Al
ternoon, and, that fhe did not fex him come

OuLi,
Afwer
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After the Witnefles were examined on the
Part of the Duke of Neifolt for the Bill, Si
Thonas Powys of Council with the Dutchefs of
Norfolk, being call’d upon to make Delence, fpake
to this Effelt :

Sir Thomas Pozvys. T am at a Lofs, Sir, and un-
der fome kind of a Surprize, becaufe, as far as |
apprehend, you call upon us to make our De-
fence. 1 hope, in a Cafe of fuch Moment as this
is (and it may be there cannot be greater) and
fince you are pleas’d to take this Cafe out of the
afnal Way of Trials, and to try 1t in the firft In-
ftance, you will be pleas’d, that we fhould be
fuirly and regularly heard.  And fince it was not
allow’d us, upon our being heard againft the Bill,
thar we flould have a Time to make our Defence;;
now we have heard what the Witnceffes fwear, we
thall defire but a fhort Time, no more than what
is abfolutely neceflary, to make our Defence,
This hath {pent us fix Hours already ;5 and I am
fure the Witnefles that have been examin’d have
oiven fuch Variety of Anfwers, that it doth af-
ford a great deal to be faid toit.  We have like-
wife 2 good many Witnefles to be examin’d, but
[am far from propofing any thing to delay it.
We had 2 Week’s Time allow’d us in the Houfe
of Lords, but that is no Rule for you, and we
don’t expect it here : But, even while we are at
this Bar, a Perfon from a very worthy Member
gives us Intelligence, upon fight of this Cook-
maid, of 2 Matter that will defame her; and he
will be ready to make itout, that fhe wasturn’d
away for being a common Thiet in Holland 5 and
therefore, Sir, you fee how Time 1s neceffary in
point of Accidents that do happen; and I can-
rot make our Defence now.

Thercupon the Council withdrew ;3 and the
Committee having confider’d of the Defire of
the Council for the Dutchefs to have Time al-
low’d them to make their Defence, were of Opi-
nion, That the Council fhould proceed then ro
make their Defence ;3 and Candles were ordered
to be brought in.

And the Council being call’d in again, Sir
Reiwland Gwyine being in the Chair of the Com-
mittee, acquainted them with the Determination
of the Committce,

Then Sir Thomas Powys oblerv’d upon the Evi-
dence that had been given, and infifted, that the
Evidence given before the Committee of Com-
mons did differ from the Evidence given by them
upon Oath in the Houfe of Lords ; and offered
to produce the IXxamination of the faid Witnel-
fes upon Oath in the Houfe of Lords. And an
~ Objection being made, That fuch Examination
ought not to be read in that Cafe, as Evidence
betore this Committee 5 the Council withdrew,
and the Committee confider'd of the faid Objec-
tion, and were of Opinion, that the faid Depofi-
tions fhould not be read.

And the Council being cal’d in again, were
acquainted with it, and that if they had any Wit-
nefles, vive wece, to encounter their Evidence,
they might produce them.

St Troma; Pewys. Sir, by this Refolution my
Chent is deprived of that Defence 1 thought 1
could have made for her; but I fubmit to the
Pleafure of the Committee.

and his Dutchefs, for 2 Divorce.

Woman, privy to the whole Converfation,
prov’d to have been with her fince the Bill was
brought into the Houfe of Lords.
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Mr. Aiwoed. The Examinations in the Houfe
of Lords were fo lately, that ’tis an. eafy thing
for the Sollicitors, who were by, to give an Ac-
count of a Contraricty in the Evidence, if there
were any.

A Member.  Whether you have any other Evi-
dence to offer, but as to this Point ?

Sir The, Powys. A} our Evidence would tend
to contradict thefe Witneffes ; and if the reading
of thofe Depofitions won’t be allow’d, we muit
abide your Pleafure, and fubmit it to you.

Mr. Dodd, We maft fubmic it ro you; our
Witneffes were in Concurrence with that fort of
Lvidence. .

Sir Rowland Gwyme. There are feveral Per-
fons named, who are Perfons of Credir, and
good Reputation, Mr. Briane and his Lady, M.
Daniel Germaine and his Sifter 5 thefe would be
Witnefles of Credir, againft thofe that are, you
fay, not of Credit.

Council. We have fummon'd them, and Mrs:
Pitts, and done all that we could on our Side to
get them here ; and I hope you won’t prejudge
our Cale, to fay they are in our Intereft 5 that is
to determine the Queftion. We have likewife
fummon’d Mrs. Pitss and her two Maids 3 and
whether they will appear, or not, that we cannot
tell 3 but this we are ready to make out to you.

Mr. Atwood. Sufannab Barriugton, the Dutchels’s

|
15

A Member. 'Whether he has one living Wit-

nefs to produce, that he can make good his De-

fence by ?

Sir The. Powys. Sir, if you expe@ an Anfwer
by me, I am aflur’d that we have Witnefles 5 but
if I cannot bring thofe Peopleagaintt themfelves,
if I cannot bring Nichola againtt Nichola, 1 de-
(pair of doing any good, if I bring a thoufand
other Witnefles againft him: And thercfore I
pray this Favour of you, That fince ’tis your
Pleafure that this Evidence be not ailow’d, you
will not make a bad Conftruétion of it, that 1 do
not proceed to make a Defence to this Bill 5 for
I cannot truly do it, unlefs I had fome other In-
ftructions from my Client, but fhall defeat her
Expectation to proceed upon the other Part of
the Cafe, fince what we built upon with good
Authority, as we thought, 1s not thought fit to
be admitted.

Sir Rowland Gewynie. Sir, you are at liberty to
oo on, if you have any thing more to fay, than
that you cannot proceed without further Direfti-
on$ from your Chent.

A Meiber. Whether they have any thing to
offer in the Defence of the Dutchefs, upon the
Crime fhe 1s charg’d, with 5 for, 1 believe, ’tis a
new Thing for the Conncil, when their Client
is charg’d with a Crime, to fay, They cannot
defend her unlefs they go and aflk, whether they
fhall defend hey, or no? If they have any thing
to fay in her Defence, we fhall be ready to hear
1t

Sir Rowland Gwynne.  Sir Thomas Peiwys, have
you any thing more to fay ?

Sir T4, Powys. I cannot but repeat what 1
have already faid, Thac I would be glad to make
the beft Delence this Cafe may bear 5 and 1 may
fay, I have defended it twice with very good
SUL‘CL’IE,
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Succefs, and this is a third Time 3 and I would
make the beft Defence this Cafe would bear now.
And I muft own to you, that the Courfe of our
Fvidence, we did propofe to our felves, 1s fo far
broke, by the firt Determination you Werc
pleafed to make, that 1 cannot venture upon the
reft of the Defence, if fo be your Pleafurc benot
to admit of this Matter. '

Sir Rowland Guynne. You may, by any Solli-
citors or Agents, that were prelent when thefe
Witnefles were examin’d in the Houfe of Lords,
prove what they fwore there.

Mr. Dodd. We apprehend you have already
determin’d the Matter, and we cannot now med-
dle with it 5 butif I apprehend it aright from
the Chair, *tis your Opinion, that we may pro-
duce the Sollicitors and Agents, to give an AC-

count of what was fworn 1n the Houfe of I opds
Now we are under this Difabiity by your De.
termination, ‘That we, relying upon what *0-
have determined againft us, are not prepar’d 13itlu
our Sollicitors, or others, to give Lvidence 0}
that Matter, but, in a lictle Time, they will

able to give you an Account of what was thcs

fworn.
Mr. Arwoed. Tt {eems they want to be tauely
w

their Leflon.

And then the Council withdrew, and the
Committee proceeded upon the Bill, Claufe b
Claule, and went thro’ it, and order’d the l‘:un)!:
to be reported ; which was donc accordingly ;

upon which the Bill pals'd.

CLXVI. Th



¢ ; AL SEL X G R v C- 8N \
T IR D AT DR IR T (SR W TR IR
) O S s e e e 7
U G NG WA R S R R SN R

CLXIX. The Trial of Captain Wirriam Kipp, at 1he Old-
Baily, for Murder and Piracy upon the High-Seas ; and of
Nicholas Churclull, James Howe, Robert Lamley, William
Jenkmns, Gabriel Loff, Hugh Parrot, Richard Barlicorn,
Abel Owens, and Darby Mullins, for Piracy, May 8th and
oth, 1701, 135 Will Il

R E King’s Coimmiffion for bolding the  Kidd. My Lord, 1 have fome Matter of I aw
a Court being fift read, they pro- relating to the Indictment, and I defire I may
) ceeded to call the Gentlemen fum-  have Council to fpeak to ir.

" moned upon the Grand-Jury, and  Dr, Oxenden. What Matter of Law can you
the Perfons fworis weve the Seven- have?

J teen foll wing, viz. C/ of Arr. 1low doeshe know what it is he is
charged with? I have not told him.

Willam Broughton, ) [ Stephen Thampfon, Mr. Recorder. You muft let the Court know
Thomas Hanwel!, Thoinas Coaper, what thofe Matters of Law are, before you can
Daniel Borawell, | Robert Gozoer, have Council affigned you.
Humphry Bellamy, g Robert Cleinent, Kidd. They be Matters of Law, my Lord.
Na:h, Rolfton, Sen. 3 Themas Seffor, Mr. Recorder. Mr, Kidd, do you know what
Fofbua Bolton, VA Witlian Goodwin, you mean by Matters of Law ¢
Benjamin Pike, Rebert Callow, Kidd. 1 know whatImean ;s I defire to put
Jofeph Marlow, Thomas Hazws. off my Trial as long as I can, tllTcan get my
Benjamin Travis, 4 * Evidence ready.

Mr. Record:r. Mr, Kidd, you had beft mention
(L. of drr. Gentlemenof the Grand- Jury, ftand  the Matter of Law you would infift on.

together, and hear the Charge. Dr. Oxenden. It cannot be Matter of Law, to put

off your Trial, but M.tter of Faét.

Th: King’s Majefty commands all Fuftices of the High  Kidd. 1 defire your Lordfhip’s Favour ; I de-
Cotrt of Adimiralty, that have any Autbority to fire Dr. OMifb and Mr. Lesmmon may be heard as
fakeaity Iuguifitions, Recognizances, Examinati- to my Cale,
aitsy or Iufcrinations of Offences committed within - Cl. of Arr What can he have Council for, he-
the Jurifdiction of the Admivalty of England, fo  fore he has pleaded ?
delive the Records of the fame into this Courty,  Mr Recorder. Mr. Kidd, the Court tells you,
&c. And allothers are commanded to keep Silence, you fhall be heard what you have to {ay when
stpon Pain of Tmprifonment. you have pleaded to your Indi@ment. I you

plead to it, 1If you will, you may affign Matter

of Law, if you have any 5 but then youmult lec
the Court know what you would infift on.

Then Dr.Oxenden gave the Charge to the Grand-
furs, explaining the Nature of the Commiffion,

and the Crimes enquirable by Vertue of it by the Kidd. 1beg your Lordthip’s Patience till T can

Graind- Jury. procure my Papers. I had a Couple of Freuch
Tocit the Grand-Yury withdrew, and after fome Pafles, which I muft make ufe of in order to my

Line veturned into Court, and found the Bill of Juftification.

Indictinert againft Coptain Kidd for Murderyand = Mr. Recorder. Thatis not Matter of Law. You

Gimther againft bim and Nicholas Churchill, have had long Notice of your Trial, and might

james Howe, Robert Lamley, William Jen-  have prepared for it.  How long have you had

kins, Gabriel Loff, Hugh Parrot, Richard Noticeof your Trial?

Barlicorn, Abel Owens, and Darby Mullins, Kidd, A matter of a Fortnight,

for Piracy.  Then Proclamation (asufual) being  Dr. Ovender. Can you tell the Names of any

made, the aforcfaid Prifoners were brought 1o the  Perfons that you would make ufe of in your

Bar, and drraigned. Defence ¢

Kidd. I fent for them, but I could not have
CLof Arr. William Kidd, hold up thy Hand,  them.
Kidd. May it pleafe your Lordfhips, Idefire  Dr. Oxenden. Where were they then ?

YoUu 1o permit me to have Council. Kidd. I brought them to my Lord B:llamont
: D:Ir-*Recar(fer. Whatwould you have Council  in New- England,
or I

* Sir Salathiel Loyel, M R
. -
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Mr. Recorder. What were their Names? You
cannot tell without Book.  Mr. Kidd, the Court
fe no Reafon to put off your Trial, therefore
you muft plead.

Cl. of Arr. W.Kidd, hold up thy Hand.

Kidd. 1beg your Lordfhips I may have Coun-
cil admitted, and that my Trial may be put offs

I am not really prepared for 1t.
Mr. Recorder. Nor never will, if you could heip

it

Dr. Oxenden. Mr. Kidd, you have had reafona-
ble Notice, and you knew you muft be tried,
and therefore you cannot plead you are not rea-
dy.
YKM:Z. If your Lordfhips permit thofe Papers
to be read, they will juftify me. Idefire my
Council may be heard.

Mr. Coniers, We admir of no Council for him.

Mr. Recorder. There is no Iflue joined 5 and
therefore there can be no Council affigned.  Mr.
Kidd, you muft plead.

Kidd. 1 cannot plead till I have thofe Papers
that I infifted upon,

Mr. Lemmon. He ought to have his Papersde-
liverc: to him, becaufe they are very material for
his Defence.  He has endeavoured to have them,
but could not get them.

Mr. Coniers, Youare not to appear for any one
till he pleads, and that the Court afligns you for
his Council.

Mr. Recorder. They would only put off the
Trial,

M. Conicrs. He muft plead to the IndiGtment.

Cl. of Arr. Make Silence.

Kidd. My Papers were all feized, and I cannot
make my Defence without them. T defire my
Trial may be put off till I can have them.

Mr, Recorder. The Court is of Opinion, they
ought not to ftay for all your Evidence ; it may
be they will never come.  You muft plead, and
then if you can futisfy the Court, that there 15 a
Reafon to put off your Trial, you may.

Kidd, My Lord, Ihave Bufinefs in Law, and
I defire Council.

My, Recorder. Mr. Kidd, the Coutle of Courts
15, when you have pleaded, the Matter of Trial
is next: If you can then fhew there is Caule to
put off the Trial, you may ; but now the Matcer
is to plead.

Kidd. It isa bard Cafe when all thefe Things
(hall be kept from me, and I be forced to plead.

Mr. Recorder. If he will not plead, there mult
be Judgment.

Kidd. My Lord, would you have me plead,
and not have my Vindication by me ?

Cl. of drr. Will you plead to the Indiftment?

Kidd. 1 would beg that I may havemy Papers
for my Vindication.

Cl. of Arr. Nicholas Churchill, hold up thy
Hand.

Churchill. My Lord, T defire I may have the
Benefit of the Proclamation; I came in upon the
King’s Proclamation.

Mr. Recorder. 1f you do not plead, the Court
mult pafs Judgment uponyou. You can haveno
Benefit in what you fay, tll you have pleaded.
If you were indicted for Felony, and you will
not plead, the Law takesit in Nature of a Con-
fefion, and Judgment muft pafs, asif you were
proved guilty.

Cl. of drr. Nicholas Chirchill, hold up thy Hand,

3

Yasmes Howe, hold upthy Hand.  Robeis Lainley,

hold up thy Band. (Which they did)

My, Recorder. T¥. Kidd bhas not held up i
Hand.

Cl of Arr. He docs hold up his Hand, 171
liam Feukins, hold up thy Hand.  Gaviiel Lof,
hold up thy Hand.  Hugh Parroty hold up thy
Hand.” Richard Barlicorn, hold up thy Flang,

Abel Owens, hold up thy Hland.
Ouwens. 1 came in upon the King’s Proclima-

tion, and entered my felf into the King’s Ser-
vice.

Mr. Recorder. Youmulplead brit, and then,
if there be Occafion, you will have the Bencfit of
‘t. (Then bz beld up bis Hand.)

Cl.of Arr. Darby Mullins, hold up thy Hand,

Mullins. May it pleafe your Lordfhips, 1 came
in voluntarily on the King’s Proclamation.

Mr. Recorder. T his is the fame Cafe with Oz
ens, you muft fpeak to that afeerwards.

Cl. of Ayr. V. Kidd, you ftand indicted by the
Name of #illiam Kidd, &c  Art thou guilty or
not guilty ?

Kidd. I cannot plead to this Indiltment, til
my French Pafles ase deliver’d to me.

Cl. of Arr. Are you guilty or not guilty?

Kidd. My Lord, I infift upon my FreachPs-
pers; pray let me have them.

Mr. Recorder, Thatmuft not be now, tilf you
have put your feif upon your Tl

Kidd. That muft juftify me.

Mr. Recorder. You may plead it then, 1t the
Court fee Caule.

(idd, My Juftification depends on them.

Mr. Recorder. Nr. Kidd, I muft tell you, if you
will not plead, you muft have Judgment againit
you, as ffanding mute,

Kidd. 1 cannot plead till I have thefe Papers;
and I have not my Witneffes here,

Mr. Reserder. You do not know your own -
tereft 5 if you will not plead, you muft have
Judgment again{t you.

Kidd. If I plead, I thallbe acceflary to my ow
Death, till I have Perfons to plead tor me.

Mr. Recorder. You are acceflary to your own
Death, if you do not plead. We cannot enter
into the Evidence, unlefs you plead.

Cl.of Arr. Are you guilty or not guilty ¢

Mr. Recorder. He does not underftand the Laws
you muft read the Statute to him.

Cl. of Arr. Mir. Kidd, are you guilty of thisP-
racy, or not guilry ?

Kidd. 1f you will give me a little Time to find
my Papers, I will plead.

Cl. of A, There is no Reafon to give you
Time 5 will you plead or not ?

M. Coniers. Be pleafed to acquaint him with
the Danger he ftands in by not pleading, What
ever he fays, nothing can avail him till hs pleads

Mr. Recorder. Hle has been told fo, out dots
not believe us, _

Mr. Goniers. If there be any Reafon 1o put of
his Trial, it muft be made appear after [ffue 15
joined,

M. Recorder. 1 you fay guilty, there is an enc
ofit; but if you fay not guilty, the Court can
examine into the Iact.

Officer. He fays he will plead.

Cl. of Arr. W/. Kidd, art thou guilty or not
guilty ?

Kidd. Notguwlty. oL
¢
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Cl. of Arr How wilt thou be tried ¢

Kidd. By God and my Country.

Cl. of Arr. God fend thee a good Deliverance,
(/i fo of all the reff. ) |

kidd. My Lord, [ beg I n:ay have my Trial
put off for three or four Days, till I have got my

apeis,
i ]E'ir. Recorder. The Judgeswill be here by and
by.and youmay move the Courtthen s we are only
o prepare for your Trial: We do not deny your
hjviion; but when the Courtis full, they will
conlider of the Reafons you have to offer.

Jfor Murder and Piracy. . 289

Kidd, felonionfly, wolumtarily, and of his Malice
afore-thought, did kill and murther the aforefaid
William Moore, #pon the High Sea aforefaid, and
within the furifdittion of the Admiralty of England
aforclaid, in manner and forin aforefaid, againft the
Peace of our faid Sovereign Lord the King, bis Crown
and Diguity, &c.

How fay’ft thou, William Kidd, art thouguiley
of this Murder, whereof thou ftandeft indifted,
or not guiity !

Kidd. Not guilty.

Cl. of Arr. How wilt thou be tried ?

Kidd. By God and my Country,

Cl. of Arr. God fend thee a good Deliverance,
Nichelas Chuyehill, Fames Howe, Robert Lamly,
WillianFenkins, Gabiiel Loff, Hugh Parrot, Richard
Barlicorin, Abel Owens, Darby Mullins, hold up
your Hunds. You the Prifonersat the Bar, thofe

Then William Kadd swas t#ied upon the Inditiment
Jer A Turder.
L. of drr. . Kidd, Hold up thy Fland : Thoy
fandelt indicted by the Name of Williem Kidd,
Lie of Loidon, Mariner, &5

The &rft Indi@tment for MURD ER,

HE TFurors for our Severeign Lord the King,
do, upon their Qath, prefent, That William
hidd, fate of London, Mariner, not having the
Jeir of Gob befeie bis Eyes, but being moved and
fiduced by the Dnfiigation of the Devil, the Thirtieth
Darof Olaber, in the Ninth Year of the Reign of our

Severcion Lord, William the Third, by the Grace of

Gop, ¢f Lingland, Scotland, France, and Ireland,
Kring, Defender of the Faith, &c. by Ferce and Arms,
&c. upeir the High Sea, wiecar the Coaft of Malabar,
i the Voall-Indies, and within the Jurifdiclion of the
Aiwivalty of England, 1 a certain Ship, called the
Adventure-Galley  (whereof the faid W illiam Kidd
thei scas Commander ) then and there being, feloui-
eafly, wolwntarily, and of bis Malice afore-thought,
theit and theve did make an Affault, in and upon one
William Moore, 7i the Peace of God, and of onr
faid Severcign Lerd the King, to wit, then and theie
being, and to the Ship aforcfaid, call'd the Adven-
wre-Galley, then and there beloiiging 5 and that the
cfercford Willam Kidd, with a certain oodcn
Bk, bownd with [ren Hoops, of the Value of
Light-peicey wizieh be the faid Willam Kidd thos
aitd the bed and held in bis ripht Hand, did vio-
Litly, folowionfly, vcluntarily, and of kis Malice a-
Jiie-thought, beat aid fsike the aforcferd Williany

Moore, in and njon the vight Part of the Head of

Lo the faid Willlam Moore, a File eheve the
right Eair of the ja:d Williamy Moote, then aid there
wpeit the High Sca, in the Skip afordfaid, and within
be Furifdiction of the Adwivalty of England afore-
faid, giving the faid William Moove, then and there
wit the Bucket aforcfard, in and upon the afirefaid
right Part of the Head of bim the feid Willam
Moore, @ little aleve the vight Ear of the jfaid
William Moore, ane mortal Bruife s of which mei-
1e! Bruife the aforefaid W illiam Moore, fiom the faid
Tristicth Day of O&ober, in the Ninth 2vir afores
Joids watil the One and Thivtic:h Day of the [aid
Meath of Oltober, i the Drar aforclaid, upoi the
f:’:grf? S.a aforefatd, in the Ship aforefaid, and within
e furddiction of the Addmirelry of England cfere-
Jaidy did lawguifh, ond lenguifbing did live 5 upon
which Ouwe and Thirtieth Day of Ocltober, 7t the
Niuth ear eforefaid, the aforefaid William Moore
“pon the High Sea aforefaid, near the aforefoii Coaft
of Malabar, in the Faft-Indies eforefaid, inthe Ship
afviifaid, called the Adventure-Galley, and <within
ihe Furifliction of the Admiralty of England aforc-
faid, did dies and fo the Surors aforefaid, upon their
Oah {;/bﬁﬁf% do fay, That the aforgfaid William
oL, V,

Mer that you [hall hear called, and perfonally
appear, are to pafs between our Sovereign Lord
the King, and you, upon Trial of your feveral
Lives and Deaths. If therefore you, orany of
you, will challenge them, or any of them, your
Time is to fpeak to them as they come to the
Book to be fwvorn, and before they be fvorn.

idd. My Lord, I defire Council may be af-
figned me.

Mr. Recorder. Capt. Kidd, I told you it would
be your Time, when the Jury was called, to offer
what you had to offer ; therefore, if you have any
Thing now to fay to the Court, you had beft
fay it. |

me’d. I beg I may have Council, Dr. OXjf,
and Mr. Lemmon, that they may be heard on my
behalf.

Mr. 1. Powel, If he defires 1t, you may be
Council for him, provided there be any Matter
of Law that he has to plead ; otherwife he muft
be tried.

Dr. O/difh. My Lord, he moves that his Ttial
for Piracy may be put off for feveral Reafons; one
is, there 1s one Dawis, that 1sa neceffary Witne(s
for him; he was raken a Paflenger into the Ship,
and therefore could nor be concerned n any Pi-
racy : Now this Davis flands inditted, lo that he
1s deprived of this Purion, who 1s a neceflary
Witnefs for him in this Cafe.

Mr. Coniers. He is not indicted yet; he may
call him if he thinks fit,

Mr. J. Powel. 1f he be indicted, yet he may be
2 Witnels,

Dr. Oldifb. My Lord, we defirehe may be here,

Mr, J. Powel, Where is he?

Cl, of Arr. He is in Newgate.

Mr. J. Powel. Let him be fent for,

Dr Oidifb. My Lord, it is very fit his Trial
fhould bedelay’d for fome time, brcaufe he wants
fome Papers very neceffary for his Defence.  1’s
very true, he is charged with Piracies in feveral
Ships 5 but they had french Palles when the Sei-
zure was made. Now if there were French Palles,
it was a lawful Seizure,

Mr. J. Powel. Have you thofe Pafies ?

Kidd, They were taken from me by my Lord
Bellamant 3 and thefe Paffes would be iy Delence,

Dr. Oxenden.  Had you any other Pafles when
you took the Armenian Ship ?

Dr. Olifh, I thofe Ships that he took hhd
French Pafles, there was juit Caule of Seizure,

and it will excufe him from Piracy.
Pp Kidd,
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Kidd. The Paffes were feized by my Lord Bel-
Jamont, that we will prove as clear as the Day.

Mr. Lemmon. My Lord, Idefire one Word as
o this Circumftance ; he was doing his King and
Country Service, inftead of being a Pirate: For
in this very Ship there wasa French Pafs, and 1t
was thewn to Mr. Davis, and carried to my Lord
Bellamont, and he made a Setzure of it. And there
was a Letter writ to teftify it, which was pro-
duced before the Parliament 5 and that Letter has
been tranfmitted from Hand to Hand, fothat we
cannot at prefent come by it.  There arc feveral
other Papers and Letters that we cannot get ;
nd therefore we defire the Trial may be put off

till we can procure them.

L. C.B. Ward. Where are they ?
M. Lemmon. We cannot yet tell whether they

e in the Admiraley-Office, or whether Mr,
Fodrell hath them.

Mr. . Powel. Let us fce.on what you go.
You talk of French Paffes; you fhould have been
prepared to make Affidavic of it. What Ship
was that which had the French Pafles ?

Mr. Lemmen. The fame we were in, the fame
he is indiéted for.

M. 7. Powel. Make out this, Mr. Lemmon 2

Mr. Lemon. My Lord, we defire Mr. Davis
may be fent ; for he will prove it.

i,. C.B. Ward. Send for Edwaird Davis.

Mr. Fell. My Lord, will you have him brought
into Court ?

L.C.B. Ward. Yes.

Mr. Soll. Gen. They have had a Fortnight’s
Notice to prepare for the Trial,

Dr. Oldifh. We petitioned for Moncy, and the
Court ordered fifty Pounds 5 but the Perfon that
received it went away, and we had none till Jaft
Night.

Dr. Osenderr. 1 ordered that the Money might
be paid inzo his own Hands, that he might be

{ure to have It.
Mr, Crawlzy, Regilter, declar’d, That he paid

the Fifty Pounds into his own Hands on Tuefday
Morning.

1.. C.B.7Vard. You ought to make 1t out,
that there is a reafonable Caufe to put off the
Trial, or elfe it cannot be allowed.

Mr. Lemmon. My Lord, we will be ready To-

morrow Morning.
L. C. B. I¥ard. They ought to have had due

Notice; what Notice have they had ?
Mr. Soll. Gen. A Tortnight’s Notice, this Day

Fortnight.
Dr. O/difh. My Lord, he fhould have had lus

Money delivered to him,

Kidd. 1 had no Money nor Friends to prepare
for my Trial till laft Night.

L.C.B. Ward, Why did you not fignify fo
much to the King’s Officers ?

Mr. Soll.Gen.MyLord, thiswe will do; Let Da-
is be brought into Courty and if that be a juft
Excufe, we are contented. In the mean time, let
him be tried for the Murder, wherein there js no
Pretence of want of Witnefies or Papers.

Officer. Davis is here, my Lord.

Cl. of Arr. Set all afide but Capt. Kidd. 1Villian
Kidd,Y ou arc now to be tried on the Bill of Mur-
der 3 the Jury is going to be fworn ; if you have
any Caufe of Exception, you may {peak to them
as they come to the Book.

Jill, Kidd, 1 fhall challenge none ; I know
nothing to the contrary but they are honeft Men.

The Ju r v {worn, were,

N ¢ Henry Sherdrook,
Ienry Dry,
Richard Grecuasoay,
Fo. Sherbroox,
Tho. Emins,

Rog. Mot1.

Nathaniel Long,
Yo, Ewers, ‘

Yo. Child, 2

Ed. Reeves, |
Nath. Greeu, ]

Tho. Clark,

After Proclamation wmade (as ufual) the Coyt
proceeded 1o the Trial, as follows :

CL. of Arr. V. Kidd, hold up thy Hand. {7V
be did.) You Gentlemen of the Jury, look upon
the Prifoner,and hearken to his Caufe. He ftang;
indicted by the Name of IFilliam Kedd, ey
hefore in the Indiétment.  Upon this Indictmen,
he has been arraigned, and thereanto has pleaded
Not Guilty, and for his Trial has put hm:felf o,
God and his Country, which Couatry you ar:
Your Charge 15 to enquire, Whether he be guiliy
of the Murder whereof he ftands indited, i,
Manner and Form as he ftands indiéted, or No
Guilty, {Je.

Mr. Knap. My Lord, and you Grentlemen of
the Jury.

This is an Indi@ment of Murder. The Indid-
ment fets forth, That William Kidd, ¢ th: 304
of OCtober, on the high Sea, on the Coaft of My
bar, did affault ene William Moore, o1 bsard a Shia
called the Adventure, <whbercof William Kidd ;s
Captain, firuck bim with a wwooden Brcke!, booped
with Iron, onthe Side of the Heady near the vightEar,
and that of this Braife be died the next Day, aid |,
that be has murdeved the fame Perfon. To thishh
ditment he pleaded Not Guilty : If we prove
him Guilty, you muft find him {o.

Mr. Sell. Gen. My Lord, and Gentlemien of the
Jury, we will prove this as particularly as can b,
that William Kidd was Captain of the Ship, and
that WWilliain Mocre was under hum in the Ship,
and thatwithoutany Provocation he gave him this
Blow whereof he dicd.

Mr.Conicrs. MyLord, it willappear to be a molt
barbarousFa&, tomurder 2 Man 1n this manner;
for the Man gave him no manner of Provocation.
This WilliamMoore was a Gunner in the Ship, and
this Jilliain Kidd abufes him, and calls him Loyfr
Dog 5 and, upon a civil Anfwer,he takes thisBucket
and knocks him on the Head, whereof he died the
next Day. Call Fofeph Palmer, and Robert Bradin-
basr. (Whoappear’d, and were fworin. ) ofeph Paliiir,
give my Lord and the Jury an Account of what
you faw done by William Kidd, on the Coaft of
Malabar, as to William Mgore s Gunner,

Yofeph Pahuer.  About a Fortnight before this
Accident fell out, Capt. Kidd met with a Ship on
that Coaft, that was called the Loyal Captain. And
about a Fortnight after this, the Gunner was
grinding a Chiffel aboard the Adveniure, on_the
high Sea near the Coaft of Malabar, in tne Edft-
Indies.

Mr. Conjers. What was the Gunner’s Name?

Jofeph Palmer. William Moore: And Capt. Kids
came and walked on the Deck, and walks by this
Adoore 5 and when he came to him, fays, #hbichway
could you have put me in a IVay to take this Ship, oid
been clear 2 Siry fays William Moore, 1 never fpoke
fuch a Word, wor ever thought fuch a Thing. Upon
which Capt. Kidd called him a Loufy Dog. And
fays William Moore, If I am a Loufy Dog, youhave

made me o 5 you have brought me to Ruin, and 1iahy
’ FHETC
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..o, Upon his faying this, fays Captain Kidd,
tjgue Truin’dyott, ye Deg? and took a Bucket bound
vich Tron Hoops, and ftruck him on the right
ideof the Head, of which hedied the next Day.

Mr. Cowwper. What was the Gunner doing at
Jat Time that he gave him the Blow?

Fofoph Palner. He was grinding a Chiffe] at
4o ‘Time that he truck him,

Mr, Coweper. Did he give him the Blow imme-
Jiately after he gave him that Anfwer? |

Yofeph Palimer. He walk’d two or three times
backward and forward upon the Deck before he
firuck the Blow,

Mr. J. Turton, What did Captain Kidd fay Grft?

Yofeph Palmer. IWhich way could you bave put me
in o IVay of taking this Ship, and been clear? Says
the Gunner, [ ucver faid fo, noi thought any fuch
Thing. | |

Mr, Coweper. Hark you, Friend, explain that
Matter.

Mr. Baron Flatfell. What was the Occalion

of thofe Words;
Palier. It was concerning this Ship.

L. C. B. Ward. What Ship was it? Name
the Ship.

Paliier. 1t was the Loval Captain. Captain Kidd
(iid to I#1lliam Moore, Which way conld you have put
me i the IVay to have taken thisShip, and been cloar?
Says Williaim Moore, I uever faid fuch a Thing, nor
thonght it. - Upon that he calP’d him Loufy Dog.

L. C, B. I7ard. Was that Ship taken?

Palier. No, fhe was gone,

Mr. Cosiiers. Xou fay he call’d him Loufy Dgg ?

Palier. Yes.

Mr, Coniers. \What did William Meore fay to
him then?

Paliner. He faid, If I ama Loufy Dog, you have
brought e to it 5 you have ruin’d me and many wmore.
Uponthis, fays Captain Kidd, Heve I brought Yot
to Rumy you Dog? Repeating 1t two or three
times over, and took a turn or two upon the
Deck, and then takes up the Bucket, and ftrikes
him on the Head.

Mr. Cowper, You fay he made a turn or two
on the Deck, and then ftruck him.

Palmer. Yes.

Mr. Coniers. Tell my Lord what pafs’d next af-
ter the Blow,

Pelier. He was let down the Gun-room, and
the Gunner faid, Farewel, farewel, Captain Kidd
bas given me sy laff.  And Captain Kidd ftood on
the Deck, and faid, 2su've a Villain.

‘Mr. Cowper. How near was Captain Kidd to
him when he faid he had given him his latt?

Paliner, He was near him.

Mr, Grwper. Was he within hearing of what
Meore faid ?

Palmer, Yes, hewas within feven or eight Foot.

Mr, Sol. Gen. Did you apprehend that he died
of that Blow?

Palyer. He was in perfect Healch before that.

Mr, $ol, Gen. Whatdid the Surgeon think of it ¢

Palmer. The Surgeon is here.

Mr. 8ol G, Did you fee him afterwards?

: i’{zlﬁwr. No, I did notfee him after till he was
cad.

Mr. Cowper. How did the Wound appear when
you faw him? |
Palmer. After he was dead, the Surgeon was
call’d to open his Head, and Caprain Kidd faid,
You ave damipd bufy without Orders.
VoL, V.,
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Mt. Cogper. 'The® we afk you Queftions, you,
muft turn your lace there, towards the Jury.
Give the Jury an Account of what you faw.

Paliwer, 1 felt on his Head, and I felr fome-
thing give way, and about the Wound there was
a Bruile,

Mr. Coszper. You fay you faw him when he
was carried off, after the Blow; How did his
Flead appear then? Was he bloody?

Palmer, There was not nuich Blood came {rons
him,

L.C.B. Ward. Was you by when thefe Words
were {poken?

Paliner. Yes, my Lord.

L.C.B. Ward, Did you fee the Prifoner give
the Blow with the Bucket upon thofe Words?

Paliey, Yes, my Lord.

L.C.B. Ward. How long was it before he
went down the Deck?

Palmer, Prefently.

L. C.B. I7ard, Did he complain of the Wound ?

Palmer, Lle faid, Furewel, forewcel, CaptainKidd
has given me my lafl,

L.C.B, Ward, Was this Myere ina good Condi-
tion ot Iealth before this Blow was given him?

Palmer. Yes, my Lord.

L. C.B. Ward. And afterwards he complain’d ?

Paliner. Yes, my Lord.

L.C.B. I"ard. When he was dead, what
Marks were on his Head ?

Palper. On the right Side of his Head, on this
Place ( pointing to bis own Head ) it was bruis’d a
confiderable breadth 5 and in one Place I could
feel the Skull give way. |

Mr. Cowper. How longafter theBlow did he die?

Palmer. The next Day following,

Mr. Cowper. And you fay you fawhimdead then?

Palmer, Yes, Sir.

L. C.B. WWard, Captain Kidd, if you will afk
him any Queftions, you may.

Kidd. My Lord, 1 would afk this Man what
this Moore wasdoing when this thing happen’d?

L.C.B. WPaid. Mr Palmer, you hear what he
fayss What was Meore doing?

Palmer. +1e was grinding a Chiflel.

Kidd. What wasthe Occafion thatI ftruck him?

Palmer. The Words that I told you before,

Kidd. Was there no other Ship?

Palmer. Yes.

Kidd. What was thar Ship?

Palner, A Dutch Ship.

Kidd. What were you doing with the Ship?

Palmer. She was becalm’d.

Kidd. This Ship wasa League trom us, and
fome of the Men would have taken her, and [
would not confent to ity and this Mpore faid Ial-
ways hmder’d them making their Fortunes:
Was not that the Reafon 1 ftruck him? Was
there a Mutiny on board ? o _

Palmer. No s you chaced this Dutchman, and in
the way took a Malabar Boat,and chaced thisShip
all the whole Night; and they fhew’d their Co-
lours, and you put up your Colours,

Kidd. This is nothing to the Point: Was
there no Mutiny aboard ? _

Palmer. There was no Mutiny, all.was quiet.

Kidd. Was there not a Mutiny, becaufe they
would go and take that Dutchman ¢

Palmer. No, noneat all.

Mr. Coniers. Call Robert Bradinbam.

Fury. What was the Caufe that he {truck him?
Ppe Palmer,
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palner. A Fortnight before this was done, we
met with this Layal Captain, of which Capt. Hoar
was Commander, and he came on board Captan
[idds Ship, and Captain Kidd went on board his,
and then Captain Kidd let this Ship go. About a
Fortnight after this, the Gunner was grinding his
Chifiel on the Deck, and Captain Kidd faid to
him, Wbich cway could you bave put me inatVay to
take this Ship, and been clear? To which he re-

Bradiubam. Yes. .
Mr. Cowper. Hlad you any Difcourfe with Cap.

tain Kiddatcer this about this Man’s Death.
Bradinbam. Some Time after this about twe
Months, by the Coaft of Malabar, Captain KidJ
faidl, 1 donot care fo much for the Death of 5y Gunner
as for other Paffages of iy Voyage s for I have goo)
Friends in England, that witl bring me off for thay,
L. C.B. [Vard. Mr. Kidd, will you afk him any

Queftions ?

G4l 1 alk him, Whether he knew of any Dif.
forence between this Gunner and me before this
happen’d ?

Bradinbam. 1 knew of no Dilterence betwee
them at all.

Mr. So/l. Gen. Mr. Kidd, Have you any Thing

more to afk him ¢

Kidd. No.

Mr. Coniers. Then we have done for the King

L.C.B. Verd. Then you may make your De
fence. You are charg’d with Murder, and you
have heard the Fvidence that has been given,
What have you ro fay for your felf ?

Kidd 1 have Evidence to prove 1t 15 no fuch
thing, if they may be admitted to come hicher,
My Lord, I will tell you what the Cafe was: |
was coming up within a League of the Dutchinan,
and fome of my Men were making a Mutiny a.
bout taking her, and my Gunncr told the People
he could put the Captain in a2 Way to take the
Ship, and be fafe.  Says 1, Iosw <ol you do that ?
The Gunner anfwer’d, #7e willget the Caplainail
Men aboard. And what then? I7ewill go aboard ti:
Ship, andplunder ber, andwewil! have it wider thiir
Honds thar we did not take ber. Says L, this is Ju-
das fike, I daie nut do fuch a Thing. Says he, Weiniy
do it, we are Beggars alveady. Why, fays 1, mayu:
take this Ship becanfe we are Poor £ Upon thata
Mutiny arofe : So I took up a Bucket, and juft
throw’d itat him, and {aid, 2on are a Rogue fomae
fuch a Motion. This I can prove, my Lord,

L. C. B. Ward. Call your Evidence.
M. Cowwper. Mr. Palmer, was there any Mutiny

in the Ship when this Man was killed ?
Palvicy. There was none.

L. C.B. ¥ ard. Captain Kidd, call what Evi

dence you will.

Kidd. They are Prifoners; I defire they may
be call’d up.

L., C. B Ward. Whatever other Crimes they
may be guilty of, they may be Witnefies for him
in this Cafe,

Mr.Baron.Hatfell. Mr,Palmer, did he throw the
Bucket at him, or {trike him withit?

Palner. He held it by the Strap in his Hand.

(idd. Call Abel Ozens. (Who apear’d.) Can you
tell which Way this Bucket was thrown :

M, J. Pewel. What was the Provocation of
throwing this Bucket ?

Owens. 1 wasin the Cook-room, and hearing
fome Difference on the Deck, I cameout, and the
Gunner wasgrinding a Chiflel on the Grind{tone,
and the Caprain and he had fome Words, and the
Gunner faid to the Captain, 2ou have brought us 1o
Ruin, and we ave Defolate.  And, fays he, Havel
brought you to Ruin? IThave not brought you o Ruit,
Thave not done anill Thing toruinyon s you ave & Jaw-
¢y Fellro togive me thefe Words.  And then he taok
up the Bucket, and did give him the Blow.

idd. Was there nota Mutiny among the Men?

Owens. Yes,and the bigger part was for takiI;g
the

ply’d, never faid fuch a Thing, nov thought of fuch a
Thing. Whereupon Caprain Kidd call’d the Gunner

Loufy Dog s and, fays Mooie, If Lama Loufy Doz,
you bave made e fo 5 you have brought me to Ruin,
aid a gieat mony move.  And fays Captain Kidd,
Have 1 brought you to Ruin, yor Dog ? and after
ftruck him with the Bucket. Thefe were all

the Words that pafs’c.
Mr. J. Powel. Was Captain Kidd aboard that

Ship?
lgﬂfmer. Yes, and Cnptnin Toar wasaboard him.

M. J. Powoel. Was thereany body mighat that
Time?

Palmer. Yes s there were eight or nine Men,
that had Mufquets and other Arms, and they
were for taking the Ship, and Captain Kidd was
againt it, and fo it was not done.

Kidd. My Lord, I was in the Cabin, and heard
1 Noife, and came out ; and Willian Moore faid,
You ruin us, becanfe you will not confent to take Captain
Hoar’s Ship.  Saysa Dutchman, 1will put Caplain
Kidd in a Way to take this Ship, and come off faivl:.

L.C.B. Ward. You may afk him any Quefti-
ons you have a mind to, but you mutt referve
what you have to fay for your felf till you come
to make your Defence.

Mr. Soll. Gen. Mr. Palmer, do youknow of any
other Provocation to ftrike him befides thole
Words?

Palmer. 1 know of no other Provocation.

Mr. Coniers. Sctup Robert Bradinbam. (3 ho ap-
near*d.)  Mr. Bradinham, in what Office was you
in the Ship ?

Brandinham. 1 was Surgeon of the Ship.

M. Coniers. Of what Ship ?

Brandinban. [Uhe Adventure Galley,whereof Cap-

tain Kidd was Malter.

Mr. Confers. Was you there when the Blow
was given ?

Bradinbam, No,

Mr. Coniers. 'Was you fent for when Captain
Kidd had given the Gunner the Wound upon the
Head ¢

Bradinbam. 1 was fent for to his Affiltance af-
ter he was wounded, and I came to him, and
afk’d him how he did ? he faid, He was a dead
Mon, Captain Kidd bad given bisz bis laft Blow.
And 1 was by the Gun-room, and Captain Kidd
was walking there, and 1 heard Moore fay, Fare-
wel, farewel, Captain Kidd bas groen me #ly laft
Blotw 3 and Captain Kidd, when he heard it, faxd,
Damn bim, he is a Villain,

- Mr. Coniers. Did you hear him fay fo?

Bradinkam. 1did hear i,

Mr. Cousper. Was it in a way of Anfwer to
what he faid?

Bradinbam. Yes.
Mr.Cowper.FHow long did he liveafter theBlow?

Bradinbasi. Hedied the next Day. The Wound
was but fmall, the Skull was fractur’d.

Mr. Cowper. Do you believe he died of the
Wound ?

3
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the Ship 3 and the Captain faid, 2ou that willtake
he Dutch-man, you are the flrongeft, you may do what
vou pleafe s if you will take ber, you may take ber s but
if you gofrom aboard, you fball never come aboard a-
adfil.

*'L.C.B. Ward. When was this Mutiny you
ipeak off?

Abel OQwens. When we were at Sea,

1..C.B. Ward. How long was it before this
Man’s Death?

(O:eens. About a Month.

Mr. J. Powel. At this Time when the Blow
was civen, did Moare the Gunner endeavour to
make any Mutiny ?

O:eits. No.

M. J. Powel, Was there any Mutiny then ¢

O=zeits. None at all.

Kidd. Did not he fay, He could put me 1n a
Way to take the Duzchmair, and be clear P

Oueus. 1 know there were feveral of them
would have done it, but you would not give
Confent to It

Kidd No, but this was the Reafon I threw the
Bucket at him.

L. C. B Ward Captain Kidd, he tells you
this was 2 Month before you ftruck him.

Yary. My Lord, we defirc he may be afked,
Whether he did throw the Bucket, or ftrike him
with it ?

L.C.B. Ward. Anfwer the Jury to that Que-
tion.

O-ens. He took it with the Strap, and ftruck
him with 1t.

Kdi. Did not T throw it at him?

Owens. No, I was near you when you did 1it.

Mr. Conicrs. Did you fee the Stroke given?

Owens, 1 did fee the Stroke given,

L. C. B. Ward. Captain Kidd, Will you call
any more !

Kidd. Yes, my Lord. Call Richard Barlicora.

Mr. J. Pswel. What Queftions would you have
him afk’d ¢

Kdd R. Barlicorn, what was the Reafon that
Blow was given to the Gunner ?

Barhcorn At firft'when you met with the Ship,
there was 2 Mutiny, and Two or Three of the
Duwtchiinen came aboard ; and fome faid, fhe was a
rich Veflel, and they would take her: And the
Captain faid, No, T will not take ber.  And there
was 2 Mutiny in the Ship, and the Men faid, If
youwill oty we wwill.  And he faid, If you bave a
mindy you may; but they that will not, come a-
lng with e,

Kidd. Do you think #illiam Moore was one of
thofe that was for taking her.

Barlicorn. Yes,

L.C B. Ward. How long was that before
Msere died, do you know?

Barlicorn. No, 1 did not keep a Journal.

L. C, B. Ward. Was it after Moore died.

Barficorn, No Sir, it was before Moore died.

Mr. Coniers. How long before ?

Bailicorn. 1 believe it was about a Month or
Three Weeks, I cannot tell which.

. L.C.B. Ward, You fay there was a Mutiny
i the Ship, what was the Mutiny about ?

Barlicorn. About taking the Ship,

L.C.B. /Ward. What was the Ship’s Name?

Barlicorn, The Loyal Captain. And the Cap-

tun faid, If they take the Ship, they fould never come
aboard agaiy.
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L.C.B. Ward. Wasyouby when Meorereceiv-
cd this Blow? |

Bailicorn. Wo, I was not by then,

Kidd, Do you know of any Quarrel between
this Meore and I before that Accident ?

Barlicorn. No, I did not. -

Mr. J. Pewel, Was therc any Mutiny in the
Ship when this Mosie died ?

Barlicors. They were talking of it.

Kidd. Was there not a Dutchinaiz clole by us,
when this Blow was given ?

Barlicorn. Yes, Sir.

Kidd. He was going to make another Mutiny,
and I prevented him,

Mr. J. Pewel. Did Msere endeavour to make
any Mutny at that Time?

Barlicorn. The Ship was gone at that Time,

M. J. Powel. Flow long had fhe been gone ?

Barlicorn. About a Week.

Mr. Bar, Hatfell. Was there any Mutiny abour
the Dutch Ship you faw?

Barlicorn. The Dutch Ship? Not that I know
of ; but there was a Mutiny aboard the Loyal
Captain.

Kidd. Do you not know of another Mutiny 2

M. Bar. Ha!fell. Do you know of any other
Muriny ¢

Bavlicorn, No.

Kidd, At that very time they were going to
make a Mutiny ?

L. C. Bar. Ward. Will you afk him any more
Queftions ?

Kidd. What Difcourfe had 1 with Moore at
that Time?

Barlicorn. T was aboard our Ship, but did not
fec the Blow given,

Kidd. They were faying they would take her,
and he faid, he could put me in 2« Way to take her,
without coming to any harm.

L. C.B. Ward. What occafion could thofe
Words be of a Mutiny?

Barlicorn. There were many of the Men
would have gone with Arms, and taken that Ship
without the Captain’s Confent.

L. C.B. Ward. Atthat Time when this Moore
was killed, was there any Mutiny ?

Barlicorn. No.

L. C.B. Ward, When was it that Moore faid,
they might have taken this Ship?

Barlicorn. At the fame Time when the Ship
was in Company with us.

L.C.B. #ard. Thatwasa Week or Fortnight
before ¢ ‘ .
Barlicorn. No, Sir, the Lsyal Captain was with-

i fight of us. | _
Mr. Bar. Hatfell, What, when Moore was kil-

led ?

Barlicorn. No, not then. William Moore lay
fick a great while before this Blow was given ;
and the Do&or faid, when he wvifited him,
This Blow was not the Caufe of his Death.

L. C.B. Ward. Then they muft be confronted.
Do you hear, Bradinbam, what he fays? He
fays you faid, That Blow was not the Caufe
of his Death. Did you ever fay fo?

Bradinbam. My Lord, I never faid fo.

L. C. B. Ward. Did you fce that young Man
there? _

Bradinbam. Yes, he was aboard the Ship,

L.C. B. Ward. Was Moore fick before that

Blow ? |
Bradinbam.
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Bradinbain. He was not fick at all before.

Barlicorn. He was fick fometime before, and
this Blow did but juft touch hims and the
Do&or faid, he did not die on the Occafion of
this Blow.

Mr. 7. Gold. Did youever {ay fo,Mr. Bradinham?

Bradinbam. No, my Lord. |

Mr. Sol. Gen. You fay he did but juft touch him s
Were you prefent when the Blow was givent

Barficorn. No, but 1 faw himafter he was dead,
and I was by when the Docor faid, he did not
die of that Blow.

Mr. Cowper,” What did he die of ?
Baslicorn. T cannot tell, he had been fick before,

we had many fick Men aboard. | *
Mr. Sol. Gen. How long did he lie after this

Blow, before he died ?

Beylicorn, T cannot tell juftly how long it was.

L. C.B. Ward, How long do you think ? You
took notice of the Blow, how long did he live
after that ?

Barlicorn. 1 believe about a Week.,

L.C.B.Ward. Andthe two Witnefles fwore he
died the next Day.

Barlicorn. 1 cannot tell juftly how long he liv-
ed afterwards, '

Yury. We defire to know whether he knew
what was the Occafion of this Blow?

Barlicorn, All the Reafon I can give 15, becaufe
it was thought he was going to breed a Mutiny
in the Veflel.

L. C.B. #erd, Did you hear of] that by any
body ?

Kidd, Was Bradinbawm in the Mutiny ? Declare

that.
L. C. B. Ward, Mr. Kidd, why do you afk

that Queftion?
Kidd, 1 aflc lum whether Bradmbam was not

in any Mutiny in the Ship.

L. C. B. Vard. Why do you afk that?

Barlicorn. If any Thing was to be, he was as
forward as any one.

L, C.B. Ward. You fay he was as forward as
any s but it does not appear any one made a Mu-
tiny at this time.

Barlicorn, 1 do not know, Sir.

L. C. B. /#ard. Have you any more to cgll ?

Kidd. My Lord, here 1s another Witnefs,

L.C.B. 7ard. Whatis your Name?

Hugh Parrot. Hugh Parrot.

L.C.B. Ward. Mr. Kidd, what do you afk him?

Kidd, 1 afk you whether Bradinbam was in a
Mutiny in my Ship.

Hugh Parrot. 1 cannot fay whether he was or
1o,

L..C.B. Ward, Captain Kidd, you are tried for
the Death of this Moore; now why do you afk
this Queftion? What do you infer from hence ?
You will not infer, that if he was a Mutineer,
1t was lawful for you to kill Maore.

Kidd. Do you know the Reafon why I ftruck
Moore?

Hugh Payrot, Yes, becanfe youdid not take the
Loyal Captain, whereof Captain Hoar was Com-
mander.

L. C.B. Ward. Was that the Reafon he ftruck
Myore, becaule the Ship was not taken ?

Hugh Parrot. 1 Shall tell you how it happen’d,
according to the beft of my Knowledge. MyCom-
mander fortuned to come up with this Captain
Hoar's Ship, and fome were for taking her, and

William Kidd, §&c. 15 W.IIL

fome not; and afterwards there was a little for
of Mutiny, and fome rofe in Arms, the greatef;
Part, and they faid they would take this Ship,
and the Commander was not for it; and fo they
refolved to go away in the Boat, and take hey
Capuain Kidd faid, If you defext iy Ship, you fhal
never come aboard again, and 1 witl force you futg
Bombay, and I will carry you before fome of iz
Council there : Infomuch asmy Commander ftiflg
them again, and they remained on Board. Ang
about a Fortnight afterward there pafled fone
Wordsbetween this W lliam Moore and my Com.
mander; and then fays he, Captatir, 1 conld haye
put you in ¢ Way to have taken this Ship, and begy
never the sworfe for it.  He fays, World you bave ;.
take this Ship 2 [cannot anfever it they ave our Friends,
and my Commander was in a Paffion 5 and wit,
that I went oft the Deck, and I underftood -
terwards the Blow was given, but how [ cannor
tell.

Mr. J. Powel. Captain Kidd, have you any more
to afk him, or have you any more Witnelies 1y
call?

Kidd, T could call all of them to teflify the
fame thing, but I will not trouble you to cll

any more.
L. C. B. Ward, Haveyou any more to fay for

your felf?

Kidd, T have no more to fay, but I had all the
Provocation i the World given me 5 1 had no
defign to kill him, I had no Malice or Spleen 2.
cainft him,

L.C.B. Ward. That muft be left to the Jury
to confider the Evidence that has been given;
you mike out no fuch matter.

Fury-man, My Lord, 1 defire the Petitioner
may give an Account, whether he did doany
Thing 1n order to his Cure.

L. C.B. Ward. He is to be tried according to
Law ; the King’s Evidence hath been heard,and
he has the Liberty to produce what Evidence L
can for himfclfs Will you put him to produce
more Evidence than he can ¢ If he has any more
to fay, it will be his Intereft to fay what he can;
the Court is willing to hear him as long as he
hath any Thing to offer for himfelf, cither upon
that Account or any Thing elfe.

Kidd. 1t was not defignedly done, but in my
Paffion, for which I am heartily forry.

L. C.B. 7aid. Gentlemen of the Jury, the
Prifoner at the Bar, illiam Kidd, is Indi@ted
for the Murder of F#/illian Maore, and whether he
be guilty of this Murder, or not guilty, it is your
part to determine on the Evidence that has been
given. The Fa& charged againft him 15 this,
‘That the Prifoner at the Bar, 2illiam Kidd, being
the Commander of the Ship, called the Adven-
tuye-Galley, and the deceafed William Moore the
Guarer in that Ship; That upon the High Sez,
near the Coaft of Mualaber, in the Eal-Indics,
and within the Jurifdi&ion of the Admiralty of
England, in Offober, in the Ninth Year of lus
Majefty’s Reign, 1697,the Prifoner,illiam Kidd,
out of his Malice fore-thought, did ftrike the
Deceafed, Willians Moore, with a Bucket hooped
with Iron, on the right Side of the Head, and
that that Blow was the Occafion of the Death
of the faid William Meore 5 that this was done
on the goth of Offober, and that his Death en-
fued on the 311t of OFober, being the next Day-
Thisis the Falt charged upon him.

. Novw
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Now you have heard the Evidence that has
heen given on the King’s Part, and you will
weigh it well, You hear the firft Witnefs thae
has been produc’d on behalf of the King, is Fo-
fepb Palmer. He tells you he was prefent on
board this Ship, at the Time when the Blow was
given : And he fays, there had been fome Dif-
ourfe between the Prifoner illiam Kidd, and the
Deceafed Maore, concerning taking a Ship, thac
was called the Loyal Captain, and that Captain
Kidd faid to him, How conld you bave put me in a
[ay to take that Ship, and be clear 2 No, fays
Muore, I faid no fuch Thing. The Reply Captain
1idd made to him was, [e was a Loufy’ Rogue.
The Anfwer of the Deceafed was this, If Lam /o,
you have sade me [o 3 you bave ruined me and agreat
aany others. With that, fays Captain Kidd, Have
[ ruiied you, you Dog 2 And up he took a Bucket
hoop’d with Iron, and gave him a Blow on the
right Side of his Head. And thereupon he com-
plained and faid, You have given me my laff Blow,
And then Mpore went down below Deck, and he
faw him no more ill the next Day, and then he
was dead 5 and he felt upon his Head, and per-
ceived a Bruife in one Part of i1t, as broad asa
Shilling, and he felt the Skull was broke; and
he does take on him to fay, that he believes that
Blow was the Occafion of his Death, Being afk’d,
Whether he knew in what State of Health he was
before ? he fays, Fe was in a healthy Condition ;
he was grinding a Chiffel at that Time when the
Blow was given; and that Blow he believes
was the Occafion of his Death. And being
afked, Whether he heard any other Words, or
faw or knew any Thing that could be any Caufe
of Provocation ¢ he fays, He knew no more than
the Reply of the Party decealed 5 If [ am a
Ll Deg, you bave made me fo, and have been
sy Ruir : And then having taken two or three
Turns upon the Deck, he gave him the Blow ;
and then Moorc went down the Deck, and ufed
thefe Words, You bave givesr me my laft Blow, or
to that Effect.

Gentlemen, You have heard the Surgeon alfo,
Rebert Bradinhai 3 and he tells you, Hedid not fee
the Blow given, but he was fent for after, and the
Decealed faid, Caprain Kidd bad given bim bis laft
Blzww : And thereupon he did examine him as a
Surecon, and does believe that Blow on the Head
was the Occafion of his Death s and he did ob-
lerve it as well as he could.

Juryman. My Lord, I think Bradinbam faid,
I})]Ic was not then by when the Prifoner gave the
2OV,

L. B. C. Werd. 1did not fay he was : He fays
He was fent for after the Blow ; and when he
came, the Deceated faid, he gave ic him, and
what would be the Confequence.

Now thefe two being crofs-examined by the
Prifoner, William Kidd, whether they did not
know of fome Mutiny in the Ship, that might
be the Occafion of his giving this Blow; they
have told both their Stories, of what Difcourfe
there was of taking this Ship, the Loyal Captain,
and of whar Defign there was upon the Dutch
Ship after.  Now the firlt of thefe was a Fort-
night before this happen’d, and the other a
Week 5 fo that there was then no Occafion of
Mutiny, nor do they know of any Mutiny at
that Time.

Now, Gentlemen, he has produced for him-
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felf three Witnefles, The firft that he calls is
Abel Owens 3 and this Witnefs has not in his Te-
ftimony made for the Prifoner, but in effe¢t con-
firmed what the other Witnefles for the King
faid : For he tells you he was by when the Blow
was given, and gives you an Account how this
Thing was ; That there was fome Difcourfe be-
tween them, much what to the Effe&t aforefaid,
both as to what Capt. Kidd faid to Moore, and
what Moore replied 5 and that Capt. Kidd fhould
fay to Moorey You are a Jaucy Fellow, or to that
Purpofe ; and Mosre faid, 2ou bave ruined me, aind
a great many others 3 and with that the Prifoner
took up the Bucket, and ftruck him with it.
And he being afked, If there were any Provoca-
tion or Occafion why this Blow was given, and
whether there was any Muuny at that Time, as
he- pretended ? he fays, He knew of none, only he
fpeaks of one about a Month before. |

They have call’d two other Witnefles 5 one is
Richard Barlicorn 5 he is the Prifoner’s Servant ;
and though he be his Servant, yet the Law al-
lows him to be a Witnefs for him, and the Cre-
dit of his Teftimony is left to you. Now. what
has he faid ? He has told you fomething different
Stories. He -thinks there was 2 Mutiny in the
Ship. And being afk’d about what Time? he
thinks 1t was about a Month or threc Wecks be-
fore 5 and, upon further Examination,- faith,
there was no Mutiny when Mpsre was killed.
He 1s willing to fay what he'can for his Mafter,
and believes Mr, Kidd did not defign to do any
Harm to that Man ; for he heard the Surgeon
fay, that Blow was not the Occafion of his Death.
Now, 1n Contradittion to that, Bradinbam, the
Surgeon, fays, he never did fay fo, but believes
that this Blow was the Occafion of his Death.
You have heard what Objections the young
Man’s Teftimony is liable to, and you will con-
fider his whole Evidence.

The laft Witnefs the Prifoner has called, is
Hugh Parrot. He fays, there was fomething of
thefe Words, and that the Deceafed did fay, he
could have put the Captain in a2 Way to have
taken the Ship ; and hereupon Words arofe, and
the Captain was in a Paffion 5 and that then he
went away, and underftood afterwards the Blow
was given, but how he could not tell.

Now, Gentlemen, this being the Matter of
Fa&, the Prifoner is indicted upon it for Murder.
Now to make the killing of 2 Man to be Mur-
der, there muft be Malice prepenfe, either exprefs
or implied: The Law implies Malice, when one
Man, wichout any reafonable Caufe or Provoca-
tion, kills another. You have had this Fadt
opened to you. What Mutiny or Difcourfe might
be a Fortnight or Month before, will not be any
Reafon or Caufe for fo long Continuance of a
Paffion. But what did arife at cthat Time, the
Witnefles tell you, The firft Witnefs tellsyou, the
firt Words that were {poken, were by Mr. Krdd ;
and upon his Anfwer, Mr. Kidd calls him Loufy
Deg. The Reply was, If I am fo, you have made me

[o5 you bave ruined me, and agreat many more. Now,

Gentlemen, I leave it to you to confider whether
that could be a reafonable Occafion er Provoca-
tion for him to take a Bucket, and knock him on
the Head and kill him. You have heard the
Witnefles have made itout that he was a healthy
Man, and they are of Opinion that the Blow was
the Occafion of his Death. Now for the Prifoner,

or
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on fuch a Saying, and without any other Provo-
cation, to take a Bucket and knock the Deceafed
on the Head, and kill him, muft be efteem’d an
unjultifiable Aé : For, as I faid, if one Man kil]
another without Provocation, or reafonable Caufe,
the Law prefumes and implies Malice ; and then
fuch killing will be Murder, in the Senfe of the
Law, as being done out of Malice prepenfe.  If
there be 2 fudden falling out, and fighting, and
one is killed in heat of Blood, then our Law calls
it Manflaughter : But in fuch a Cafe as this, that
happens on flight Words, the Prifoner called the

Deceafed a Loufy Dog 5 and the Deceafed faid, If

I be fo, you have made me fo; Can this be a rea-
fonable Caunfe to kill him? And if you believe
them to be no reafonable Caufe of Provocation,
and that this Blow was given by the Prifoner,
and was the Occafion of Moore’s Death, as the
Witneffes alledge, I cannot fee what Diftinction
can be made, but that the Prifoner is guilty of
Muorder, Indeed, if there had been a Mutiny at
that Time, and he had ftruck him at cthe Time
of the Mutiny, there might have been a reafona-
ble Caufe for him to plead in his Defence, and it
ought to have been taken into Confideration ;
but it appears, that what Mutiny there was, was
a Fortnight at leaft before : Therefore, Gentle-
men, I muft leave it to you: If you believe the
King’s Witnefits, and one of the Prifoner’s own,
_ that this Blow was given by the Prifoner in man-

ner aforefaid, and are fatisfied that it was done
without reafonable Caufe or Provocation, thenhe
will be guilty of Murder: And if you do believe

him guilty of Murder, upon this Evidence, you
muft find him fo: If not, you muft acquit hip,
Kidd. My Lord, I have Witnefles to prnduc:e

for my Reputation.

L.C.B. Ward. Mr, Kidd, we gave you Tipa
to make your Defence? Whydid not you prodyc
them? You were alked more than once, if you
had any more to fay 5 and you faid, you woyly
call no more Witneffes.

Kidd. 1 can prove what Service I have dope

for the King.
L. C.B. Ward. You fhould have fpoken fooner-

But what would that help in this Cafe of Muyr.
der ? You faid you had no more to fay before |

began.

Then an Officer was ficoris to keep the Furyy ayg
about on Hour after the Juy veturned, and gaz,
in their Verdilt.

Cl. of Arr. Gentlemen, an{wer to your Names
Nath. éa.ug. your Name

Nath. Long, Here, &c.

Cl. of drr. Are youall agreed of your Verdict?

Ommes, Yes,

Clof Arr, Who fhall fay for you?

Ommes. Foreman.

Cl.of drr. William Kidd, hold up thy Hand,
(Which he did.) Look upon the Prifoner. [s he
gullty of the Murder whereof he ftands indicted
or not guilty ? }

Foreman. Guilty.

Cliof Arr. Loook to him, Keeper,
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The Trial of William Kidd, Nicholas Churchill, Fames Howe,
Robert Lamley, William fenkins, Gabriel Loffe, Hugh Par-
rot, Richard Barlicorn, Avel Owens, and Darby Mullins, for
Piracy and Robbery,on a Ship called the Queduph Merchant.

HE Furers for our Severeign Lord the K‘f;g,

do, upon their Oath, prefenty That William
Kidd, Jate of London, Mariner 5 Nicholas Church-
ill, Jate of London, Mariner 3 James Howe, lase
z;j'Lundon, Mariner 3 Robert Lamley, late of
London, Mariucr; William lenkins, Jaze of L.on-
don, Mariaer 3 Gabriel Lolle, late of London,
Mariner 5 Flugh Parrot, /ate of Liondon, Mariucr ;
Richard Barlicorn, late of London, Mariner 5 A-
b2l Owens, late of London, Mariuner 5 and Darby
Mullins, fase of London, Marinery The .30,'11 Day
of Janvary, i the Niuth Year of the Reign of our
Ssvercign Lord, William the Third, by the Grace of
God, of England, Scotland, France, and Ireland,
King, Dqﬁ’udc'r of the Fasth, &c. Ly Foree am:_f Arins,
&cc. upon the High Sca, in @ ccriain Place difiant a-
bout ten Leagues frem Cuttfheen, in the Eaft-Indies,
and within the Jurifdiction of the Admiralty of Eng-
land, did piratically and felonionfly fet unon, board,
break, and cnter a cevtain Mevchant Ship, called the
Quedagh Merchant, then being a Ship of ceriaii
Peifons (o the Furors aforefaid unknswn ) 5 aind theis
ond there piratically and felonionfly, did make ain Af-
Jault in aid upon ceriain Marincis (whofe Naies to
theJurorsaforefaidare unknown ) iz the fame Ship, in
the Peace of God, and of eur faidnow Sovereign Lord
the King, then and there being, piratically and felo-
sioufly didput e aforefaid Mariners of the fame Ship,
iit the Ship aferefaid, upou the High Sea, in the Place
afercfaid, diffain abour ten Leagues from Cutfheen a-
ferefaid, in the Ealt-Indies aforcfaid, and wwithin the
Jurifiaclion aferefaid, piratically aund felonionfly, did
feal, take, and carry away the faid Meichant Ship,
elled the Quedagh Merchant, and the Apparel and
Tackle of the fome Ship, of the Value of 4ool. of
lwwsfiel Money of England s feventy Chefts of Opium,
of the Value of 1.400). of lawwful Money of England 3
o Hundred and fifly Bags of Sugar, of the Value of
100 . of lawful Money of England ; trwenty Bales of
iaw Sulk, of the Value of 400 |. of lawoful Money of
Fngland 5 an bundred Bales of Callicoes, of the Va-
litz of 2001, of lacoful Money of England 5 fwwo bun-
wied Bales of Muflins, of the Value of 1000 1. of low-
fu! Money of England ;5 aud three Bales of Romels,
of the Velue of 301, of lawful Moncy of England ;
1o Goods and Chattels of certain Peifons (10 theFurors
cferefaid unknown ) then and there, upon the High Sea
‘fercaid, in the aforefaid Place, diftant about ten
Leagues from Cuttheen aforefaid, in the Eaft-Indics
orefaid, and within the Furifdicsion aforefaid, being
found ii the afsrefaid Ship, in the Cuftody and Poffiffion
f the faid Mariners in the fame Ship, from the faid
Mariners of the faid Ship, and frem their Cuftody and
Poffefion, then aud there, upon the High Sea aforefaid,
i the Place aforefaid, diffant about ten Leagues from
Cuttheen afgrefaid, in the Eaft-Indies aforefaid,
ad within the Furifdiction aforefaid, againft the
Peace of oy faid now Sovereign Lord the King, bis
Crawn aud Dignity, &,

Vo, V,

CLof Arr. QNET Williowm Kidd, Nicholas Churchill,
&ec. to the Bar. (Aud fo of the reft.)

Will. kidd, hold up thy Hand. (##hich he did, and

fo the #eft.)

You the Prifoners at the Bar, thofe Men that
you fhall hear call’d, and that perfonally appear,
are to pafs between our Sovereign Lord the King
and you, upon Trial of your feveral Lives and
Deaths. If therefore you, or any of you, wil
challenge any of them, your Time is to fpeak to
them as they come to the Book to be fworn, and
before they be fworn.

And there being no Challengesy the Twelve that
were ftwor oir the Jury were as follow ;

Fobir Coaper, N (P. Walker,

‘fo. Hall, ] William Hunt,

Jo. James, L3 Jobn Micklethwair,
Peter Parker, 73 Richard Chifaell,
Caleb Hzok, l Avrabam Hickinan,
R. Rider, LGeorge Grove.

Cl. of drr. Cryer. Count thefe: Fobu Cogper,
Cryer. One,Ie. Twelve good Men and true,
ftand together, and hear your Evidence.

Then the ufual Proclaination for Information was
made s and the Prifoicrs being bid to hold up
therr Hands, the Clerk of drraignments conrg’d
the Fury with them thus :

Cl. of Arr. You of the Jury, look upon the Pri-
foners, and hearken to their Caufe. They fland
indiéted by the Names of I#3lliam Kidd, &c. (1sbe-
fore in the Inditment.) Upon this Indictment
they have been Arraign’d, and thereunto have fe-
verally pleaded, Not Guilty ; and for theirTrial put
themfelves on Gop and their Country, which
Country you are. Your Charge'is, toenquire whe-
ther they be guiity of the Piracy and Robbery
whercof they ftand indicted in Manner and Form
as they ftand indicted, or not guilty, &%,

Nic. Churcbill My Lord, I beg your Opinion,
whether I may not plead the King’s Pardon?

L. C.B. Ward. Let us {ee your Pretences : You
fhall have all legal Defences and Advantages al-
low’d to you.

Nic. Courebill, 1 came in upon his Majefty’s
Proclamation,

L. C. B. Ward. Have you the King’s Procla-
mation ? If you have, let us fee ic,

Churchill. We had Notice of it at Guiana, and
we deliver’d up our felves to Col. Bafs, Governor
of Eaft-Ferfey, and I have it under his Hand. I

beg your Lordihip would appoint me Council to
plead my Cafe,

The Paper was fhewn, and read.

Mr. Crawley. 1 know not when it was,
Churchill. T had Notice of itat Guiana: 1 have
been two Years in Cuftody.,
L. C. B.Ward.

Q. q



